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As a member of the CEMEX group, we have
adopted CEMEX’s unified global guiding
principle— “OUR VISION,” which includes the
following core statements:
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Purpose

Building a Better Future.

Primed for Growth
Primed for Growth is CEMEX’s 2017 Annual Report which narrates our
story of strength and innovation.  This prepares the company to respond
to the challenges of an increasingly disruptive business environment. We
are optimistic our accomplishments in 2017 will pave the way for greater
success in the future.
CEMEX is one of the leading cement producers in the Philippines
and is a member of the CEMEX global organization headquartered
in Monterrey, Mexico. We produce and deliver cement and cement
products, such as ready-mix concrete and clinker using our extensive
marine and land distribution network.

We expect to make the future better for our people, our customers, our
shareholders, and the communities we interact with. We address society’s
growing needs by offering high-quality products and innovative solutions.
We expect to drive sustainable development and improve the lives of
people and communities around us by developing and delivering what we
deem to be the best solutions in cement and concrete.

Mission

We seek to create sustainable value by providing industry-leading
products and innovative solutions to satisfy the construction needs of our
customers around the world.

Our Values

Ensure Safety.
Focus on Customers.
Pursue Excellence.
Work as One CEMEX.
Act with Integrity.
These make up the essence of our culture: they express who we are,
how we behave, and what we believe in.
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CEMEX at a Glance
CEMEX’s presence in the Philippines spans more than two decades. Through
long-established brands like APO and Rizal, CEMEX has built iconic and lasting structures
in the country.
Among the historical landmarks built with our cement brands are the main building
of the University of Santo Tomas, the Minor Basilica of the Black Nazarene (Quiapo
Church) and the Cultural Center of the Philippines.

In 1999, CEMEX together with
other investors also purchased
an aggregate 99.9% interest in
APO Cement.

1999
1997

In 2015, we started
focusing on providing our
customers with materials
and solutions for cementintensive pavement
and housing projects,
including our investment
in specialized technology
for admixtures and
concrete molds for housing
construction.

In 2003, CEMEX Philippines
Foundation, Inc. was
incorporated to fulfill the
company’s thrust in education,
environmental stewardship and
community development.

2003
2002

In 1997, CEMEX initially entered
the Philippines by acquiring
a stake in Rizal Cement
Corporation. At that time, Solid
Cement Corporation was a
subsidiary of Rizal Cement.

In 2002, Rizal Cement was merged
into Solid Cement.
Since then, we continued to
expand our cement manufacturing
and distribution capabilities in the
Philippines.

In 2011, we further strengthened
our logistics infrastructure which
enables us to distribute cement
in bulk in Luzon from our APO
Cement plant in Cebu. A year later,
we acquired two marine vessels to
bolster our shipping capabilities.

2011
2006
In 2006, CEMEX celebrated its
100th year of providing excellent
products and services to its
partners and clients worldwide.
When it was founded in 1906,
it only had one cement plant in
Mexico with an annual capacity of
20,000 tons. More than a century
later, CEMEX has established
its presence in more than 50
countries, including the Philippines,
and now produces 92.9 million
metric tons globally every year.

2015
2014

In 2017, CEMEX Philippines
was cited for its successful
achievement and
implementation of its energy
management systems making it
the first cement company in the
country to receive a global ISO
50001 (Energy Management
System).

2017
2016

A new cement mill was added in
our APO Cement plant in 2014.
This expanded our cement grinding
installed capacity by 1.5 million tons.
The investment also included the
construction of marine terminals in
Davao and Iloilo and the expansion
of our bulk dispatch capabilities at
APO Cement plant.
In 2016, CEMEX Holdings
Philippines (CHP) went public.
CHP successfully raised P25.13
billion ($536.62 million) in equity.
We offered more than two billion
shares in one of the biggest initial
public offerings (IPO) in the
Philippines since 2013.

These milestones primed us for growth in the last two decades. As we move forward,
we are optimistic that the company will continue to chart its dynamic growth story.
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Message from the President and CEO

Beyond our expansion
initiatives, we reinvented
how we service our clients.
Through our customer-centric
approach, we implemented
various engagement programs
to address the diverse needs
of our customers.

Building

our Future

In 2017, CEMEX marked its 20th year of passion and excellence in the Philippines delivering an innovative line-up of products, overcoming challenges of changing market
conditions and contributing to the economic transformation of the country. Our milestones
and achievements over the last two decades have primed us for growth as we write a new
chapter in our company’s dynamic story. Part of our growth narrative is to be a key player
in building a stronger nation, and, with the national government’s ambitious “Build, Build,
Build” infrastructure program, CEMEX ramped up its operations to be able to deliver on the
government’s tall order.
In the last three years, we have expanded the capacity of our plants and the scope of our distribution
network rapidly. Beginning with the installation of a new finish mill at the APO Cement Plant in Cebu and
the completion of our marine distribution terminals in strategic locations in Manila, Iloilo, and Davao, we now
look forward to the commencement of the construction of our new cement line in our Solid Cement Plant in
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Antipolo. This major project will
expand the plant’s annual capacity
from 1.9 million metric tons to
3.4 million tons and will allow
us to further serve the cement
requirements of the country
during an important period
heralded as the Philippines’ golden
age of infrastructure.
To further enhance our
production efficiency, we also
invested in energy-saving facilities.
In 2017, we commissioned Sinoma
Energy Conservation Ltd. of China

to build and operate a second
waste-heat-energy facility at our
APO Cement Plant, allowing us to
reduce our operational expenses
and lower our carbon footprint.
Beyond our expansion initiatives,
we also reinvented how we service
our clients. Through our customercentric approach, we implemented
various engagement programs to
address the diverse needs of our
customers, established a Customer
Experinece Office and beefed up a
24/7 customer service center.
In addition, we launched CEMEX
Go globally, an industry-pioneering
fully-digital integration platform

that provides seamless experience
for order placement, tracking of
shipments, and managing invoices
and payments. We are excited
to launch this locally here in the
Philippines before the end of 2018.
With our culture of putting
people first, we continue to
prioritize the health and safety
of our employees. We adhere
to the highest standards in our
plants by implementing stringent
safety procedures and rolling out
awareness campaigns to promote
a safe and secure environment
among our employees.
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As we enter a
new era, we can
confidently say that
CEMEX is primed
to continue its
remarkable growth
story with the rest of
the Filipino nation.

Our thrust to be a responsible
organization far extends to the
communities we belong in. We
want to be a catalyst for national
development not only by providing
excellent building solutions that
erect our country’s infrastructure
but by also advancing the welfare
of the Filipino people and
safeguarding the environment
through our various socio-civic
programs. In 2017, we again
renewed our commitment to
keep a cleaner land, ocean and air
through various linkages with key
stakeholders and the government.

With these success stories,
CEMEX continues to envision a
bright future for the country and
the company. As we enter a new
era, we can confidently say that
CEMEX is primed to continue its
remarkable growth story with the
rest of the Filipino nation.

IGNACIO MIJARES
President and CEO

2017 Performance Review

Primed for

Growth

We are primed for growth amidst an evolving and
increasingly competitive environment.
We are primed for growth as we revolutionize our
building solutions and upgrade our services to address
the complex needs of our market.
We are primed for growth as we expand our
programs to become an even more sustainable,
efficient and reliable organization.

General Nature and
Scope of Business

These stories of growth are embodied in the way
we do things, such as our passion for health and
safety, continuous improvement in operations,
focus on customer centricity, commitment to social
responsibility and advancement of human capital.

The Company proudly
encompasses two cement plants
namely Solid Cement Corporation
located in Antipolo City, Rizal and
APO Cement Corporation located
in the City of Naga, Cebu. Both
plants have an aggregate installed
annual cement grinding capacity of
5.7 million tons of cement.

We are CEMEX Philippines and we want you to be
part of our growth story.

Our Solid Cement
Plant in Antipolo
City currently has an
installed annual cement
grinding capacity of
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million tons
of cement

APO Cement plant has an installed
cement grinding annual capacity
of 3.8 million tons and serves
our customers in the Visayas
and Mindanao regions through
our extensive marine and land
distribution network. Meanwhile,
Solid Cement plant has an installed

annual cement grinding capacity of
1.9 million tons and in the pipeline
is a new integrated cement
production line that is expected to
provide approximately 1.5 million
tons of additional annual capacity
by 2020.
In addition, CEMEX Philippines has
access to research development,
and production know-how
pertaining to chemical admixture
solutions, such as concrete
plasticizers and retarders, liquefiers,
air entraining agents, and hardening
catalysts. Our engineers work in
cooperation with the CEMEX
Research Group in Switzerland to
develop new chemical compounds
suited to the cement needs of our
customers, as well as produce a
wide variety of concrete products
that enhances the performance
and durability of concrete
structures.

These innovations are part of our
solid commitment to respond
to the changing needs of our
customers.
Today, we harness our strengths as
individuals and as an organization
to continue our story of
innovation and growth.
In 2017, CEMEX Philippines
reported a net sale of domestic
gray cement at P21.8 billion.
Gross profit last year reached
P9.4 billion, while operating
earnings before other expenses
grew P2.0 billion.
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Injuries worldwide target
Health and Safety is
our top priority. We
are constantly working
towards our ultimate
target of zero injuries
worldwide

Primed for Calibration:
Health & Safety
Health and Safety is our top
priority. We are constantly working
towards our ultimate target of zero
injuries worldwide—our Zero4Life
commitment. For this reason, we
constantly calibrate our efforts to
uphold our commitment to achieve
an injury-free workplace.
In 2017, we recorded zero
employee lost time injury (LTI) and
total recordable injury with APO
Cement achieving 11 years of zero
LTIs.
CEMEX Philippines has also logged
zero employee and contractual
LTIs in the Aggregates business.
Reporting of near miss and hazard
alerts (NMHA) continued to
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grow as employees became more
proactive in reporting unsafe
practices. Closure rate of all
reported alerts were at 80%.
To reach these numbers, CEMEX
Philippines organized regular safety
initiatives and brown bag sessions
for all our colleagues in all sites. All
leaders were required to conduct
Visible Felt Leadership (VFL) visits
to provide insights on how plant
operations can be improved.
Beyond safety in our operating
plants, CEMEX Philippines also
implements various wellness
programs to support our drive
in promoting a healthy lifestyle
among our employees.

For example, we regularly conduct
our Integral Health and Wellness
Week at the middle of the year
where employees are encouraged
to complete an annual physical
examination and take part in
various health and wellness
workshops. We also have our
Wellness Wars where employees
compete on achieving a balanced
body mass index. Regular health
talks are likewise conducted
offering various self-help tips in
achieving optimum health.
Sustaining a healthy and safe
conduct of operations is a long
journey, but the positive outcomes
achieved last year are brought out
by our people’s conscious efforts
in creating a healthy and conducive
environment for all.

In 2017, we
recorded zero
employee lost
time injury
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We constantly
seek to provide
sustainable value
by producing
excellent products.

for crusher, raw mill and rotopackers. For three consecutive
years, the plant’s waste-heat-toenergy facility recorded excellent
operational figures. It generated
38,800  Megawatt hours (MWh)
from waste heat which amounts
for  21% of the total electricity
requirements of the cement plant.
Moreover, the APO Cement Plant,
recorded the highest monthly
efficiency in Kiln 1 at 100% and
highest Quality Index at 94.2%. The
plant also achieved its lowest Type
1P clinker factor which likewise
contributed to the reduction of
carbon emissions.

Top: CEMEX officials with Department of
Finance Secretary Carlos Dominguez III
Bottom: APO cement plant finish mill
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Primed for Expansion:
Operations, Energy and
Sustainability

Our subsidiaries, Solid Cement
Corporation and APO Cement
Corporation, notched several
records in 2017.

CEMEX Philippines constantly
seeks to provide sustainable value
by producing excellent products
through exceptional efficient
operations. We ensure that our
record achievements reflect our
solid commitment to embed
sustainability in our business.

The Solid Cement Plant ranked
first for total and operative
efficiency for kiln among all
CEMEX plants globally. Solid
Cement Plant had the lowest
Type 1P clinker factor that helped
reduce the consumption of fossil
fuels and attained record volumes

As one that seeks to remain
an efficient and sustainable
operational unit, APO Cement
on March 23, 2017, tapped
Sinoma Energy Conservation Ltd.
of China to build and operate
a second waste-heat-to-energy
facility. The 4.5MW waste-heatto-energy facility, once completed,
can generate up to 25,000
megawatt hours annually from
the plant’s converted kiln. The
facility is expected to reduce the
adverse effects of power service
interruptions and our dependence
on high-cost energy sources. It
will also lower the cement plant’s

carbon footprint.  Waste-heatto-energy technology allows the
capture of excess heat from our
production facilities to generate
usable electricity. This technology
paves the way for us to significantly
contribute to a better and greener
planet.
Finally, in December 2017 we
obtained the Environmental
Compliance Certificate from
the Department of Environment
and Natural Resources for the
1.5 million metric ton expansion
of the Solid Cement Plant. This
approval ushers in the near-term
construction of the new cement
line for our Solid plant in Rizal.

The 4.5MW WHTE,
once completed, can
generate up to

25

Thousand

Megawatt Hours
Annualy

CEMEX Philippines cited
for its best practices in
environmental stewardship.
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200
Masons graduated

for proper cement
application and
equipment, values
formation, and
significance of teamwork.

Primed for Distinction: Primed for Motion:
Commercial Operations Supply Chain
In 2017, domestic cement sales
volume in the second half reached
an all-time high for CEMEX
Philippines. For 2017, net sales
totaled P21.8 billion, a decrease
from P24.3 billion in 2016 due to
lower cement prices. Operating
EBITDA stood at P3.3 billion, from
P6.7 billion in the previous year.

Primed for Evolution:
Customer Initiatives
In 2017, we fortified our customerfocused culture. CEMEX Philippines
implemented initiatives to provide
an even more superior customer
experience for its partners.
We expanded the reach of our
campaign to promote reliability
and to address diverse customer
needs. Through our SHIELD,
Tatak Experto, Discover CEMEX
Digital programs and Solutions
workshops, we have deepened
customer relationships and
product knowledge to drive loyalty
among our clientele.
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SHIELD which stands for Safety
& Health Initiatives for Enablers,
Leaders, & Doers, is a brandbuilding initiative wherein CEMEX
shares its best practices on safety
to its community of customers.
These include safety workshops
and installation of first aid cabinets
and safety signs in customer
workplaces.
Meanwhile, Tatak Experto
workshops are geared for
frontliner sales men and women
to boost their knowledge of Rizal
and APO cement products and
enhance their cross-selling and

customer handling skills. To date,
the program has enriched more
than 3,000 CEMEX frontliners,
effectively making them as brand
ambassadors.
Discover CEMEX Digital was
launched to promote customer
engagement by encouraging clients
to register online and participate
in various brand-building initiatives.
Lastly, Solutions Workshops were
also offered to clients to help
them get familiarized with new and
innovative CEMEX products such
as our twenty-four hour concrete
pavement solution, Promptis and
Roller-compacted concrete (RCC).

Amidst these challenges, our
prospects going forward bode well
for CEMEX Philippines. In February
2017, the company secured a
supplemental agreement to the
facility agreement with BDO
Unibank, Inc. for our 7-year Senior
Unsecured Peso Term Loan.

CEMEX employs best practices
to enhance efficiency, improve
methodology, enhance value
creation and maximize business
unit operations across the
company. Our strong fleet of
trucks and sea vessels delivering
our products to different parts of
the country are above industry
standards in terms of efficiency,
operational excellence, continuous
improvement and safety.

In 2017, CEMEX Philippines won
2nd best performance globally
for Road Transportation. We also
launched a Driving Academy, which
was birthed as a support program
for research-based studies where
adept drivers are lacking. CEMEX
Philippines  opened its Driving
Academy to be able to ‘transform’
non-truck drivers into professional
ones over a period of three
months and ensure that there is a
steady pool of reliable, skilled and
professional drivers.

Moving forward, our commercial
team is primed to take on an
even more dynamic market this
year given its unique direct-tocustomer distribution model. Our
commercial training programs are
at full speed and allow our sales
workforce to be at par with the
best in the world.
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Primed for Collaboration:
Human Capital Development and Stakeholder
Engagement
We value our people as our
competitive advantage. We  
endeavor to present programs,
benefits, and work environment
that attract and retain great talent.
Our employees are provided
with an Individual Development
Plan (IDP) every year.  The IDPs

are formulated by the employee
and his/her immediate supervisor
to address the competency gaps
of the employee.  Employees
are provided with local and
international training programs, as
well as real life experience learning
opportunities as part of their
development.

We communicate the status of the
company and the various employee
programs through townhall sessions,
monthly morning mingle activities,
health and wellness programs and
other activities that nurture worklife balance.
We also encourage employee
volunteerism and foster
environmental awareness through
greening, river adoption and waste
management programs.
For our external stakeholders,
we strive to be a good neighbor.
Towards this end, we work with
our local communities and develop
strong long-term relationships
with them to promote sustainable
communities. We achieve these
through programs such as
Kapitbahayan, a holistic dialogue
framework to encourage
company-community synergies,
as well as Lingap San Jose and
Amoma Naga, CEMEX Philippines’
community development
programs. Through these, we
gather community leaders and
members to educate them on
family health, disaster preparedness
and likewise provide programs
skills enhancement and livelihood
opportunities .  

Strengthening partnership
through leadership and good
governance program.
In photo: CEMEX officials with
Vice President Leni Robredo .

16

P R I M E D F O R G ROW T H

Primed for Innovation:
Customer Centricity
and CEMEX Go
CEMEX’s customer centricity
philosophy further takes
centerstage in our operations. In
2017, CEMEX moved digital when
it globally launched CEMEX Go, a
pioneering fully-digital integration
platform. CEMEX Go, which
combines CEMEX’s industry
leadership with digital innovation,
is a multi-device offering that
provides a seamless experience

for placing orders, tracking
shipments and managing invoices
and payments for CEMEX’s main
products such as bagged and
bulk cement, ready-mix concrete,
aggregates, and multi-products.
CEMEX Go delivers detailed
information real time. With
CEMEX Go, customers gain more
control over their businesses,
accomplishing more in less time.
CEMEX Go is our own bold step
to advance the building materials
industry to the hyperconnected
business age. CEMEX started
rolling out the platform in Mexico
and the United States. In 2018,
CEMEX Philippines will be
launching the CEMEX Go platform
in the country.

We moved
digital when
we globally
launched
CEMEX Go.
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2017 Corporate Social Responsibilty

Primed for

Passion

Our commitment to contribute to the economic and inclusive
development of the country goes beyond our operations – we
strive to put to fore our direct and indirect contributions to the
achievement of the United Nations’ Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs).

L
Kapitbahayan and TSEK
community engagement
events with Rizal Governor
Rebecca Ynares.

18

P R I M E D F O R G ROW T H

ast year, we bolstered
our linkages with key
stakeholders, reinforced
public awareness efforts and
campaigns to support business
needs and unveiled new initiatives
in our core markets.
We rolled out TSEK or Tamang
Segregasyon at Edukasyon para sa
Kalikasan in Rizal province which
aims to educate local communities
on proper segregation and waste
disposal through information
campaigns, seminars and capacitybuilding programs. Through
“Basuraffle”, we encouraged
households to surrender properly
segregated wastes to their
municipality, where for every kilo

of dry plastic wastes, community
resident participants are given a
raffle coupon. TSEK was initially
launched in the towns Baras,
Cardona, Morong and Tanay.
We also launched KKK or
Kalusugan. Kaligtasan. Kahandaan,
a lecture-workshop on disaster
preparedness, first aid, nutrition
and family planning. Our KKK
initiatives also included the
donation of medical equipment
to various communities, including
digital infant weighing scales,
mobile blood pressure monitors
and fetal dopplers, among others.

We launched KKK
or Kalusugan.
Kaligtasan.
Kahandaan, a
community-based
capacity building
program on health
and safety.
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Message from the Executive Director
CEMEX remains to be a
responsible partner not only
in building the country’s
strongest structures but
also in empowering
our communities and
safeguarding our
environment. As such,
we constantly promote
sustainable practices
both in our plants and in
our communities, to help
preserve a balanced ecology and promote the health and
well-being of our people.
Through the CEMEX Philippines Foundation, Inc. (CPFI), we
implement our flagship CSR program, “Build the Nation
Together,” in cooperation with the Philippine government and
various advocacy groups.

We continued our’ Experto Ako!’
training program for masons
nationwide aimed at enhancing
their knowledge on current
cement technology trends and
construction skills needed to be
competitive in the market today.
The program includes lessons
and modules on proper cement
application and equipment, values
formation and entrepreneurial
know-how. To date, over two
hundred masons have graduated
from the program.
H.E.R.O. or ‘Help, Engage, Reach
out!’, our employee volunteerism
program, allowed us to participate
in various Brigada Eskwela events
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Last year, we partnered with the Provincial Government
of Rizal for our latest environmental stewardship initiative
dubbed as “TSEK” or Tamang Segregasyon at Edukasyon
para sa Kalikasan. TSEK aims to educate local communities
on proper segregation and waste disposal through
information campaigns, ‘basuraffles’ seminars and handing
out of incentives for households.

nationwide organized by the
Department of Education, as well
as our annual Christmas Wish
program for underserved children
in our host communities.
CEMEX Philippines Foundation
likewise took active roles in
different thought leadership and
sustainability fora organized by
partners such as the League
of Corporate Foundations,
Philippine Business for Social
Progress, Philippine Business for
the Environment and the Public
Relations Society of the Philippines.

In cooperation with the Philippine Business for Social Progress
(PSPB), we also launched “KKK” or Kalusugan. Kaligtasan.
Kahandaan., a lecture-workshop on disaster preparedness,
first aid, nutrition and family planning in the province of
Batangas.
Our passion to care begins at the very heart of our
operations, promoting a healthy, safe and conducive work
environment for our people. But we are not leaving anyone
behind. We want to extend this same passion to the
communities we live in by touching their lives through simple
acts of kindness and compassion.

Chito Maniago
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Board of Directors

Pedro Roxas
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* Current Members of the Board of Directors
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Executive Officers
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Officers of the CEMEX Philippines Group of Companies
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Business General Information
History and Business Development
(a) Organization
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc., a subsidiary of CEMEX Asian South East Corporation (“CASEC”), was
incorporated as a stock corporation on September 17, 2015 under Philippine laws with a corporate life of
fifty (50) years, primarily to invest in or purchase real or personal property; and to acquire and own, hold, use,
sell, assign, transfer, mortgage all kinds of properties such as shares of stock, bonds, debentures, notes, or other
securities and obligations; provided that it shall not engage either in the stock brokerage business or in the
dealership of securities, and in the business of an open-end investment company as defined in Republic Act
2629, Investment Company Act.      
CASEC is a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of CEMEX España, S.A., which in turn is indirectly owned by
CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. (“CEMEX”), a company incorporated in Mexico with address of its principal executive
office at Avenida Ricardo Margain Zozaya #325, Colonia Valle del Campestre, Garza Garcia, Nuevo León,
Mexico.  CEMEX is one of the largest cement companies in the world based on annual installed cement
production capacity. The shares of CEMEX are listed on the Mexican Stock Exchange under the symbol
“CEMEXCPO” and the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CX”.
The term “Parent Company” used in the succeeding paragraphs refers to CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
without its subsidiaries. The term “Company” refers to CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. together with its
consolidated subsidiaries.   
The Parent Company’s two principal operating subsidiaries, i.e., APO Cement Corporation (“APO Cement”)
and Solid Cement Corporation (“Solid Cement”), are involved in the production, marketing, distribution and
sale of cement and other cement products in the Philippines with well-established brands, such as “APO”,
“Island”, and “Rizal”, each of which has a multi-decade history in the Philippines.
On January 1, 2016, the Company acquired, directly and indirectly through intermediate holding companies, a
100% equity interest in each of Solid Cement and APO Cement as a result of the following acquisitions:
(a) 1,112,934,284 preferred shares of APO Cement representing 40% of the outstanding capital stock of
APO Cement from CEMEX Asia Holdings, Ltd;
(b) 500,000 common shares of Solid Cement representing 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Solid
Cement from CEMEX Asia Pacific Investments B.V.;
(c) 1,500,000 common shares of Solid Cement, representing a 30% equity interest in Solid, from CEMEX
Asia B.V. (in addition to CEMEX Asia B.V.’s minority interest in two shares that it owned jointly with
Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc.);
(d) 458,500 common shares of Edgewater Ventures Corporation representing 100% of the outstanding
capital stock of Edgewater Ventures Corporation from CEMEX Asia Holdings, Ltd.;
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(e) 2,360,000 common shares of Triple Dime Holdings, Inc. representing 40% of the outstanding capital
stock of Triple Dime Holdings, Inc. from CEMEX Asia Holdings, Ltd.;
(f) 120,000 common shares of Bedrock Holdings, Inc. representing 100% of the outstanding capital stock
of Bedrock Holdings, Inc. from CEMEX Asia Holdings, Ltd.; and
(g) 4,660,966 common shares of Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc. representing 45% of the outstanding
capital stock of Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc. from CEMEX Asia Holdings, Ltd.
On June 17, 2016, the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Philippines (SEC) issued a Pre-effective
Clearance for Registration covering 5,195,395,454 common shares of the Parent Company broken down
as follows: (a) 2,337,927,954 common shares that shall be offered and sold to the public by way of primary
offering (“IPO”) and (b) 2,857,467,500 issued and outstanding shares which shall not be included in the offer.  
In view of the SEC Pre-effective Clearance for Registration and the Parent Company’s compliance with other
conditions imposed by the Board of the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE), the PSE approved on June 17, 2016
the initial listing of up to 5,195,395,454 common shares under the Main Board of the Exchange.
On June 30, 2016, the SEC resolved to render effective the Registration Statement of the Parent Company and
issued a Certificate of Permit to Offer Securities for Sale in favor of the Parent Company.  On July 18, 2016, the
total outstanding shares of the Parent Company consisting of 5,195,395,454 common shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Philippine Stock Exchange.
The following diagram provides a summary of the Company’s organizational and ownership structure as of
December 31, 2017:
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b) Subsidiaries and Associates
The following are brief descriptions of the Company’s operating subsidiaries:
• APO Cement Corporation. APO Cement was incorporated in the Philippines on December 27, 1961
primarily to engage in the production and marketing of cement. The Parent Company owns a direct
40% equity interest in APO Cement as well as an indirect 60% equity interest through its equity
interest in Triple Dime Holdings, Inc. APO Cement owns and operates the APO Cement plant and
primarily produces products which carry the APO cement brand.
• Solid Cement Corporation and its subsidiaries. Solid Cement was incorporated in the Philippines on
September 14, 1987. The Parent Company owns a direct 40% equity interest in Solid Cement as well
as an indirect 60% equity interest through its equity interest in Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc. Solid
Cement owns and operates the Solid Cement plant and primarily produces products which carry the
Island and Rizal cement brands. Solid Cement also owns a 100% equity interest in each of the following
subsidiaries:
- Ecocast Builders, Inc. and Ecopavements, Inc.     Ecocast Builders, Inc. and Ecopavements,
Inc.   were each incorporated in the Philippines on October 16, 2014 to primarily provide its
customers with materials and solutions for cement-intensive housing and pavement projects,
respectively. Ecopavement, Inc.’s Board of Directors confirmed plans to close the business
operations of the company effective on December 31, 2017.
- Ecocrete, Inc. Ecocrete, Inc. was incorporated in the Philippines on February 13, 2013 to primarily
manufacture, develop and sell ready-mix concrete and other construction related products
materials. Ecocrete, Inc.’s Board of Directors confirmed plans to close the business operations of
the company effective on December 31, 2017.
• Falcon Re Ltd. – Falcon Re Ltd. was incorporated in Barbados on May 9, 2016. The Parent Company
owns a direct 100% equity interest in Falcon Re Ltd., which reinsures third-party insurers of the
Company’s property, non-damage business interruption and political risks insurance.
• CEMEX Asia Research A.G. – CEMEX Asia Research AG was incorporated in Switzerland on
December 18, 2015. The Parent Company owns a direct 100% equity interest in CEMEX Asia Research
A.G., which is the licensee for the certain licensed trademarks and intangible assets to which the
Company has access through several agreements with CEMEX and its affiliate, CEMEX Research Group
A.G.
The following are brief descriptions of the Company’s investment holding company subsidiaries and other
subsidiaries that have not started commercial operations:
• Edgewater Ventures Corporation and Triple Dime Holdings, Inc. Edgewater Ventures Corporation
was incorporated in the Philippines on April 23, 1998 and Triple Dime Holdings, Inc. was incorporated
in the Philippines on May 13, 1998.  The Parent Company owns a 100% equity interest in Edgewater
Ventures Corporation, which is an investment holding company that owns a direct 60.15% equity
interest in Triple Dime Holdings, Inc. which is also an investment holding company.  The Parent Company
owns directly the remaining 39.85% equity interest in Triple Dime Holdings, Inc. Triple Dime Holdings
Inc. owns a direct 60% equity interest in APO Cement.
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• Bedrock Holdings, Inc. and Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc. Bedrock Holdings, Inc. was
incorporated in the Philippines on October 30, 1998 and Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc. was
incorporated in the Philippines on November 12, 1998.  The Parent Company owns a direct 100%
equity interest in Bedrock Holdings, Inc., which is an investment holding company that owns a direct
55% equity interest in Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc., which is also an investment holding company.
The Parent Company directly owns the remaining 45% equity interest in Sandstone Strategic Holdings,
Inc. Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc. owns a direct 60% equity interest in Solid Cement.
• Enerhiya Central, Inc. Enerhiya Central, Inc. was incorporated in the Philippines on       February
26, 2013, to primarily sell, broker market and/or aggregate electricity to industrial, commercial and
institutional clients. Enerhiya Central, Inc. has not yet started commercial operations. The Parent
Company owns an indirect 100% equity interest in Enerhiya Central, Inc. through its 100% equity
interest in Solid Cement.
• Newcrete Management Inc. Newcrete Management Inc. was incorporated in the Philippines on
November 14, 2012, to provide management services related to technical support, concrete sales,
concrete products, special building materials and other related products and services. Newcrete
Management Inc. has not yet started commercial operations. The Parent Company owns an indirect
70% equity interest in Newcrete Management Inc. through its 100% equity interest in Solid Cement.
The following are brief descriptions of companies in which Solid Cement has minority investments:
• Calabar Aggregates Corporation. Calabar Aggregates Corporation was incorporated in the Philippines
on January 31, 1991. Calabar Aggregates Corporation is a company in which the Parent Company owns
an indirect 40% equity interest through its 100% equity interest in Solid Cement.This company is currently
inactive.
• Greencrete Inc. Greencrete Inc. was incorporated in the Philippines on November 14, 2012. The
Parent Company owns an indirect 5% equity interest in Greencrete Inc. through its 100% equity
interest in Solid Cement. Greencrete Inc. has not yet started commercial operations.
(c) Material Reclassification, Merger and Consolidation
There was no material reclassification, merger or consolidation undertaken by the Company in 2017.
(2) General Business Description
The Company has two cement plants with aggregate installed annual capacity  of 5.7 million tonnes of cement
as of December 31, 2017. APO Cement’s cement production plant is located in Naga City, Cebu and currently
has three grinding lines and has an installed annual capacity of 3.8 million tonnes of cement, and serves its
customers in the Visayas and Mindanao regions through its marine and land distribution network.   Solid
Cement’s cement production plant is located in Antipolo City, Rizal and currently has three grinding lines and
an installed annual capacity of 1.9 million tonnes of cement. Solid Cement’s plant principally serves the National
Capital Region. The operations of the ready-mix plant located in Manila were discontinued in December 2017.
The Company plans to relocate its admixtures operations to the respective cement plant premises of APO
Cement and Solid Cement.
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In 2017, the Company sold gray ordinary Portland cement, masonry or mortar cement, blended cement and
ready-mix concrete. The Company’s cement products are principally sold under the APO, Island and Rizal brand
names. The Island and Rizal brands are primarily sold to customers in Luzon, whereas the APO brand cement is
primarily sold to customers in the Visayas and Northern Mindanao.

Others
The Company sold ready-mix concrete and admixtures to third parties in 2017.  The Company also
occasionally provided pavement and housing solutions to its customers. These transactions accounted to not
more than 1% of the total consolidated net sales of the Company for the year.

(i) Products

(ii) Export Revenue

Principal Product – Cement

The export revenue for cement as of December 31, 2017 amounted to approximately P84.8 million which is
0.3% of total revenue of the Company for the fiscal year. The cement was exported to the Pacific Islands.

Cement is a binding agent that, when mixed with sand, stone or other aggregates and water, produces either
ready-mix concrete or mortar. The Company provides its customers with high-quality branded cement
products and services in both bagged and bulk formats. The Company relies on professional knowledge and
experience to develop customized products that fulfill its customers’ specific requirements and foster efficient
and sustainable construction. The Company sells a large proportion of its cement in bags. Sales of cement and
cement products accounted for 84.50% of consolidated net sales for 2017 before eliminations. The principal
groups of related products and services are gray ordinary Portland cement, blended cement and masonry
cement. The Company delivers its bagged, branded product to a large number of distribution outlets so that its
cement is available to end-users in a point of sale near to where the product will be used.

Product

Brands

Description

APO Portland Cement

General-purpose Type I Portland cement made for high
performance applications. It passes the specifications of
Type II cement as moderately sulfate resistant and is
suitable for applications near bodies of water.

PNS 07:2005
ASTM
C150:2009

General-purpose Portland cement made for high
performance applications. Achieves higher compressive
strength in less time compared to other Portland cement.

PNS 07:2005
ASTM
C150:2009

Type M masonry cements. Minimizes the carbon
footprint of regular Portland cement by up to 32% and
allows better moisture retention and adhesion strength.

PNS
ASTM
C91:2005

Type S masonry cement. Superior properties for use
in masonry applications, as it’s less prone to rapid
dehydration during dry, hot, or windy days. Minimizes
shrinkage and stresses that lead to cracking.

PNS
ASTM
C91:2005

Gray Ordinary
Portland
Island Portland Cement

Rizal Masonry
Cement
Masonry
or mortar

APO Masonry
Cement
Palitada King
Masonry

Rizal Portland
Super
Blended
APO Portland
Premium
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All-purpose Type 1P cement formulated with natural
minerals that add beneficial properties, such as increased
strength and durability over time. Used for general
construction applications where structures are exposed
to moderate sulfate environments.

PNS 63:2006
ASTM
C595:2009
PNS 63:2006
ASTM
C595:2009

(iii) Distribution Methods
The Company’s distribution infrastructure includes, as of December 31, 2017, five marine distribution terminals
and 20 land distribution centers/warehouses located across the Philippines. The Company distributes its
products using a fleet which is managed directly by its subsidiaries or by third-party transport providers. As of
December 31, 2017, the Company leased 983 trucks for the distribution of bag and bulk cement, chartered
66 marine vessels for the waterborne distribution of bag cement in the Philippines, and contracted six marine
vessels to augment the Company’s fleet of two owned marine vessels for the distribution of bulk cement.
(iv) Product Development
The Company continues to work with its current portfolio of products with the objective of developing
products to suit customers’ specific requirements or specifications.
(v) Competition
As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s major competitors in the Philippine cement market were Holcim
Philippines, Inc., Republic Cement Group, Taiheiyo Cement Philippines, Inc., Northern Cement Corporation,
Goodfound Cement Corporation, Mabuhay FilCement Inc. and Eagle Cement Corporation.  The Company
competes through a wide section of the Philippine archipelago, primarily on the basis of quality, market
presence, distribution network, diversity of product offerings, sales strategy, brand image and pricing.
(vi) Sources and Availability of Raw Materials and Supplies
The primary raw materials used in the Company’s cement production are limestone, pozzolan, clay and gypsum.
Raw materials costs represented approximately 11% of the Company’s consolidated costs of sales and services
for fiscal year 2016 and 12% of the Company’s consolidated costs of sales and services for fiscal year 2017.
The raw materials are delivered directly to the Company’s production facilities by trucks and conveyor belts.
The Company purchases the majority of its limestone, pozzolan and clay requirements from      APO Land &
Quarry Corporation (“ALQC”) and Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation (“IQAC”)  pursuant to  longterm supply agreements, each having 20-year terms commencing on January 1, 2016 and automatic renewals
for successive periods of two years.
ALQC is an entity that is wholly-owned by Impact Assets Corporation, a corporation in which CASEC owns a
40% equity interest.  IQAC is an entity that is wholly-owned by Albatross Holdings, Inc., a corporation in which
CASEC owns a 40% equity interest.
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Most of the quarries from which ALQC and IQAC mine raw materials, such as limestone, pozzolan and clay are
located near the Company’s cement production plants, which reduces the Company’s pre-production transport
time and costs.
The Company sources electricity by purchasing grid electricity from third parties, from in-house generators
at its plants and, with respect to Solid’s cement production plant, through the waste-heat-to-energy facility of
SINOMA Energy Conservation Ltd (SINOMA).  The cost of electricity purchased from the grid are among
the highest in Asia. Electricity cost and availability are impacted by limited numbers of suppliers, a complex
regulatory framework, low grid reliability, the geography of the Philippines and the climate and weather
conditions in the Philippines, which regularly impacts power supply.
The power generation plant at APO Cement plant is capable of producing up to approximately 66 megawatts,
and APO Cement plant when running at full utilization requires approximately 48 megawatts of power. The
power generation plant at Solid Cement plant is capable of producing up to approximately 15 megawatts of
power, and Solid Cement plant when running at full utilization requires up to approximately 24 megawatts of
power.
In January 2012, Solid Cement entered into a 15-year build-and-operate arrangement with SINOMA, to
implement a waste heat recovery system at Solid Cement plant.  SINOMA’s facility captures waste heat
generated by the plant’s kilns and converts it into electricity. Pursuant to this arrangement, SINOMA owns
the facility and is responsible for the maintenance, repairs and operations of the facility and, subject to certain
conditions, is obligated to deliver all of the electricity generated by the facility to SOLID Cement plant.
Moreover, subject to certain conditions, Solid Cement is obligated to purchase all of the electricity generated by
the facility. This waste-heat-to-energy facility produces up to approximately 5.5 megawatts of power. In March
2017, the Company entered into a similar 15-year build-and-operate arrangement with SINOMA to implement
a waste-heat-to-energy facility at APO Cement plant.
In 2017, each of APO Cement and Solid Cement plants purchased grid electricity for its respective power
needs from San Miguel Electric Corporation, depending on the cost of grid electricity compared with electricity
produced from its power generation plants.
The Company primarily uses coal to fire its kilns and, to a lesser degree, alternative fuels, including rubber
tires, waste plastic, rice husks, among others. The Company currently obtains all of its imported coal from
Transenergy, Inc., a CEMEX subsidiary that sources coal, petroleum coke and other products on a CEMEX
group-wide basis with a view to obtaining favorable pricing. The Company hedged a majority of its exposure to
the spot price of coal in 2017.
The Company continues to focus on the use of alternative fuels to manage its fuel costs. It seeks to optimize its
fuel mix with available alternative fuels, using rubber tires, waste plastic, rice husks and other alternative fuels. In
2017, the usage of refuse-derived fuel at Solid Cement plant amounted to approximately 14.9% of the overall
fuel used to fire its kiln.
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The Company primarily uses heavy fuel oil for the electricity generators at its various plants, and the trucks and
vessels used in the distribution of its products run primarily on diesel. The Company obtains its supply of heavy
fuel oil and diesel from domestic suppliers. The Company hedged a majority of its exposure to the spot price
of heavy fuel in 2017.  
(vii) Dependence on a single or a few customers
The Company sells cement directly to retailers such as hardware stores. The Company also sells cement
directly to institutional customers such as contractors, developers and ready-mix operators.  Many of the
customers resell the Company’s products to a variety of end-users, such as households, small and large
contractors and ready-mix concrete producers, while the cement products which the Company sells directly
to institutional customers are used in a variety of private and public infrastructure projects.  The business of the
Company does not depend on any single or few customers, and no single customer represented more than
20% of the Company’s consolidated net sales.
(viii) Transactions with Related Parties
Refer to Item 12, Part III of the Company’s 2017 SEC Form 17-A (Annual Report) and Note 13 - Balances
and Transactions with Related Parties to the Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2017 in the accompanying Audited Financial Statements filed as part of this Form 17-A.
(ix) Intellectual Properties
The Company relies on trademarks to establish and protect its business interests. As a subsidiary of a
multinational corporation, all of the trademarks and intellectual property of CEMEX and its member
subsidiaries, as well as the protection and enforcement thereof, are managed centrally by the CEMEX head
office in Mexico with the assistance of the local operating companies.  The Company has license rights to
use the “CEMEX” name, and the “APO”, “Island” and “Rizal” brands from CEMEX and its subsidiary based in
Switzerland, CEMEX Research Group, AG (CRG). CRG is also the legal owner of certain intangible assets,
including but not limited to, know-how, processes, software and best practices over which the Company has
a non-exclusive right to use, exploit and enjoy. The Company relies on these intangible assets for continuous
improvements, enhancements and variations considering industry evolution and the particular needs of the
Philippine market, and has entered into license agreements that allow its operating subsidiaries to use these
intangible assets.
The Company owns several trademarks which include “Semento Filipino” and “Sakto Construction
Compound”.
(x) Governmental approval of principal products
APO Cement and Solid Cement possess licenses issued by the Bureau of Product Standards – Department of
Trade and Industry which allows them to use the Philippine Standard (PS) Quality Mark for its various products.
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(xi) Governmental Regulations

(xiv) Employees

The principal areas in which the Company is subject to regulation are product quality standards, environmental
compliance, its methods of distribution, labor, taxation, antitrust and health and safety.  For example, the
Occupational Safety and Health Standards promulgated by the Department of Labor and Employment,
prescribes the minimum set of standards, rules, and regulations for the welfare and protection of workers in
all places of employment. Apart from domestic rules, the Company is also guided by global benchmarks and
standards on occupational health and safety, which is a key focus of management.  There are management
policies and rules in accordance with applicable laws and regulations such as production safety measures, the
handling of hazardous materials, guidelines on high risk operations, and the Company also conducts regular
training on occupational health and safety.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company employed a total of 661 full-time employees. A breakdown of the
employees is shown below:

(xii) Research and Development
CEMEX’s research and development efforts, led by CRG based in Switzerland, help the Company to anticipate
and understand society’s trends in order to create innovative, sustainable construction solutions intended to
satisfy customers’ current and future needs, while challenging the current technological landscape. CEMEX’s
innovative, sustainable construction solutions have been conceptualized and engineered to positively impact
the jobsite safety, promote efficient construction practices, sensibly preserve natural resources vital to life, and
improve the quality of life in rapidly transforming cities.  Underlying CEMEX’s R&D philosophy is a growing
culture of global collaboration and coordination, where the global R&D collaboration network identifies and
promotes novel collaboration practices, and mobilizes its adoption throughout the CEMEX organization.  
Pursuant to several license agreements the Company is able to access the research and development
capabilities of CRG through the Company’s enjoyment and utilization in the Philippines of certain licensed
trademarks and intangible assets developed and owned by CRG.   In exchange for the intangible assets and
tools made available to the Company pursuant to these license agreements, the Company incurred royalty
fees payable to CRG for the fiscal year 2017 amounting to P797.3 million, which accounted for 3.66% of the
Company’s consolidated net sales.  On the other hand, in the event that the Company incurs costs for research
and development activities undertaken in the Philippines, such costs are reimbursed to the Company by CRG.
(xiii) Compliance with Environmental Law

Area
Corporate and Administration
Cement Business (commercial sales & administration, cement
operations & technology, and logistics)
Other Businesses

Number of Employees
111
507
43

The Company does not currently anticipate any significant increase or decrease in the number of its employees
over the next twelve months.
For non-managerial employees of Solid Cement plant and APO Cement plant, labor conditions, including
wages and benefits, are governed by collective bargaining agreements negotiated at the plant level. These
employees are represented by labor unions. Solid Cement plant has a rank and file union as well as a
supervisors union, and APO Cement plant has two rank and file unions. Each of these unions is associated
with the Trade Union Congress of the Philippines. Under the Philippine Labor Code, a labor union serves as
the certified collective bargaining representative of the relevant bargaining unit (i.e., rank and file; supervisors
unit) for a period of five years, whereby the bargaining unit will then conduct a certification election to
determine who its collective bargaining agent will be for the next five years. Accordingly, APO Cement
and Solid Cement negotiate collective bargaining agreements with the newly elected collective bargaining
representative every five years for the general and political terms. The economic terms, such as the salary,
allowances and all monetary and non-monetary benefits to which the collective bargaining members are
entitled, can be renegotiated after a period of three years from the execution of the collective bargaining
agreement. The Solid Cement plant agreement with the supervisors’ union which expired on December 31,
2017 was renewed for another five years, while the rank and file union agreement at Solid Cement plant
which expired on February 28, 2018 was renewed for another five years. The agreement with the APO
Cement plant unions will expire on December 31, 2021. There has been no strike affecting Solid Cement
plant or APO Cement plant during the past fifteen years.

The Company is subject to a broad range of environmental laws and regulations in the Philippines, such as
the Philippine Clean Air Act of 1999, the Philippine Clean Water Act of 2004 and the regulatory framework
established by the Philippine Environmental Impact Statement System. These laws and regulations impose
increasingly stringent environmental protection standards regarding, among other things, air emissions,
wastewater discharges, the use and handling of hazardous waste or materials, waste disposal practices and the
remediation of environmental damage or contamination.
The Company allocates resources to government-mandated social development funds in compliance with
environmental laws and regulations. For instance, in 2017, the Company allocated approximately P16.2 million
for projects implemented pursuant to the Social Development and Management Program.
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Corporate Governance
Basic Corporate Governance Policies
(1) Manual of Corporate Governance
The Parent Company adopted its Manual of Corporate Governance (the “Manual”) on March 7, 2016.  This
Manual was amended on October 25, 2016, May 10, 2017, February 6, 2018 and on March 22, 2018.  The
Parent Company’s policy of corporate governance is principally based on the Manual. The Manual lays down the
principles of good corporate governance in the entire organization. The Manual provides that it is the Board’s
responsibility to initiate compliance to the principles of good corporate governance, to foster long-term success
and to secure sustained competitiveness in a manner consistent with the Board’s fiduciary responsibility.   
There are currently two independent directors namely, Messrs. Alfred Panlilio and Pedro Roxas, on the Board of
Directors of the Parent Company.
The Manual embodies the policies on disclosure and transparency, and mandates the conduct of
communication and training programs on corporate governance. The Manual further provides for the rights
of all shareholders and the protection of the interests of minority shareholders. Any violation of the Manual is
punishable by a penalty ranging from reprimand to dismissal, depending on the frequency of commission as well
as the gravity thereof.
The Manual expressly provides that any material amendment or revision to the provisions defining the (i)
royalty/license fee or service fee, as applicable, payable to CEMEX pursuant to, or (ii) the duration or term of,
any of the Company’s license agreements involving the trademark and other intellectual properties of CEMEX
or the service agreements with CEMEX shall require the affirmative vote of two independent directors.
The Manual recognizes the authority of the Board of Directors to create an internal self-rating system that can
measure the performance of the Board and Management in accordance with the criteria provided for in the
Manual.  The Board of Directors will establish this self-rating system in due course.
The Parent Company is not aware of any deviation from or violation of the provisions of the Manual.   
The Parent Company undertakes to further improve its corporate governance practices as may be required by
law or the exigency of the business.

Through our ethics committees, training programs, and secure internal communications channels, we ensure
awareness and enforcement of the code. We periodically evaluate its provisions and update it when necessary.
Our people and human rights
At CEMEX, our people are a competitive advantage. Our Company fosters an encouraging environment for
individual growth. As an essential part of our Company, we must strive to achieve our mission by acting in a
manner that consistently reflects the principles and values we all share.
Customer relations and fair dealing
CEMEX works to be its customers’ best option. All of our business dealings are conducted fairly and
professionally, and we supply top-quality services and products at the stipulated time and place.
As a company and individually, we make every possible effort to act in an innovative and proactive manner,
exceeding our customers’ expectations and anticipating their needs in order to ensure long and mutually
beneficial relationships.
Supplier relations and fair dealing
CEMEX’s success depends on supplier relationships that are built on trust and mutual benefit. We will always
manage our supplier relationships with honesty, respect and integrity, offering equal opportunities for all parties.
Government relations
CEMEX’s operations require a wide range of interactions with government agencies in many countries. These
agencies may act as regulators, customers, suppliers, stockholders and/or promoters. We will always conduct
our interactions with these agencies consistent with our Company’s principles and values, with particular
emphasis on honesty and respect.
Community relations
CEMEX is committed to promoting and contributing to the development of its communities by preserving the
environment, fostering mutually beneficial relationships and maintaining open lines of communication.
Antitrust compliance

(2) CEMEX Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
We established our code of ethics to ensure that all of our employees abide by the same high standards of
conduct in their daily interactions.
The code governs our relationships with all of our stakeholders, workplace safety, health, environmental
responsibility, protection of confidential information, conflicts of interest, financial controls and records, and
preservation of assets.
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CEMEX is dedicated to conducting all of its business activities with the highest ethical standards. While we strive
to be the best, our corporate values dictate that we can do so only through hard work and outstanding service.
Compliance with all applicable laws is a fundamental part of our corporate values. This is particularly true in
the case of antitrust legislation. Although antitrust compliance is a good business practice in and of itself, it is
important to remember that a violation of antitrust laws may result in severe consequences for our Company
and its employees, officers and directors.
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CEMEX operates in many countries with different antitrust laws and regulations. We must therefore ensure that
all of our business activities conform to local laws and regulations, and to our Company’s own policies. Country
Managers are responsible for ensuring its compliance.
Further, we are expected to report any actual or potential unfair trade practice through ETHOSline or the
Legal Department. We must also contact the Legal Department, if we have questions regarding any particular
practice or activity.
Anti-Bribery
We reject all forms of corruption. Paying or receiving bribes is illegal and highly unethical, and can lead to severe
consequences for all parties involved, including jail for individuals and harsh penalties for the Company. We
are committed to conducting our business with transparency and integrity, and will therefore ensure that all
transactions comply with anti-bribery laws, including requirements to maintain complete and accurate books
and records.
Preventing money laundering
Money laundering is understood as any transaction or series thereof undertaken to conceal the true origin
of illicit funds or making them look as they have been obtained from legitimate activities. This may include
concealing the origin of proceeds of crime, whether money or other properties, within legitimate business
activities. Many times, money laundering also covers the support of terrorist or criminal activities through
legitimate funds. Illegal activities involving money laundering are: terrorism, drug trafficking, fraud, bribery,
smuggling and robbery.
Conflicts of interest and corporate opportunities
CEMEX employees, officers and directors have an obligation to conduct themselves in an honest and ethical
manner and to act in the best interests of CEMEX. All employees, officers and directors should endeavor to
avoid situations that present a potential or actual conflict between their interests and the interests of CEMEX.
Gifts, services and other courtesies
We may not accept or give courtesies of any kind that may compromise, or appear to compromise, decisionmaking on current or future negotiations. It is forbidden to seek or condition a negotiation on any kind of gift,
service or courtesy.
Environmental responsibility
At CEMEX managing our environmental footprint is an integral part of our business philosophy.  We are fully
committed to carrying out our business activities in an environmentally responsible and sustainable manner and
to minimize the environmental implications of our activities.
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Political contributions and activities
CEMEX acknowledges and respects the right of its employees to participate in activities external to the
company, such as politics, provided that they are legal and do not interfere with the employees’ duties and
responsibilities or in any way involve the company.
Health and safety in the workplace
CEMEX gives highest priority to preventing incidents and safeguarding the health and safety of our workforce.
We are fully committed to carrying out our business activities in a safe and efficient manner and to care for the
well-being of all those on our sites and those who may be impacted by our activities.
Confidential information
At CEMEX, we believe that our ability to obtain information and put it to good use creates a competitive
advantage. Accordingly, we must administer and handle information in a responsible, safe, objective and legal
manner.
Financial controls and records
CEMEX seeks to build credibility and trust with its stakeholders. Our Company acknowledges its responsibility
to communicate effectively with our stakeholders so that they are provided with full and accurate information
about CEMEX’s financial condition and results of operations. Consequently, we as employees must ensure,
within the scope of our responsibilities and duties, that our financial records are accurate and our financial
controls effective. We must also ensure that our reports and documents filed with or submitted to securities
regulators, as well as all other public communications, include full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable
disclosure.
Preservation of assets
The proper use and preservation of CEMEX’s assets are essential for the fulfillment of our Company’s mission.
Assets are tangible and intangible property owned by CEMEX, including, but not limited to, buildings, machinery,
equipment, inventories, cash, receivables, shares and securities. Assets also include our proprietary information,
inventions, business plans, patents, brands, trademarks and names, corporate identity and information technology.
(3) ETHOS Line Report Hotline
We encourage our employees, stakeholders and the general public to submit suggestions, inquiries and
report alleged ethics, compliance or governance violations through ETHOS Line, an open and confidential
communication channel.
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(4) Board Committees
The Parent Company’s Board has constituted two committees to more effectively manage the operations: (i)
the Audit Committee and (ii) the Nomination Committee.
(a) The Audit Committee will carry out, among other things, the following functions: (i) assist the Board
of Directors in the performance of its oversight responsibility for: the company’s financial reporting
process; its system of internal control; its audit process and the monitoring of compliance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations; (ii) supervise the effectiveness of its internal control procedures
and corporate risk management systems; (iii) perform oversight functions over its internal and external
auditors, ensuring that the internal and external auditors act independently from each other, and that
each are given unrestricted access to all records, properties and personnel to enable them to perform
their respective audit functions; (iv) review the annual internal audit plan to ensure its conformity with
the company’s objectives; (v) organize an internal audit department, and consider the appointment
of an independent internal auditor and the terms and conditions of its engagement and removal; (vi)
monitor and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal control system, including financial
reporting control and information technology security; (vii) review the reports submitted by the
internal and external auditors; (viii) review the quarterly, half-year and annual financial statements
before their submission to the Board of Directors; (ix) coordinate, monitor and facilitate compliance
with laws, rules and regulations; (x) evaluate and determine non-audit work, if any, required of the
external auditor, and periodically review the non-audit fees paid to the external auditor in relation
to their significance to the total annual income of the external auditor and to the company’s overall
consultancy expenses and (xi) establish and identify the reporting line of the internal auditor to enable
them to properly fulfill their duties and responsibilities.
The Audit Committee is currently comprised of three members, two of whom are the independent
directors. The Audit Committee reports directly to the Board of Directors.  Following the favorable
endorsement of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors approved the Charter for the Audit
Committee on October 25, 2016. The Board of Directors upon the favorable endorsement of the
Audit Committee approved the Internal Audit Charter on February 6, 2018.
The members of the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the Parent Company are
informed about the internal controls and procedure observed by the Company, and are regularly
updated about and have reviewed the results/ findings of the audit and monitoring processes.   The
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors have not detected material weaknesses in the internal
controls and risk management system currently in place.  However, in support of the oversight function
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee is tasked to consider improvements to further
enhance the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk management system of the Company.
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(b) The Nomination Committee will carry out, among other things, the following functions: (i) be
responsible for providing shareholders with an independent and objective evaluation of and assurance
that the members of the Board of Directors are competent and will foster the company’s long-term
success and secure its competitiveness; (ii) review and evaluate the qualifications of persons nominated
to the Board of Directors as well as other appointments that require the approval of the Board of
Directors and (iii) assess the effectiveness of the processes and procedures of the Board of Directors
in the election or replacement of directors.
The Nomination Committee is currently comprised of three members, two of whom are the
independent directors. The Nomination Committee reports directly to the Board of Directors.  
Following the favorable endorsement of the Nomination Committee, the Board of Directors approved
the Charter for the Nomination Committee on October 25, 2016.

Name

Date of Election
[initial date / reelection date]

No. of
Meetings
Held during
tenure in
2017

No. of Meetings
Attended

Chairman

Joaquin Miguel Estrada Suarez

29 February 2016 /    
7 June 2017

11

7

Independent
Director

Alfredo Panlilio

3 June 2016 /
7June2017

11

[Mr. Panililio was on
extended leave of
absence]

Independent
Director

Pedro Roxas

3 June 2016 /
7June2017

11

10

Member

Ignacio Alejandro Mijares
Elizondo

4 July 2017

4

4

Member

Hugo Enrique Losada
Barriola

7 June 2017

6

6

Member

Paul Vincent Arcenas

17 September 2015 /
7 June 2017

11

11

Member

Vincent Paul Piedad

17 September 2015 /
7 June 2017

11

11

Board

6
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Statement of Management’s Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Independent Auditors’ Report

44

P R I M E D F O R G ROW T H

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

45

46

P R I M E D F O R G ROW T H

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

47

48

P R I M E D F O R G ROW T H

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

49

CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated
Statements
of Comprehensive
Income
CEMEX
HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES,
INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated
Statements
of Financial
Position
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands,
Except Earnings
Per Share Data)

CEMEX HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Amounts in Thousands)

(Amounts in Thousands)

(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Note
Revenue
Costs of sales and services

8
6

GROSS PROFIT

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2017
P21,784,450
(12,400,901)

For the Year
Ended
For the
December 31,
Period from
2016 September 17 to
December 31,
(As restated see Note 30)
2015
P24,286,753
(11,885,883)

P–
–
–

9,383,549

12,400,870

(3,079,349)
(4,317,633)

(3,493,594)
(3,961,636)

(4,415)
–

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

(7,396,982)

(7,455,230)

(4,415)

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
OTHER EXPENSES - Net
Other expenses - net

1,986,567
(226,179)

4,945,640
(319,783)

(4,415)
–

10

1,760,388
(858,449)
(66,738)
(36,846)

4,625,857
(1,236,021)
(1,379,892)
(32,734)

(4,415)
–
(31)
–

24

798,355
(139,544)

1,977,210
(563,744)

(4,446)
–

658,811

1,413,466

(4,446)

Administrative and selling expenses
Distribution expenses

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) AFTER
OTHER EXPENSES - Net
Financial expenses
Foreign exchange loss - net
Other financial expenses - net
EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME
TAX
Income tax expense

6
7

9

13, 23

PROFIT (LOSS)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)
Item that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Gain on remeasurements on retirement
benefit liability
Tax effect

22
24

Items that will be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation gain (loss) of foreign
subsidiaries
Cash flow hedges - reclassified to profit or
loss
Cash flow hedges - effective portion of
changes in fair value

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)
Non-controlling interest comprehensive loss
CONTROLLING INTEREST IN
CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (LOSS)
Basic/Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

26

106,474
(31,942)

16,046
(4,814)

–
–

74,532

11,232

–

(13,525)

90,898

(34)

(6,805)

(12,016)

–

–

18,821

–

(20,330)

97,703

(34)

54,202

108,935

(34)

713,013
25

1,522,401
24

(4,480)
–

P713,038

P1,522,425

(P4,480)

P0.13

P0.50

(P0.12)

December 31
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables - net
Due from related parties
Other current accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepayments and other current assets
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Investment in an associate and other investments
Other assets and noncurrent accounts receivable
Property, machinery and equipment - net
Deferred income tax assets - net
Goodwill
Total Noncurrent Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade payables
Due to related parties
Current portion of long-term bank loan
Unearned revenue, other accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Income tax payable
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term bank loan - net of current portion
Long-term payable to related parties
Retirement benefit liability
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Note

2017

2016

11, 21
12, 21
13, 21
15, 21
16
17

P1,058,267
833,259
26,386
74,616
3,258,252
1,401,133
6,651,913

P1,337,155
909,667
215,215
127,346
2,577,577
1,420,056
6,587,016

14
15, 21
18
24
19

15,407
716,700
15,582,732
925,230
27,859,694
45,099,763

15,273
320,489
15,814,811
444,601
27,859,694
44,454,868

P51,751,676

P51,041,884

P2,318,979
2,273,404
140,123

P2,170,646
1,482,096
–

20

2,108,767
32,279
6,873,552

1,958,973
42,490
5,654,205

21, 23
13, 21
13, 22

13,600,475
1,073,635
761,008
20,610
15,455,728

–
15,919,322
769,340
14,805
16,703,467

22,329,280

22,357,672

5,195,395
21,959,159
199,929
2,067,692

5,195,395
21,959,159
120,556
1,408,856

29,422,175
221
29,422,396

28,683,966
246
28,684,212

P51,751,676

P51,041,884

13
21, 23

Total Liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity
Controlling interest:
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Other equity reserves
Retained earnings
Total controlling interest
Non-controlling interest
Total Equity

25A
25B
25E
25C

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.
The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CEMEX HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated
Statements
of Cash
Flows
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS
OF CASH
FLOWS

(Amounts in Thousands)

(Amounts in Thousands)

Note
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss)
Allocation for non-controlling interest
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, machinery and
equipment
5
Financial expenses, other financial
expenses and foreign exchange
result
Net provisions (reversal of provisions)
12, 16,
during the period
20, 22
Impairment loss on property, machinery
and equipment
9
Income tax expense
24
Loss from early extinguishment of debt
9
Stock-based compensation expense
25
Loss on disposal of property,
machinery and equipment
9
Operating profit (loss) before working
capital changes
Net changes in operating assets and
liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in:
Trade receivables
Due from related parties
Other current accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepayments and other current
assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Trade payables
Due to related parties
Unearned revenue, other accounts
payable and accrued expenses
Cash generated from (absorbed by)
operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Benefits paid to employees
22
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2017

For the
For the Year
Period from
Ended September 17 to
December 31,
December 31,
2016
2015

P658,811
–

P1,413,466
270

1,269,233

1,221,272

–

998,479

2,422,547

–

(P4,446)
–

179,163

(165,732)

–

175,230
139,544
64,603
25,171

–
563,744
–
11,655

–
–
–
–

4,602

24,263

–

3,514,836

5,491,485

50,005
164,187
53,679
(722,775)

(92,357)
(144,842)
(139,803)
(297,353)

(4,446)

–
190
–
–

(18,820)

502,805

–

(29,250)
471,769

(75,313)
314,857

–
–

71,312

(232,738)

–

3,554,943
3,034
(860,786)
(553,370)
(26,014)

5,326,741
8,570
(311,430)
(1,239,764)
(36,305)

(4,256)
–
–
–
–

2,117,807

3,747,812

(4,256)

Note
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of:
Property, machinery and equipment
Investments in shares of stock
Investment property
Additions to:
Property, machinery and equipment
Investments in shares of stock
Decrease (increase) in other noncurrent
assets
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash
acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:
Bank loan drawdown (net of transaction
cost)
Long-term loan from related parties
Issuance of common stock (net of
issuance cost)
Payments of:
Long-term payable to related parties
Bank loan
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF PERIOD

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2017

P15,280
–
–
18
14

(1,148,213)
(134)
(396,211)

For the
For the Year
Period from
Ended September 17 to
December 31,
December 31,
2016
2015

P1,102
1,476,056
508,165

P–
–
–

(722,210)
–

–
–

23,654

–

19

–
(1,529,278)

(44,137,515)
(42,850,748)

–
–

23
13

13,831,596
849,900

–
40,760,694

–
–

25A

–

27,145,155

9,212

13

(15,458,475)
(105,092)

–
–

(882,071)

40,466,431

9,212

(293,542)

1,363,495

4,956

14,654

11

(27,439,418)
–

(31,262)

(34)

1,337,155

4,922

–

P1,058,267

P1,337,155

P4,922

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes To TheCEMEX
Consolidated
Financial Statements
Holdings Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries

P29,422,396

54,202
738,184

658,811

25,171

28,684,212

108,935
28,679,480

1,413,466

270
11,655

27,980,793
(835,639)

(34)
4,732

(4,446)

9,400
(188)

P–

Total
Equity

CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes
to the Consolidated
Statements
As at and for the years ended
December
31, 2017 andFinancial
2016
As
at
and
for
the
years
ended
December
31,
2017 and 2016
And for period from September 17 to December 31, 2015
And for period from September 17 to December 31, 2015
(Amounts (Amounts
in Thousands
of Philippine
Peso, Except
of Shares
and Per
Data)Data)
in Thousands
of Philippine
Peso,Number
Except Number
of Shares
andShare
Per Share
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As at December 31, 2017

CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. (the “Parent Company”), a subsidiary of CEMEX Asian South East
Corporation (CASEC), was incorporated as a stock corporation on September 17, 2015 under Philippine
laws with a corporate life of fifty (50) years, primarily to invest in or purchase real or personal property; and
to acquire and own, hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage all kinds of properties such as shares of
stock, bonds, debentures, notes, or other securities and obligations; provided that the Parent Company shall
not engage either in the stock brokerage business or in the dealership of securities, and in the business of
an open-end investment company as defined in Republic Act 2629, Investment Company Act.
CASEC was incorporated as a stock corporation on August 25, 2015 under Philippine laws.
On a consolidated group basis, the Parent Company is an indirect subsidiary of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.
(CEMEX), a company incorporated in Mexico with address of its principal executive office at Avenida
Ricardo Margain Zozaya #325, Colonia Valle del Campestre, Garza Garcia, Nuevo León, Mexico.
The term "Parent Company" used in these accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
refers to CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. without its subsidiaries. The term “Company” refers to CEMEX
Holdings Philippines, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries.
On January 1, 2016, the Parent Company became the holding company of the consolidated entities,
majority of whom are doing business in the Philippines. The Parent Company's two principal manufacturing
subsidiaries, i.e., APO Cement Corporation (APO) and Solid Cement Corporation (Solid), are involved in the
production, marketing, distribution and sale of cement and other cement products. APO and Solid are both
stock corporations organized under the laws of the Philippines. The Parent Company holds APO directly
and indirectly, through Edgewater Ventures Corporation and Triple Dime Holdings, Inc., whereas the Parent
Company holds Solid and Solid’s subsidiaries directly and indirectly, through Bedrock Holdings, Inc. and
Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc. (see Note 29).

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.

P221
P29,422,175
P2,067,692
P5,195,395

P21,959,159

P199,929

–
(25)
54,202
738,209
–
658,836
–
–

–
–

54,202
79,373

(25)
658,836
658,836
–

–

–

–
–

25,171

Total comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income for
the period

Transactions with owners of the
Company
Share-based compensation

As at December 31, 2016

Total comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income for
the period

25D

–

–

25,171

246
28,683,966
1,408,856
5,195,395

21,959,159

120,556

–
246
108,935
28,679,234
–
1,413,490
–
5,185,995

–
21,959,159

108,935
120,590

(24)
1,413,490
1,413,490
–

–

–

270
–
–
11,655
–
–
25C
25D

–
–

–
11,655

–
–

–
–
27,980,793
(835,639)
–
–
22,794,798
(835,639)
5,185,995
–
25A

Transactions with owners of the
Company
Issuance of capital stock
Share issuance cost
Changes in non-controlling interest
due to business combination
Share-based compensation

Total comprehensive income
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive loss for
the period
As at December 31, 2015

–
–

–
–
(34)
4,732
–
9,400

–
–

(34)
(34)

–
(4,634)

–
(4,446)
–

–

–

(4,446)

–
–
9,400
(188)

As at September 17, 2015

Transactions with owners of the
Company
Issuance of capital stock
Share issuance cost

25A

9,400
–

–
–

–
–

–
(188)

P–
P–
P–
P–

P–

P–

Non-controlling
Interest
Retained
Total
Earnings (Deficit) Controlling Interest
Other Equity
Reserves
Additional
Paid-in Capital
Common
Stock
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Note

For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and For the Period from September 17 to December 31, 2015
(Amounts in Thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Changes In Equity

Cemex Holdings Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CEMEX HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and For
the Period from
SeptemberOF
17CHANGES
to December
31, 2015 (Amounts in Thousands)
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS
IN EQUITY

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

The Company also includes CEMEX Asia Research AG (CAR), a wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in
December 2015 under the laws of Switzerland. Pursuant to license agreements that CAR entered into with
CEMEX Research Group AG (CRG) and CEMEX, respectively, CAR became a licensee for certain
trademarks, including the CEMEX trademark, and other intangible assets forming part of the intellectual
property portfolio owned and developed by CEMEX. CAR is engaged primarily in the development,
maintenance and customization of these intangible assets for the Asia Region and it in turn provides nonexclusive licenses to Solid and APO to use the CEMEX trademark and other trademarks and intangible
assets of CEMEX. CRG, an entity under common control of CEMEX, was organized under the laws of
Switzerland. CRG develops and manages CEMEX’s research and development initiatives.
In May 2016, the Parent Company incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary named Falcon Re Ltd. (Falcon)
under the Companies Act of Barbados. Falcon is registered to conduct general insurance business, all risk
property insurance, political risks insurance and non-damage business interruption insurance, and received
its license to operate as an insurance company in July 2016. Falcon acts as a re-insurer to the extent of
10% of the risks associated with property damage and 100% of the risks associated with political violence
and non-damage business interruption programs of the operating subsidiaries of the Parent Company.
On June 30, 2016, the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) resolved to render effective
the Registration Statement of the Parent Company and issued a Certificate of Permit to Offer Securities for
Sale in favor of the Parent Company. On July 18, 2016, the Parent Company’s initial public offering (IPO) of
2,337,927,954 common shares at P10.75 per share culminated with the listing and trading of shares of
stocks under the Main Board of the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE), resulting in an increase in capital
stock of P2,337,928 and additional paid-in capital of P21,959,159, net of P835,639 transaction costs that is
accounted for as a reduction in equity.
Based on the lists of stockholders registered with the stock transfer agent of the Parent Company, the
Parent Company had 16 and 14 stockholders as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, with each of
PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) and PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Filipino) recorded as a
stockholder.
The Parent Company’s principal office is at 34th Floor Petron Mega Plaza Building, 358 Sen. Gil J. Puyat
Avenue, Makati City, Philippines.
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CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
And for period from September 17 to December 31, 2015

CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
And for period from September 17 to December 31, 2015

(Amounts in Thousands of Philippine Peso, Except Number of Shares and Per Share Data)

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION

(Amounts in Thousands of Philippine Peso, Except Number of Shares and Per Share Data)

Certain comparative amounts in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income have been re-presented
as a result of changes in the presentation of certain accounts during the current year (see Note 30).

A) STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). PFRSs, which are issued by the Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC), consist of PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs), and
Philippine Interpretations.
B) BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting, except
for retirement benefit liability which is measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligation less
the fair value of plan assets and certain derivative financial asset that is measured at fair value.
C) DEFINITION OF TERMS
When reference is made to “P”, it means Philippine Peso. Unless otherwise indicated, the Philippine Peso
amounts in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes are stated in thousands.
When reference is made to “$” or dollar and “€” or euro, it means thousands of dollars of the United States
of America (the “United States” or “U.S.”) and euro of European Union, respectively.

1. Adoption of Amendments to Standards
1.1 Disclosure initiative (Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows)
The amendments address financial statements users’ requests for improved disclosures about an entity’s
net debt relevant to understanding an entity’s cash flows. The amendments require entities to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes - e.g. by providing a
reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the statement of financial position for liabilities
arising from financing activities.
The Company has provided the required information in Notes 13 and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements. As allowed under the transition provisions of the standard, the Company did not present
comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2016.
1.2 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses (Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes)
The amendments clarify that:
•

the existence of a deductible temporary difference depends solely on a comparison of the carrying
amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the reporting period, and is not affected by possible
future changes in the carrying amount or expected manner of recovery of the asset;

•

the calculation of future taxable profit in evaluating whether sufficient taxable profit will be available in
future periods excludes tax deductions resulting from the reversal of the deductible temporary
differences;

•

the estimate of probable future taxable profit may include the recovery of some of an entity's assets for
more than their carrying amount if there is sufficient evidence that it is probable that the entity will
achieve this; and

•

an entity assesses a deductible temporary difference related to unrealized losses in combination with all
of its other deductible temporary differences, unless a tax law restricts the utilization of losses to
deduction against income of a specific type.

D) FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in Philippine Peso, the functional
currency of the Parent Company and each of its subsidiaries, except for Falcon and CAR whose functional
currency is both in U.S. dollar. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise
stated.
E)

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The line item “Other expenses - net” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income consists
primarily of income and expenses not directly related to the Company’s main activity, or which are nonrecurring in nature, such as impairment loss on property, machinery and equipment, reorganization
expenses, back office and other support service, among others.
F)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

The consolidated statements of cash flows present cash inflows and outflows, excluding unrealized foreign
exchange result and the following that did not represent sources or uses of cash:
a)
b)
ĐͿ

The increases in other equity reserves associated with CEMEX’s Ordinary Participation Certificates
(CPOs) granted in 2017 and 2016 as part of the executive’s long-term share-based compensation
programs for P25,171 and P11,655, respectively, as described in Note 25D.
In line with its production expansion plan, the Company acquired equipment from CEMEX Construction
Materials South LLC by incurring a liability amounting to nil and P573,836 in 2017 and 2016, respectively
(see Note 13).
The Company capitalized decommissioning cost amounting to P5,805 in 2017. This capitalized cost
pertains to its estimated cost of restoring the plant site at the end of its useful life.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors
(BOD) on March 22, 2018.

A) CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies adopted have been applied consistently to all years presented in these consolidated
financial statements, except for the following relevant amendments to standards, which were adopted on
January 1, 2017 and have been applied in preparing this consolidated financial statements. Except as otherwise
indicated, the adoption of these amendments to standards did not have any significant impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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2. Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after
January 1, 2017. However, the Company has not applied the following new or amended standards in preparing
these consolidated financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have a
significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company will adopt the following
new and amendments to standards in their respective effective dates.
2.1 Effective January 1, 2018

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

56

1.3 Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle
This cycle of improvements contains amendments to three standards. The following is the amendment to
PFRSs effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017:

•
Clarification of the scope of the standard (Amendments to PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities). The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements for interests in other entities also apply
to interests that are classified as held for sale or distribution. The amendments are applied retrospectively,
with early application permitted.

a) PFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2014). PFRS 9 (2014) replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement, and supersedes the previously published versions of PFRS 9 that introduced new
classifications and measurement requirements (in 2009 and 2010) and a new hedge accounting model
(in 2013). PFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets,
including a new expected credit loss (ECL) model for calculating impairment, guidance on own credit risk on
financial liabilities measured at fair value and supplements the new general hedge accounting requirements
published in 2013. PFRS 9 incorporates new hedge accounting requirements that represent a major overhaul of
hedge accounting and introduces significant improvements by aligning the accounting more closely with risk
management.
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The new standard is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018,
with early adoption permitted.

o

Estimated Impact of the Adoption of PFRS 9
Impairment of Financial Assets. Under the new impairment model based on ECL, impairment losses resulting
either from (1) possible default events within the twelve (12) months after the reporting date; or (2) all possible
default events over the expected life of financial assets, are recognized on initial recognition, and at each
subsequent reporting period, even in the absence of a credit event or if the loss has not yet been incurred,
considering for their measurement past events and current conditions, as well as reasonable and supportable
forecasts affecting collectability.

The exception does not apply to equity instruments that the company withholds in excess of the
employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-based payment.

The Company has assessed the estimated impact that the initial adoption of PFRS 9 will have on its
consolidated financial statements. The Company reviewed its existing financial instruments and determined
that the amended standard has significant impact on its allowance for impairment losses on receivables.
The Company computed the impact to consolidated financial statements upon adoption of the standard
following a methodology consistent with PFRS 9. The effects are detailed below:

Trade receivables - net
Deferred income tax assets - net
Retained earnings

P

As reported
as at
December 31,
2017

Estimated
adjustments
due to
adoption of
PFRS 9

Estimated
adjusted
opening
balance at
January 1,
2018

833,259
925,230
2,067,692

(14,412)
4,324
(10,088)

818,847
929,554
2,057,604

The estimated adjustments to the opening balance of the Company’s equity at January 1, 2018 is primarily
due to additional impairment from ECL on trade receivables. The ECL was based on historical collection
result of previous years’ credit sales, as well as the credit risk and expected developments for each group of
customers. Accounts that were not collected and have eventually become overdue for more than 365 days
were identified to compute for the ECL factor. The ECL factor was then used to determine the ECL on the
current year’s credit sales. The effect of the ECL on other financial assets were estimated to be not material.
Classification and Measurement. PFRS 9 changes the classification categories for financial assets and
replaces them with categories that reflect the measurement method, the contractual cash flow
characteristics and the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset: 1) amortized cost;
2) fair value through other comprehensive income; and 3) fair value through profit or loss.
The Company assessed that the new classification requirements of PFRS 9 will have no material impact on
its accounting for cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, due from related parties, other current
accounts receivable and long-term and guarantee deposits which will in general also be measured at
amortized cost, having cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest under a held-to-collect
business model.
The actual impact of adopting PFRS 9 at January 1, 2018 may change because the new accounting policies
are subject to change until the assessment is finalized and the Company presents its first consolidated
financial statements that include the date of initial application.
b) Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to PFRS 2,
Share-based Payment). The amendments cover the following areas:
•

Measurement of cash-settled awards. The amendments clarify that a cash-settled share-based
payment is measured using the same approach as for equity-settled share-based payments - i.e.
the modified grant date method.

•

Classification of awards settled net of tax withholdings. The amendments introduce an exception
stating that, for classification purposes, a share-based payment transaction with employees is
accounted for as equity-settled if:
o

the terms of the arrangement permit or require a company to settle the transaction net by
withholding a specified portion of the equity instruments to meet the statutory tax withholding
requirement (the net settlement feature); and

4
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•

the entire share-based payment transaction would otherwise be classified as equity-settled if
there were no net settlement feature.

Modification of awards from cash-settled to equity settled. The amendments clarify that when a
share-based payment is modified from cash-settled to equity-settled, at modification date, the
liability for the original cash-settled share-based payment is derecognized and the equity-settled
share-based payment is measured at its fair value, recognized to the extent that the goods or
services have been received up to that date. The difference between the carrying amount of the
liability derecognized, and the amount recognized in equity, is recognized in profit or loss
immediately.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. As a practical
simplification, the amendments can be applied prospectively. Retrospective or early application is permitted.
c) PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, replaces PAS 11, Construction Contracts, PAS 18,
Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers, and
SIC-31, Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The new standard introduces a new
revenue recognition model for contracts with customers which specifies that revenue should be recognized
when (or as) a company transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the
company expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognized over
time, in a manner that best reflects the company’s performance, or at a point in time, when control of the
goods or services is transferred to the customer. The standard does not apply to insurance contracts,
financial instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of other PFRSs. It also does not apply if two
companies in the same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate sales to other parties.
Furthermore, if a contract with a customer is partly in the scope of another PFRS, then the guidance on
separation and measurement contained in the other PFRS takes precedence.
The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption
permitted. The Company has assessed the impact of the new revenue standard on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements as follows:
Sale of Goods
The revenue is currently recognized when the goods are delivered to the customers’ premises, which is
taken to be the point in time at which the customer accepts the goods and the related risks and rewards of
ownership transfer. Under PFRS 15, revenue will be recognized when the customer obtains control of the
goods. Based on the management’s assessment, the transfer of the control over the goods is at a point in
time and coincides with its delivery and acceptance by the customer. Hence, the management does not
expect the application of PFRS 15 to result in a significant impact on its revenue recognition on the sale of
goods.
For the customer loyalty programme being implemented locally by the management, the fair value method is
the current practice being followed by the Company in valuing the customer loyalty points earned by its
customers. Under PFRS 15, consideration will be allocated between the loyalty points earned by the
customer and the goods sold based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. As a consequence, a lower
proportion of the consideration will be allocated to the loyalty programme, and therefore less revenue is
likely to be deferred. The changes are assessed to be not material considering circumstances specific to the
Company.
Construction Contracts
In the adoption of PFRS 15, the Company’s construction contracts qualify for an over-time revenue
recognition as the performance obligations commonly pertain to construction of an asset on properties
controlled by the customer. The management assessed that significant impact on the measure of progress
is not expected as the Company’s current recognition policy recognizes construction expense as incurred
and does not ordinarily result in material amounts of work in progress recorded as an asset. Contract
revenue also includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work and
claims, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably. When
variation is recognized, the measure of contract progress or contract price is revised and the cumulative
contract position is reassessed at each reporting date. The practice is expected to remain similar when
applying the contract modification guidance of PFRS 15, considering common contracts of the Company.
Hence, the Company does not expect the application of PFRS 15 to have significant impact on its revenue
recognition on construction contracts.
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The actual impact of adopting PFRS 15 at January 1, 2018 may change because the new accounting
policies are subject to change until the assessment is finalized and the Company presents its first
consolidated financial statements that include the date of initial application.

b) Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments, clarifies how to apply the
recognition and measurement requirements in PAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments. Under the interpretation, whether the amounts recorded in the financial statements will differ to
that in the tax return, and whether the uncertainty is disclosed or reflected in the measurement, depends on
whether it is probable that the tax authority will accept the Company’s chosen tax treatment. If it is not
probable that the tax authority will accept the Company’s chosen tax treatment, the uncertainty is reflected
using the measure that provides the better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty – either the most
likely amount or the expected value. The interpretation also requires the reassessment of judgements and
estimates applied if facts and circumstances change – e.g. as a result of examination or action by tax
authorities, following changes in tax rules or when a tax authority’s right to challenge a treatment expires.

d) Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration. The
interpretation clarifies that the transaction date to be used for translation for foreign currency transactions
involving an advance payment or receipt is the date on which the entity initially recognizes the prepayment
or deferred income arising from the advance consideration. For transactions involving multiple payments or
receipts, each payment or receipt gives rise to a separate transaction date. The interpretation applies when
an entity pays or receives consideration in a foreign currency and recognizes a non-monetary asset or
liability before recognizing the related item.
The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption
permitted.

The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is
permitted. The Company is currently assessing the potential impact on its consolidated financial statements
resulting from the application of this interpretation.

e) Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle. This cycle of improvements contains amendments
to three standards. Following is the said improvements or amendments to PFRSs effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018:

c) Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to PFRS 9). The amendments cover
the following areas:

•

Measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value (Amendments to PAS 28, Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures). The amendments provide that a venture capital organization, or
other qualifying entity, may elect to measure its investments in an associate or joint venture at fair
value through profit or loss. This election can be made on an investment-by-investment basis. The
amendments also provide that a non-investment entity investor may elect to retain the fair value
accounting applied by an investment entity associate or investment entity joint venture to its
subsidiaries. This election can be made separately for each investment entity associate or joint
venture. The amendments are applied retrospectively, with early application permitted.

•

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with early
adoption permitted. Retrospective application is required, subject to relevant transitional reliefs.
•

2.2 Effective January 1, 2019
a) PFRS 16, Leases, supersedes PAS 17, Leases, and the related Philippine Interpretations. The new
standard introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees under which all major leases are
recognized on-balance sheet, removing the lease classification test. Lease accounting for lessors essentially
remains unchanged except for a number of details including the application of the new lease definition, new
sale-and-leaseback guidance, new sub-lease guidance and new disclosure requirements. Practical
expedients and targeted reliefs were introduced including an optional lessee exemption for short-term
leases (leases with a term of 12 months or less) and low-value items, as well as the permission of portfoliolevel accounting instead of applying the requirements to individual leases. New estimates and judgmental
thresholds that affect the identification, classification and measurement of lease transactions, as well as
requirements to reassess certain key estimates and judgments at each reporting date were introduced.
PFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is
permitted for entities that apply PFRS 15 at or before the date of initial application of PFRS 16. The
Company has completed the initial assessment of the potential impact on its consolidated financial
statements but has not yet completed its detailed assessment. The actual impact of applying PFRS 16 on
the consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application will depend on future economic
conditions, including the Company’s borrowing rate at January 1, 2019, the composition of the Company’s
lease portfolio at that date, the Company’s latest assessment of whether it will exercise any lease renewal
options and the extent to which the Company chooses to use practical expedients and recognition
exemptions.
So far, the most significant impact identified is that the Company will recognize new assets and liabilities for
its operating leases of land, office space, warehouse and transportation equipment. As at
December 31, 2017, the Company’s minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
amounted to P3,596,666, on an undiscounted basis (see Note 27). In addition, the nature of expenses
related to those leases will now change as PFRS 16 replaces the straight-line operating lease expense with
depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.

Prepayment features with negative compensation. The amendment clarifies that a financial asset
with a prepayment feature could be eligible for measurement at amortized cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income (OCI) irrespective of the event or circumstance that causes the early
termination of the contract, which may be within or beyond the control of the parties, and a party
may either pay or receive reasonable compensation for that early termination.

Modification of financial liabilities. The amendment to the Basis for Conclusions on PFRS 9 clarifies
that the standard provide an adequate basis for an entity to account for modifications and
exchanges of financial liabilities that do not result in derecognition and the treatment is consistent
with the requirements for adjusting the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when a
modification does not result in the derecognition of the financial asset - i.e. the amortized cost of
the modified financial liability is recalculated by discounting the modified contractual cash flows
using the original effective interest rate and any adjustment is recognized in profit or loss.
If the initial application of PFRS 9 results in a change in accounting policy for these modifications or
exchanges, then retrospective application is required, subject to relevant transition reliefs.

d) Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to PAS 28). The amendment
requires the application of PFRS 9 to other financial instruments in an associate or joint venture to which the
equity method is not applied. These include long-term interests (LTIs) that, in substance, form part of the
entity's net investment in an associate or joint venture. The amendment explains the annual sequence in
which PFRS 9 and PAS 28 are to be applied. In effect, PFRS 9 is first applied ignoring any prior years’
PAS 28 loss absorption. If necessary, prior years’ PAS 28 loss allocation is trued-up in the current year
which may involve recognizing more prior years’ losses, reversing these losses or re-allocating them
between different LTI instruments. Any current year PAS 28 losses are allocated to the extent that the
remaining LTI balance allows and any current year PAS 28 profits reverse any unrecognized prior years’
losses and then allocations against LTI.
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with early adoption
permitted. Retrospective application is required, subject to relevant transitional reliefs.
e) Deferral of the local implementation of Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and
PAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture. The
amendments address an inconsistency between the requirements in PFRS 10 and in PAS 28, in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business
(whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves
assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.
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Originally, the amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016
with early adoption permitted. However, on January 13, 2016, the FRSC decided to postpone the effective
date of these amendments until the IASB has completed its broader review of the research project on equity
accounting that may result in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of
accounting for associates and joint ventures.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

B) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements includes those of the Parent Company and those of the subsidiaries
in which the Parent Company exercises control (see Note 29), by means of which the Parent Company is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are
presently exercisable or convertible are taken into account. Among other factors, control is evidenced when
the Parent Company: a) holds directly or through subsidiaries, more than 50% of an entity’s common stock;
or b) has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the administrative, financial and operating policies of an
entity.
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:
▪
▪
▪

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
The Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date when the Company obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Parent Company, using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar
circumstances. Non-controlling interest is the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
a parent. It is measured at its proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition
date. Changes in the Parent Company’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity
and attributed to the Company.
If the Company loses control over a subsidiary, it:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
derecognizes the related OCI recorded in equity and recycles the same to profit or loss or retained
earnings;
recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;
recognizes the fair value of any investment retained; and
recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

The Company has P221 and P246 non-controlling interest as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively
(see Note 25C).
All intragroup transactions, balances and income and expenses are eliminated in consolidation. Each
subsidiary is a legally responsible separate entity and maintains custody of its own financial resources.
C) USE OF JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND CRITICAL ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRSs requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well
as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. These assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis using available information. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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Determining Functional Currency
PAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, requires the management to use its judgment
to determine an entity’s functional currency such that it most faithfully represents the economic effects of the
underlying transactions, events and conditions that are relevant to the entity. In making this judgment, each
of the consolidated entities in the Company considers the following:
a)
b)
c)

The currency that mainly influences sales prices for financial instruments and services (this will often be
the currency in which sales prices for its financial instruments and services are denominated and
settled);
The currency in which funds from financing activities are generated; and
The currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually retained.

In case of a subsidiary, the principal consideration of management is whether it is an extension of the Parent
Company and performing the functions of the Parent Company - i.e., whether its role is simply to hold the
investment in, or provide finance to, the foreign operation on behalf of the Parent Company or whether its
functions are essentially an extension of a local operation (e.g., performing selling, payroll or similar
activities for that operation) or indeed it is undertaking activities on its own account. In the former case, the
functional currency of the entity is the same with that of the Parent Company; while in the latter case, the
functional currency of the entity would be assessed separately.
Determining whether the Company has Control over its Investee Companies
The Parent Company uses judgment in determining control over its investee companies. The Parent
Company controls the entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee; has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee; and there is a link
between power and returns. Thus, the principle of control sets out the following three elements of control:
▪
▪
▪

power over the relevant activities of the investee;
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and
the ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

The Parent Company assessed that it has control over its investee companies disclosed in Note 29 and
treats these investee companies as its subsidiaries.
Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease
The Company uses its judgment in determining whether an arrangement contains a lease, based on the
substance of the arrangement at inception date and makes an assessment of whether it is dependent on the
use of a specific asset or assets and conveys a right to use the asset.
Leases
The Company has entered into various lease arrangements as lessee. The Company has determined that
the lessor retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out
under operating lease agreements.
Determination of whether the Company is Acting as a Principal or an Agent
Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal or as an agent depends on certain facts and
circumstances and requires judgment by management. Features that, individually or in combination, indicate
that an entity is acting as a principal include:
▪
▪
▪
▪

the entity has the primary responsibility for providing the goods or rendering services;
the entity has inventory risk;
the entity has discretion in establishing prices; and
the entity bears the customer’s credit risk.
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An entity is acting as an agent when it does not have exposure to the significant risks and rewards
associated with the sale of goods or rendering of services. The Company assessed that it is acting as
principal on all of its revenue transactions.

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty as at reporting
date that have the most significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets, liabilities and equity within the next financial year are as follows:

Classifying Financial Instruments
The Company exercises judgment in classifying a financial instrument, or its component parts, on initial
recognition as either a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial liability or an
equity instrument. The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its
classification in the consolidated statements of financial position.
In addition, the Company classifies financial assets by evaluating, among others, whether the asset is
quoted or not in an active market. Included in the evaluation on whether a financial asset is quoted in an
active market is the determination on whether quoted prices are readily and regularly available, and whether
those prices represent the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), held-to-maturity
(HTM) investments, loans and receivables and available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets. Financial liabilities,
on the other hand, are classified as either financial liabilities at FVPL or other financial liabilities.
Distinction between Held for Sale and Owner-Occupied Property
The Company determines whether a property qualifies as held for sale. In making its judgment, the
Company considers whether the property is not occupied substantially for use by, or in operations by the
Company, but is expected to be recovered through sale. Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows
that are attributable not only to the property, but also to the other assets used in the production or supply
process.
The Company assessed that its machinery and equipment (which were previously being used for concrete
operations), its marine vessels, and other machinery and equipment qualify as held for sale (see Note 17).
Assessing Whether the Insurance Contract with the Third Party Insurer and Reinsurance Contract of
Falcon are Linked Transactions
The Company, through Solid and APO, insures certain risks with a third party insurer in which Falcon takes
some of the risk back into the Company. It was assessed that the insurance transactions between the third
party insurer and Solid and APO are interdependent with the reinsurance transaction to Falcon. Since
Falcon does not have the regulatory approval required to issue direct insurance contract to Philippine
entities, the third party insurer acts as a conduit for Falcon, the captive insurer. This makes the transactions,
in substance, form a single arrangement that achieves an overall commercial effect of self-insurance. In
addition, the reinsurance contract by Falcon were entered in contemplation of the insurance contracts
entered by Solid and APO with the third party insurer. Thus, the insurance expense of Solid and APO and
revenue from insurance contracts of Falcon were offset during consolidation.

Impairment of Goodwill
The Company performed its annual impairment test on its goodwill as at the reporting date. The recoverable
amount of goodwill was determined based on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections from
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. The assumptions that were applied
to the cash flow projections are disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. The following
bases were used to develop the assumptions used in computing value-in-use:
Growth rate estimates - growth rates were based on experiences and strategies developed for the various
subsidiaries. The prospect for the industry was also considered in estimating the growth rates.
Discount rates - discount rates were estimated based on the industry weighted average cost of capital,
which includes the cost of equity and debt after considering the gearing ratio.
Value-in-use is the most sensitive to changes in discount rate and growth rate.
Estimating Realizability of Deferred Income Tax Assets
The Company reviews its deferred income tax assets at each reporting date and reduces the deferred
income tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. The deferred income tax assets include an
amount which relates to the carried forward tax losses of the Parent Company (see Note 24). The Parent
Company has incurred the tax losses over the last three years starting from its incorporation. They relate
mainly to the expenses incurred by the Company during the IPO and realized foreign exchange loss during
its loan refinancing. These carried forward tax losses has an expiration of three years from the taxable year
when the tax loss was incurred. The foreign subsidiaries are expected to generate profit in the following
years that will be available for declaration as dividend to the Parent Company that will eventually form part
of its taxable income from where the said carried forward tax losses may be applied. However, the Company
has concluded that they will only benefit from a portion of the said tax losses before they eventually expire.
The assessment was based on the level of estimated profit that the foreign subsidiaries will generate in the
subsequent years which is based on their past results and future expectations of revenues and expenses.
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, net deferred income tax assets amounted to P925,230 and P444,601,
respectively (see Note 24B). The Company has unrecognized deferred income tax assets in respect of
NOLCO and deductible temporary differences amounting to P2,646,805 and P894,857 as at December 31,
2017 and 2016, respectively, which mostly pertain to net operating loss carryover (NOLCO). The outcomes
within the next financial year with respect to the results of operations of the foreign subsidiaries that are
different from the assumption could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the Company’s
deferred income tax assets.
D) FOREIGN CURRENCY

Assessing Whether the Business Combination Transaction has Commercial Substance

Foreign Currency Transactions

PFRS 3, Business Combinations, does not include in its scope transactions among entities under common
control. The Company assesses whether a business combination transaction of the Parent Company has
commercial substance pursuant to the Company’s accounting policy discussed in Note 3K. Since the Parent
Company’s acquisition of the entities comprising the Philippine operations was undertaken as an integral
part of its IPO, the Company assessed such transaction as having commercial substance. Hence, the
Company accounted for such business combination transaction using acquisition method of accounting.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of each of the
consolidated entities in the Company at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Purchase Price Allocation to Account for the Business Combination
Judgment is applied by the Company in allocating the purchase consideration and assigning fair values to
the assets, liabilities acquired and eventually to goodwill. The Company has not identified any intangible
asset to be recognized separately from goodwill.

Monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured based on
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss.
However, foreign currency differences arising from the transaction of the following items are recognized in
OCI:
▪
▪
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Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. During the period, there was no
hyperinflationary economy, which is generally considered to exist when the cumulative inflation rate over the
last three years is approaching, or exceeds 100%. In a hyperinflationary economy, the accounts of the
entity’s income statements should be restated to constant amounts as at the reporting date.

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.

Foreign Operation
The assets and liabilities of foreign operation with functional currency other than the Philippine peso are
translated into Philippine peso at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income, expenses and cash
flows of foreign operations are translated into Philippine peso at the monthly weighted average exchange
rates for the period. Capital transactions of the foreign operations are translated to Philippine Peso at the
exchange rates at the dates of the relevant transactions. Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI
and accumulated in “Other equity reserves” account in equity, except to the extent that the translation
difference is allocated to the non-controlling interest.
When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the “Other equity reserves” account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the
Company disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interest.
E)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments within the scope of PAS 39 are recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. In the case of a
regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using
trade date accounting.
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. Except for financial instruments classified or
designated at FVPL, the initial measurement of financial assets includes directly attributable transaction
costs. The Company classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at FVPL,
HTM investments, AFS financial assets and loans and receivables. The Company classifies its financial
liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has no financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL
and HTM investments.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are included in the category “loans and receivables”. Cash equivalents are
mainly represented by short-term investments of high liquidity, which are easily convertible into cash, and
which are not subject to significant risks of changes in their values, including overnight investments, which
yield fixed returns and have maturities of less than three months from the investment date. Cash and cash
equivalents exclude those which are restricted from Company’s use in operations. Cash and cash
equivalents are stated at face value which includes accrued interest. Interest income accruing from cash
and cash equivalents are recognized as part of “Other financial expenses - net” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.
Trade Receivables and Other Current Accounts Receivable

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective interest rate
of the asset. The financial assets, together with the associated allowance accounts, are written-off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral, if any, has been realized or has been
transferred to the Company.
If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that
group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Those characteristics are relevant to the
estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtor’s ability to pay all
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. Financial assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are
not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment
loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.
The Company performs a regular review of the age and status of these accounts, designed to identify
accounts with objective evidence of impairment and provide the appropriate allowance for impairment loss.
The review is accomplished using a combination of specific and collective assessment approaches, with the
impairment loss being determined for each risk grouping identified by the Company.
Other Assets and Noncurrent Accounts Receivable
As part of the category “loans and receivables” under PAS 39, noncurrent accounts receivable are initially
recognized at fair value including directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at
their amortized cost. Subsequent changes in net present value are recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income as part of “Other financial expenses - net”.
Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date in which a derivative
transaction is entered into or bifurcated, and are subsequently remeasured and accounted for in the
consolidated statements of financial position at fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or
loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedge of an identified risk and qualifies for hedge
accounting treatment or accounted for as derivative not designated for hedges.
The objective of hedge accounting is to match the impact of the hedged item and the hedging instrument in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging
relationship must comply with the strict requirements such as the designation of the derivative as a hedge of
an identified risk exposure, hedge documentation, probability of occurrence of the forecasted transaction in
a cash flow hedge, assessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness, and reliability of the
measurement bases of the derivative instruments.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes, among others, default or delinquency by a
debtor, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy and adverse changes in the payment status
of the borrowers or issuers.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy
for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged
item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging
instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows
attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting
changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an on-going basis to determine that they actually
have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated. The
Company’s derivative financial instruments are accounted for as either cash flow hedges or transactions not
designated as hedges.
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Pursuant to PAS 39, items under this caption are included in the category “loans and receivables”. Due to
their short-term nature, the Company initially recognizes these receivables at the original invoiced amount
and are subsequently measured at amortized cost less an estimate of impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognized under selling expenses. The Company assesses at the end of each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.
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Cash flow Hedges
Cash flow hedges are hedges of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognized asset, liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and could affect
profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of a hedging instrument that qualifies as a highly effective cash flow
hedge are recognized in OCI and accumulated in the hedging reserve under “Other equity reserves” in the
consolidated statements of financial position, whereas any hedge ineffectiveness is immediately recognized
in profit or loss.
Amounts taken to equity are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss,
such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognized or when a forecast sale or
purchase occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken
to equity are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods
during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (such as in the periods that
depreciation expense or cost of sales is recognized). However, if an entity expects that all or a portion of a
loss recognized in OCI will not be recovered in one or more future periods, it shall reclassify from equity to
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment the amount that is not expected to be recovered.
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedge ceases to be highly effective. When the
hedge accounting is discontinued, the cumulative gains or losses on the hedging instrument that has been
reported to OCI is retained in OCI until the hedged transaction impacts profit or loss. When the forecasted
transaction is no longer expected to occur, any net cumulative gains or losses previously reported in OCI is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Debt and Other Financial Liabilities
Trade payables, due to related parties, other accounts payable and accrued expenses (excluding advances
from customers and liabilities covered by other PFRSs, such as statutory liabilities), long-term payable to
related parties, and bank loans are recognized initially at fair value, less directly attributable transaction cost
and subsequently measured at their amortized cost. Interest accrued on financial instruments is recognized
in the consolidated statements of financial position within “Unearned revenue, other accounts payable and
accrued expenses”, “Long-term payable to related parties” or “Bank loans” against financial expenses. As at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not have financial liabilities classified as at FVPL, or
associated to fair value hedge strategies with derivative financial instruments. Direct costs incurred in debt
issuances or borrowings are deducted from the fair value of the financial liability at initial recognition and
amortized as interest expense as part of the effective interest rate of each transaction over its maturity.
When a loan is repaid, the related unamortized debt issuance costs at the date of repayment are charged
against profit or loss.
‘Day 1’ Profit
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable current
market transactions of the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only
data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair
value (a ‘Day 1’ profit) in profit or loss. In cases where no observable data are used, the difference between
the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become
observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Company determines the
appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount.
Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statements of financial position when, and only when, the Company has an enforceable legal right to offset
the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements and the related assets and
liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Derecognition of Financial Instruments
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is derecognized when:
▪
▪

▪

the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset and either: (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial asset; or (b) has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial asset, but has transferred control of
the financial asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from a financial asset or has entered into
a ‘pass-through’ arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the financial asset nor transferred control of the financial asset, the financial asset is recognized
to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the financial asset. Continuing involvement that
takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred financial asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the financial asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could
be required to repay.
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or has
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of financial liability (or part of a financial liability)
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss. When an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the carrying
amount of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability at fair value, and any resulting difference
in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.
F)

BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The Company discloses balances and transactions with related parties. These balances and transactions
resulted primarily from: i) the sale and purchase of goods and equipment between related parties; ii) the
invoicing of administrative services, rentals, royalties and other services rendered between related parties;
and iii) loans and advances between related parties.
The recognition and measurement policies on balances with related parties, which are treated as loans and
receivables and other financial liabilities, are in accordance with PAS 39.
G) INVENTORIES
Inventories are valued using the lower of their acquisition cost and net realizable value (NRV). The cost of
inventories is based on the moving average method and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the
inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing
location and condition. NRV of inventories, other than spare parts, is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. The NRV of spare
parts is the replacement cost. The Company analyzes its inventory balances to determine if, as a result of
internal events, such as physical damage, or external events, such as technological changes or market
conditions, certain portions of such balances have become obsolete or impaired.
When an impairment situation arises, the inventory balance is adjusted to its NRV, whereas, if an
obsolescence situation occurs, the inventory obsolescence reserve is increased. In both cases, these
adjustments are recognized against the results for the period. Advances to suppliers of inventory are
presented as part of “Prepayments and other current assets” account in the consolidated statements of
financial position.
When the inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those inventories are recognized under “Costs of
sales and services” account in profit or loss in the period when the related revenue is recognized.
H) PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments
Prepayments are carried at cost. Prepaid insurance and prepaid rent are subsequently amortized over the
terms of the contract to which the payment applies. Advances to suppliers for raw materials and spare parts
are subsequently recognized as inventories or expense when the goods are received or services are
rendered. Prepaid taxes represent creditable withholding taxes which are deducted from income tax
payable.

the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired;
the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the financial asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
or
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Assets Held for Sale
Noncurrent assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather through continuing use
are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or components
of a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies on the particular
account from which the asset was previously classified. Thereafter, generally the assets, or disposal group,
are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on
initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognized in
profit or loss. Gains for any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell of the asset are not
recognized in excess of any cumulative impairment loss that has been recognized. Any gain or loss from the
derecognition of assets held for sale is recognized in profit or loss.
I)

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

Investment in an Associate
An associate is an entity in which the Company has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
the financial and operating policies. Interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity method. It is
initially recorded at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated
financial statements include the Company’s share in the profit or loss and OCI of the associate, until the
date on which the significant influence ceases.
Other Investments
Included in other investments are the AFS financial assets. AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial
assets that are designated in this category or are not classified in any of the other categories. They are
purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market
conditions. Subsequent to initial recognition, AFS financial assets which are investments in equity
instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured are measured at cost.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an equity instrument that does
not have a quoted price in an active market and that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot
be reliably measured, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, other investments include mainly investments in shares of stock of
Greencrete, Inc. and other entities (see Note 14).
J)

PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT

An item of property, machinery and equipment is initially recognized at its cost, which consists of its
purchase price and any directly attributable cost in bringing the asset to the location and condition of its
intended use. Property, machinery and equipment are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
The acquisition or construction cost includes all expenditures directly attributable to bringing the assets to a
working condition for their intended use. Major components of an item of property, machinery and
equipment with different useful lives are accounted for as separate items.
Depreciation of property, machinery and equipment is recognized as part of “Costs of sales and services”
and “Operating Expenses” accounts in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and is
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
As at December 31, 2017, the Company’s maximum estimated useful lives by category of property,
machinery and equipment were as follows:
Years
Buildings and improvements .................................................................................................................................
50
Machinery and equipment
Plant Machinery and equipment .........................................................................................................................
10 - 35
Ready-mix trucks and motor vehicles .................................................................................................................
5
Office equipment and other assets .....................................................................................................................
3
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The assets’ residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed periodically to ensure that
the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from
the items of property, machinery and equipment. Any change in the expected residual values, useful lives
and method of depreciation are adjusted prospectively from the time the change was determined necessary.
The Company capitalizes, as part of the historical cost of property, machinery and equipment, interest
expense arising from existing debt during the construction or installation period of significant property,
machinery and equipment, considering the Company’s corporate average interest rate and the average
balance of investments in process for the period.
Construction in-progress represents property, machinery and equipment under construction and is
recognized at cost. This includes cost of construction and other direct costs. Construction in-progress is not
depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are completed and available for operational use but
tested for impairment.
Costs incurred in respect of operating property, machinery and equipment that result in future economic
benefits, such as an extension in their useful lives, an increase in their production capacity or in safety, as
well as those costs incurred to mitigate or prevent environmental damage, are capitalized as part of the
carrying amount of the related assets. The capitalized costs are depreciated over the remaining useful lives
of such property, machinery and equipment. Other costs, including periodic maintenance on property,
machinery and equipment, are expensed as incurred. Advances to suppliers of property, machinery and
equipment are presented as part of “Other assets and noncurrent accounts receivable” in the consolidated
statements of financial position.
Major spare parts and stand-by equipment items that the Company expects to use over more than one
period and can be used only in connection with an item of property, machinery and equipment are
accounted for as property, machinery and equipment. Depreciation on these major spare parts and stand-by
equipment commence once these have become available for use (i.e., when it is in the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Company).
An item of property, machinery and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, in
the period the item is derecognized.
K) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
Business combinations are accounted using the acquisition method of accounting when control is
transferred to the Parent Company. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at
fair value, as are the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities (that satisfy certain recognition
criteria) acquired. The consideration is allocated to all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
based on their estimated fair values at acquisition date. Intangible assets acquired are identified and
recognized at fair value. Any unallocated portion of the consideration transferred represents goodwill, which
is not amortized and is subject to periodic impairment tests (see Note 3L). Goodwill can be adjusted for any
correction to the preliminary assessment given to the assets acquired and/or liabilities assumed within the
twelve-month period after purchase. Costs associated with the acquisition are expensed in profit or loss as
incurred.
For business combination transactions among entities under common control, the Company applies the
provisions of the Philippine Interpretations Committee Questions and Answers No. 2011-02, Common
Control Business Combinations, in assessing whether a transaction has commercial substance and qualifies
for acquisition method of accounting under PFRS 3.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination from the acquisition date is allocated to each of the Company’s
cash-generating units (CGUs), or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether the assets or liabilities of the Company are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated:
▪

represents the lowest level within the Company at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes; and
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▪

is not larger than a segment based on the Company’s operating segments as determined in accordance
with PFRS 8, Operating Segments.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment loss. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired (see Note 3L).
Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained.
L)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Property, Machinery and Equipment and Investment in an Associate
Property, machinery and equipment and investment in an associate are tested for impairment upon the
occurrence of factors, such as a significant adverse event, changes in the Company’s operating
environment, changes in projected use or in technology, as well as expectations of lower operating results
for each CGU, in order to determine whether their carrying amounts may not be recovered, in which case an
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period when such determination is made within
“Other expenses - net” account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
The impairment loss of an asset results from the excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable
amount, corresponding to the higher between the fair value of the asset, less costs of disposal, and its
value-in-use, the latter represented by the net present value of estimated cash flows related to the use or
disposal of the asset.
Significant judgment by management is required to appropriately assess the fair values and value-in-use of
these assets. The main assumptions utilized to develop these estimates are a discount rate that reflects the
risk of the cash flows associated with the assets evaluated and the estimations of generation of future
income. Those assumptions are evaluated for reasonableness by comparing such discount rates to market
information available and by comparing to third-party expectations of industry growth, such as governmental
agencies or industry chambers of commerce.
A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increased amount cannot
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. After such a reversal, the depreciation expense is adjusted in future
years to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its
remaining useful life.
Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment when needed due to significant adverse changes or at least once a year
by determining the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs to which goodwill was allocated, which
consists of the higher between the CGU´s fair value, and their value-in-use, represented by the discounted
amount of estimated future cash flows to be generated by such CGUs to which those net assets relate. The
Company determines discounted cash flows over a 5-year period. If the value-in-use of any CGU is lower
than their respective carrying amount, the Company determines the fair value of its CGUs using a
methodology widely accepted in the market to determine the value of entities, such as multiples of Operating
Earnings Before Income Tax, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) and by reference to other market
transactions, among others. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss within “Other expenses - net”
account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, if the recoverable amount is lower than
the carrying amount of the group of CGUs to which goodwill was allocated. Impairment charges recognized
on goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.
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Impairment tests are significantly sensitive, among other factors, to the estimation of future prices of the
Company’s products, the development of operating expenses, economic trends in the relevant construction
industry, the long-term growth expectations in the market, as well as to the discount rate and the growth rate
in perpetuity applied. For purposes of estimating future prices, the Company uses, to the extent available,
historical data plus the expected increase or decrease according to information issued by trusted external
sources and/or governmental economic expectations. Operating expenses are normally measured as a
constant proportion of revenues, following past experience. However, such operating expenses are also
reviewed considering external information sources in respect to inputs that behave according to international
prices, such as gas and oil.
The Company uses pre-tax discount rates which are applied to discount pre-tax cash flows. The amounts of
estimated undiscounted cash flows are significantly sensitive to the growth rate in perpetuity applied.
Likewise, the amounts of discounted estimated future cash flows are significantly sensitive to the weighted
average cost of capital (discount rate) applied. The higher the growth rate in perpetuity applied, the higher
the amount obtained of undiscounted future cash flows by CGU. Conversely, the higher the discount rate
applied, the lower the amount obtained of discounted estimated future cash flows by CGU.
M) PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company recognizes provisions when it has a legal or constructive obligation resulting from past
events, whose resolution would imply probable and reliably measurable cash outflows or delivery of other
resources owned by the Company. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect
the current best estimate. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as a borrowing cost.
Restructuring
The Company recognizes provisions for restructuring costs only when the restructuring plans have been
properly finalized and authorized by management, and have been communicated to the third parties
involved and/or affected by the restructuring prior to the reporting date. These provisions may include
costs not associated with the Company’s ongoing activities.
Asset Retirement Obligations
Unavoidable obligations, legal or constructive, to restore operating sites upon retirement of long -lived
assets at the end of their useful lives are measured at the net present value of estimated future cash
flows to be incurred in the restoration process, and are initially recognized against the related assets’
carrying amount. The increase in the assets’ carrying amount is depreciated during its remaining useful
life. The increase in the liability related to the passage of time is charged to profit or loss. Adjustments
to the liability for changes in estimations are recognized against the related property, machinery and
equipment and depreciation is modified prospectively. Once the related asset is fully depreciated over
its useful life, all subsequent changes in the liability shall be recognized in profit or loss as they occur.
These liabilities relate mainly to the future costs of demolition, cleaning and rehabilitation and vacating from,
under certain conditions, production or operating sites, including maritime terminals.
Costs Related to Remediation of the Environment
Provisions associated with environmental damage represent the estimated future cost of remediation, which
are recognized at their nominal value when the time schedule for the disbursement is not clear, or when the
economic effect for the passage of time is not significant; otherwise, such provisions are recognized at their
discounted values. Reimbursements from insurance companies are recognized as assets only when their
recovery is virtually certain. In that case, such reimbursement assets are not offset against the provision for
remediation costs.

The Company operates through its major operating subsidiaries, Solid and APO, which represents the
Company’s groups of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated for purposes of testing goodwill for
impairment and represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.
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Commitments and Contingencies

Transportation Allowance

Obligations or losses related to contingencies are recognized as liabilities in the consolidated statements
of financial position when present obligations exist resulting from past events that are expected to result
in an outflow of resources and the amount can be measured reliably. Otherwise, a qualitative disclosure
is included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits is remote. The effects of long-term commitments established
with third parties, such as supply contracts with suppliers or customers, are recognized in the
consolidated financial statements on an incurred or accrued basis, after taking into consideration the
substance of the agreements. Relevant commitments are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The Company does not recognize contingent revenues, income or assets.

The Company grants transportation allowance to “entitled executives” for the purpose of purchasing a motor
vehicle and to cover other transportation-related expenses such as, but not limited to, maintenance cost,
gasoline, registration expenses and insurance premiums on motor vehicle for a period of five (5) years from
the date of grant. The amount paid to executives in respect of the Company’s transportation allowances is
recorded as an asset carried at cost (the current portion is part of “Prepayments and other current assets”
account, while the noncurrent portion is part of “Other assets and noncurrent accounts receivable” account
in the consolidated statements of financial position) and subsequently amortized as an expense over the
term of the contract.

N) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Company applies the guidance of PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, for its fair value measurements
of financial assets and financial liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value. Under PFRS 13, fair value
represents an “Exit Price,” which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, considering the
counterparty’s credit risk in the valuation. The concept of exit value is premised on the existence of a market
and market participants for the specific asset or liability. When there is no market and/or market participants
willing to make a market, PFRS 13 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement), secondly, to inputs other than
quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
(Level 2 measurement), and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3 measurement). The Company recognizes transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end
of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.
O) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Pursuant to PAS 19, Employee Benefits, the Company recognizes the costs associated with employees’
defined benefit pension plans as services are rendered, based on actuarial estimations of the benefits’
present value with the advice of external actuaries. The actuarial assumptions consider the use of nominal
rates.
The service cost, corresponding to the increase in the obligation for additional benefits earned by employees
during the period, is recognized as part of “Costs of sales and services” and “Operating Expenses”. The
interest cost related to the increase in the liability by the passage of time is recognized in profit or loss within
“Other financial expenses - net” account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
The effects from modifications to the pension plans that affect the cost of past services are recognized as
part of “Costs of sales and services” and “Operating Expenses” accounts in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the period in which such modifications occur or when any related
restructuring or termination benefits are recognized, if earlier. Likewise, the effects from curtailments and/or
settlements of obligations occurred during the period, associated with events that significantly reduce the
cost of future services and/or reduce significantly the population subject to pension benefits, respectively,
are recognized as part of “Costs of sales and services” and “Operating Expenses” accounts in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
Remeasurements such as the return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability, and actuarial gains and losses, related to differences between the previous actuarial
assumptions and actual occurrences, and changes in actuarial assumptions at the end of the period, are
recognized in the period in which they are incurred as part of OCI for the period within equity. Termination
benefits, not associated with a restructuring event, which mainly represent severance payments by law, are
recognized in profit or loss for the period in which they are incurred.
Short-term Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for
the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present, legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in exchange for the termination of an employee’s
employment as a result of either an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the
normal retirement date or an employee’s decision to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the
termination of employment.
A liability and expense for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the entity recognizes related restructuring costs. Initial
recognition and subsequent changes to termination benefits are measured in accordance with the nature of
the employment benefit, as either post-employment benefits, short-term employee benefits, or other longterm employee benefits.
P)

BORROWING COSTS

Interest and other finance costs incurred on borrowings used to finance property development are
capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset. The
capitalization of borrowing costs: (a) commences when the activities to prepare the assets are in progress
and expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred; (b) is suspended during extended periods in which
active development, improvement and construction of the assets are interrupted; and (c) ceases when
substantially all activities necessary to prepare the assets are completed. These costs are amortized using
the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related property, machinery and equipment to
which it is capitalized. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Other
borrowing costs are generally expensed in the period in which these are incurred.
Q) TAXES
Income Taxes
Based on PAS 12, the effects reflected in profit or loss for income taxes include the amounts payable or
recoverable in respect of taxable profit or loss during the period and the amounts of deferred income taxes
pertaining to amounts payable or recoverable in future periods, determined according to the income tax law
applicable to each entity. Consolidated deferred income taxes represent the addition of the amounts
determined in each legal entity by applying the enacted statutory income tax rate to the total temporary
differences resulting from comparing the book and taxable amounts of assets and liabilities, considering tax
loss carryforwards as well as other recoverable taxes and tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred income taxes for the
period represent the difference between balances of deferred income taxes at the beginning and the end of
the period. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities relating to different tax jurisdictions are not offset.
Pursuant to PFRSs, all items charged or credited directly in equity or as part of OCI for the period are
recognized net of their current and deferred income tax effects. The effect of a change in enacted statutory
tax rates is recognized in the period in which the change is officially enacted.
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefits of
unused tax credits from unused excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate
income tax (RCIT) and unused NOLCO, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward benefits of unused tax
credits from excess MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized except:
▪

where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor future taxable profit or loss; and
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▪

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business
plans for individual subsidiaries in the Company. Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and reduced to the extent that it is not considered probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. In
conducting such assessment, the Company analyzes the aggregate amount of self-determined tax loss
carryforwards included in its income tax returns in each country where the Company believes, based on
available evidence, that the tax authorities would not reject; and the likelihood of the recoverability of such tax
loss carryforwards prior to their expiration through an analysis of estimated future taxable income. If the
Company believes that it would not be able to use a tax loss carryforward before its expiration or any other
deferred income tax asset, the Company will not recognize such deferred income tax assets.
Both situations would result in additional income tax expense for the period in which such determination is
made. In order to determine whether it is probable that deferred income tax assets will ultimately be
realized, the Company takes into consideration all available positive and negative evidence, including
factors such as market conditions, industry analysis, expansion plans, projected taxable income,
carryforward periods, current tax structure, potential changes or adjustments in tax structure, tax planning
strategies, future reversals of existing temporary differences, etc. Likewise, every reporting period, the
Company analyzes its actual results versus the Company’s estimates, and adjusts its estimations as
necessary. If actual results vary from the Company’s estimates, the deferred income tax asset may be
affected and necessary adjustments will be made based on relevant information. Any adjustments recorded
will affect the Company’s profit or loss in such period.
Excess income tax payments are recognized as “Prepaid taxes” under “Prepayments and other current
assets” account in the consolidated statements of financial position and are carried at cost.
The income tax effects from an uncertain tax position are recognized when it is highly probable that the
position will be sustained based on its technical merits and assuming that the tax authorities will examine
each position and have full knowledge of all relevant information, and they are measured using a cumulative
probability model. The amount to be provided for uncertain tax positions is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid. Each position has been considered on its own, regardless of its relation to any
other broader tax settlement. The high probability threshold represents a positive assertion by management
that the Company is entitled to the economic benefits of a tax position. If a tax position is considered to
have low probability to be sustained, no benefits of the position are recognized.
Value-added Tax (VAT)

▪

where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as a
part of the expense item as applicable; and
receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of
“Prepayments and other current assets” or “Unearned revenue, other accounts payable and accrued
expenses” accounts, respectively, in the consolidated statements of financial position.
R) STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital
Common stock is classified as equity. Common stock is recognized as issued when the stock is paid for or
subscribed under a binding subscription agreement, net of any subscription receivable, and is measured at
par value. The transaction costs incurred as a necessary part of completing an equity transaction are
accounted for as a part of that transaction and are deducted from equity, net of related tax benefits.
Considerations received in excess of the par value of shares issued are recognized in “Additional paid-in
capital” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
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Other Equity Reserves
Represent the horizontal sum of each consolidated entity’s cumulative effects of items and transactions that
are, temporarily or permanently, recognized directly to equity, and includes the elements presented in the
OCI for the period, which includes certain changes in stockholders’ equity during a period not resulting from
investments by owners and distributions to owners. As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the “Other equity
reserves” account in the consolidated statements of financial position represents the share-based
compensation, remeasurements on retirement benefit liability, changes in fair value of the derivative
instrument in an effective cash flow hedge and cumulative currency translation of foreign subsidiaries.
Retained Earnings
Represent the horizontal sum of each consolidated entity’s cumulative results of prior accounting periods,
net of dividends declared to stockholders.
S)

EXECUTIVE STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Certain executives of the Company receive compensation under CEMEX’s Long-Term Incentive Program
using CPOs. Pursuant to the guidance of PFRS 2, stock awards based on the ultimate parent company’s
shares granted to the Company’s executives are treated as equity instruments, considering that services
received from employees are settled by delivering such CEMEX’s shares. The cost of equity instruments
represents the estimated fair value at the date of grant and is recognized in profit or loss during the period in
which the exercise rights of the employees become vested against other equity reserves.
T)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company’s consolidated revenue represents the value of products sold by consolidated entities, net of
VAT on sales, as a result of their ordinary activities, after the elimination of transactions between
consolidated entities, and is quantified at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable granted to
customers. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when goods are delivered to customers, there is
no condition or uncertainty implying a reversal thereof, and they have assumed the risk of loss.
Revenue associated with construction contracts is recognized in the period in which the work is performed
by using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting and is measured principally on the basis of the
estimated completion of the contract work, considering that the following have been defined: a) each party’s
enforceable rights regarding the asset to be constructed; b) the consideration to be exchanged; c) the
manner and terms of settlement; d) actual costs incurred and contract costs required to complete the asset
which are effectively controlled; and e) the probability that the economic benefits associated with the
contract will flow to the Company. Interest income is recognized as it accrues, taking into account the
effective yield on the asset.
Customer Loyalty Programme

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except:
▪

(Amounts in Thousands of Philippine Peso, Except Number of Shares and Per Share Data)

The Company has a customer loyalty programme whereby customers are awarded credits known as
“Points” entitling customers to redeem Company’s products at a certain accumulated number of Points
varying on the date of redemption. The Company grants Points to a customer as part of the sales
transaction and subject to condition set-out in the programme. The fair value of the consideration received
or receivable in respect of the initial sale is allocated between the Points and the other components of the
sale. The amount allocated to the Points, granted through the customer loyalty programme, is measured by
reference to the fair value of the Company’s products for which they could be redeemed. The fair value of
the right to acquire Company’s products for free for which the loyalty credits can be redeemed takes into
account the selling price of the Company’s products to the customers that have not earned the loyalty
credits and the expected forfeiture rate. Such amount is deferred, and is recognized as revenue when the
Points are redeemed and the Company has fulfilled its obligations to supply Company’s products. The
amount of revenue recognized in those circumstances is based on the number of Points that have been
redeemed in exchange for Company’s products, relative to the total number of Points that is expected to be
redeemed. Unearned revenue is also reversed and recognized as revenue when it is no longer considered
probable that the Points will be redeemed.
U) INSURANCE CONTRACTS
An insurance contract is an agreement whereby one party, called the insurer, undertakes for a consideration
paid by the other party, called the insured, promises to pay money, or its equivalent or to do some act
valuable to the latter, upon happening of a loss, liability or disability arising from an unknown or contingent
event.
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Premiums from insurance contracts are recognized as revenue over the period of the contracts. The portion
of the premiums written that relate to the unexpired periods of the policies at each reporting date is
accounted for as “Unearned revenue” and is presented under current liabilities section of the consolidated
statements of financial position. The net changes in this account between reporting dates are credited to or
charged against profit or loss. Insurance revenue is presented as an offset to insurance expense in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Y) EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Benefits and Claims

NOTE 4 - SEGMENT INFORMATION

Benefits and claims consist of all costs incurred during the year, which are recognized when the Company
receives notification from policyholders. Estimates have to be made as at the reporting date both for the
expected ultimate cost of claims reported and for the expected ultimate cost of the claims incurred but not
yet reported (IBNR). The primary technique adopted by management in estimating the cost of notified and
IBNR claims is that of using past claim settlement trends to project future claims settlement trends. At each
reporting date, prior year claims estimates are reassessed for adequacy and changes made are charged to
profit or loss against insurance liability. Claims provisions are not discounted for the time value of money.

The Company applies PFRS 8 for the disclosure of its operating segments, which are defined as the
components of an entity that engage in business activities from which they may earn revenues and incur
expenses; whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s top management to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their performance; and for which
discrete financial information is available. The Company’s main activity is oriented to the construction
industry through the production, distribution, marketing and sale of cement, ready-mix concrete and other
construction materials. For the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the cement sector represented
approximately 84.50% and 85.88%, respectively, of total net revenues before eliminations resulting from
consolidation, and 134.26% and 109.60%, respectively, of Operating EBITDA.

COSTS OF SALES AND SERVICES, ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES AND
DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

V)

Cost of sales represents the production cost of goods sold. Such cost of sales includes power and fuel, raw
materials and supplies, personnel expenses, depreciation of property, machinery and equipment involved in
production, as well as freight expenses of raw material in plants and delivery expenses of the Company’s
ready-mix concrete business. Cost of sales excludes expenses related to personnel, equipment and
services involved in sale activities and storage of product at points of sales and costs related to warehousing
of products at the selling points, which are included as part of administrative and selling expenses, as well
as freight expenses of finished products between plants and points of sale and freight expenses between
points of sales and the customers’ facilities, which are included as part of the distribution expenses line item
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Cost of construction contracts are recognized
when incurred.
W) LEASES
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is, based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date, and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. A
reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:
a)
b)
c)
d)

There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was
initially included in the lease term;
There is a change in determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or
There is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change
in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at the date of
renewal or extension period for scenario (b). Lease which do not transfer to the Company substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease
payments are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
X)

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Pursuant to PAS 33, Earnings Per Share, basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing profit or
loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity (the numerator) by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding (the denominator) during the period. Shares that would be issued depending
only on the passage of time should be included in the determination of the basic weighted average number
of shares outstanding. Diluted earnings (loss) per share should reflect in both, the numerator and
denominator, the assumption that convertible instruments are converted, that options or warrants are
exercised, or that ordinary shares are issued upon the satisfaction of specified conditions, to the extent that
such assumption would lead to a reduction in basic earnings per share or an increase in basic loss per
share, otherwise, the effects of potential shares are not considered because they generate anti-dilution.
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Post year-end events, up to the approval of the consolidated financial statements by the BOD, that provide
additional information about the Company’s consolidated financial position at the reporting date (adjusting
events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting
events are disclosed on the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.

The main indicator used by the Company’s management to evaluate performance is “Operating EBITDA”,
representing operating earnings before other expenses - net, interest, tax, depreciation and amortization,
considering that such amount represents a relevant measure for the Company’s management as an
indicator of the ability to internally fund capital expenditures, as well as a widely accepted financial indicator
to measure the Company’s ability to service or incur debt. Operating EBITDA should not be considered as
an indicator of the Company’s financial performance, as an alternative to cash flow, as a measure of
liquidity, or as being comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.
NOTE 5 - DEPRECIATION
Depreciation charges for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the period from
September 17 to December 31, 2015 are detailed as follows:
2017
2016
Depreciation expense related to assets used in the
production process .................................................................................
P
1,145,032
1,128,248
Depreciation expense related to assets used in
administrative and selling activities .............................................................................................
124,201
93,024
P
1,269,233
1,221,272

2015
–
–
–

NOTE 6 - COSTS AND EXPENSES
Costs of sales and services, administrative and selling expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016 and for the period from September 17 to December 31, 2015 are detailed as follows:
Costs of Sales and Services
2017
2016
2015
–
Power, fuels, raw materials and production supplies ............................................................
P
8,298,147
7,744,997
–
Depreciation and depletion ....................................................................
1,145,032
1,128,248
–
Cement and concrete purchases ..........................................................................................
710,481
786,859
–
Repairs and maintenance ......................................................................
549,769
671,819
–
Outside services ....................................................................................
545,245
503,230
–
Salaries and wages 1 .............................................................................
466,936
454,948
–
Rental ....................................................................................................
349,512
358,963
–
Others 2 ..................................................................................................
335,779
236,819
–
P
12,400,901 11,885,883
1
2

Includes retirement benefit expense amounting to P39,192, P41,390 and nil in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 22).
Others pertain to insurance expense, taxes and licenses, transportation and communication expenses and other costs that are
individually immaterial.
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Administrative Expenses
2
2015
Administrative
Expenses
2017
2016
Selling
Expenses
4,373
Administrative fees ................................................................................................................
P
625,833
671,490
Administrative
Expenses
–
Salaries and wages 1 ............................................................................................................
434,081
212,977
–
Insurance ..............................................................................................................................
143,506
695,506
–
Travel expenses....................................................................................................................
40,397
50,443
–
Depreciation ..........................................................................................................................
33,019
61,679
–
Rental ...................................................................................................................................
31,626
28,810
–
Utilities and supplies .............................................................................................................
30,208
37,814
3
Taxes and licenses ...............................................................................................................
8,542
12,425
39
Others ...................................................................................................................................
4,227
41,921
4,415
P
1,351,439
1,813,065
1

Includes retirement benefit expense amounting to P44,832, P33,433 and nil in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 22).

2

As restated (see Note 30).

Selling Expenses
2016
2017
License fees ..........................................................................................................................
P
827,829
942,985
Administrative
Expenses
Administrative fees ...............................................................................................................
252,756
180,588
Salaries and wages ...............................................................................................................
156,814
150,204
Advertising and travel ...........................................................................................................
137,865
157,461
Depreciation ..........................................................................................................................
91,182
31,345
Rental ...................................................................................................................................
79,797
51,791
Utilities and supplies .............................................................................................................
71,454
62,562
Taxes and licenses ...............................................................................................................
38,582
39,553
Impairment losses on receivables (Note 12) .........................................................................
26,403
10,615
Insurance ..............................................................................................................................
10,608
2,790
Others ...................................................................................................................................
34,620
50,635
P
1,727,910
1,680,529

2015
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

NOTE 9 - OTHER EXPENSES - Net
Net other expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the period from
September 17 to December 31, 2015 are detailed as follows:
2017
2016
Impairment loss on property, machinery and
P
175,230
–
equipment1...........................................................................................................................
–
Reorganization expenses2 ....................................................................................................
139,409
–
Loss from early extinguishment of debt3 ...............................................................................
64,603
24,263
Loss on disposal of property, machinery and equipment ......................................................
4,602
Freight on disposal of property, machinery and
–
1,086
equipment ............................................................................................................................
–
Back office and other support service4 ..................................................................................
(136,647)
(11,399)
Gain on sale of scraps ..........................................................................................................
(20,625)
–
Costs related to listing of shares5..........................................................................................
287,930
Others ...................................................................................................................................
(1,479)
18,989
P
226,179
319,783

NOTE 8 - REVENUE
Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the period from September 17 to
December 31, 2015 are detailed as follows:
2017
2016
Sale of goods
Cement ..........................................................................................................................
P 21,571,211
23,893,481
Ready-mix concrete .......................................................................................................
175,711
333,041
Admixtures .....................................................................................................................
16,824
13,516
21,763,746
24,240,038
Construction services ............................................................................................................
20,704
46,715
P 21,784,450
24,286,753

2015
–
–
–
–
–
–

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
Reorganization costs consist of severance and other post-termination benefit costs resulting from the cost reduction efforts of the
Company.
3 Unamortized portion of documentary stamp tax arising from the Parent Company’s loan with New Sunward Holding B.V., an entity under
common control of CEMEX, written-off due to early settlement (see Note 13).
4 Income generated by Solid for the back office and other support service provided to related parties (see Note 13).
5 Costs related to the listing of shares include legal fees, stock exchange listing fees, roadshow presentation, among others.

NOTE 10 - OTHER FINANCIAL EXPENSES - Net
Net other financial expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the period from
September 17 to December 31, 2015 are detailed as follows:
2017
2016
Interest expense on retirement benefit plan (Note 22) ..........................................................
P
40,132
29,964
Bank charges ........................................................................................................................
3,606
36,485
Interest income .....................................................................................................................
(6,892)
(33,715)
P
36,846
32,734
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2015
–
–
–
–

NOTE 11 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31 consisted of:
2017
2016
Cash on hand and in banks ............................................................................................................
P
629,089
579,622
Short-term investments ...................................................................................................................
429,178
757,533
P
1,058,267
1,337,155
Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates. Short-term investments are made for
varying periods of up to three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Company, and
earn interest ranging from 0.6% to 1.3% and 0.6% to 1.0% in 2017 and 2016, respectively. In 2017, 2016
and 2015, interest income amounted to P3,034, P28,778 and nil, respectively.
As mentioned in Note 3E, as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the following cash equivalents, which include
deposits to a related party, are considered highly liquid investments readily convertible to cash:
2017
2016
P
New Sunward Holding B.V. 1 (Note 13) .............................................................................................
380,178
52,543
49,000
Local banks .......................................................................................................................................
704,990
P
429,178
757,533
1

26

–
–
–
–
–

2

Distribution expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the period from September
17 to December 31, 2015 are detailed as follows:
2015
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

1

NOTE 7 - DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

2017
2016
Trucks, barge and charter hire ..............................................................................................
P
3,311,631
3,065,909
Fuel for vessel.......................................................................................................................
498,273
366,850
Handling expenses ...............................................................................................................
418,259
428,530
Harbor services .....................................................................................................................
74,880
95,465
Others ...................................................................................................................................
14,590
4,882
P
4,317,633
3,961,636

2015

The investment are due on demand and bear interest at a rate equivalent to the higher of Western Asset Institutional Liquid Reserves Fund
(WAILRF) rate minus 10 basis points and zero interest.
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The Company´s exposures to credit risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk related to cash and
cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Receivables - current
2017
Ultimate Parent
CEMEX 1 ............................................................................................................................
P
–
Other related parties20
CEMEX Paving Solutions Ltd. 2 .........................................................................................
13,682
CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V. 3 .........................................................................................
6,404
Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation 4 .....................................................................
4,720
APO Land & Quarry Corporation 5 .....................................................................................
1,450
CRG 6 ................................................................................................................................
–
CEMEX Concrete (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd 7 ............................................................................
–
Others 8 ..............................................................................................................................
130
P
26,386

NOTE 12 - TRADE RECEIVABLES - Net
Trade receivables as at December 31 consisted of:
2017
2016
Trade receivables - gross ................................................................................................................
P
869,357
920,282
(10,615)
Allowance for impairment losses .....................................................................................................
(36,098)
(3,918)
P
833,259
909,667
Allowances for impairment losses are established according to the credit history and risk profile of each
customer. Changes in the allowance for impairment losses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016 are as follows:
2017
Allowances for impairment losses at beginning of period .................................................................
P
10,615
Charged to selling expenses (Note 6)................................................................................................
26,403
Write-off of trade receivables .............................................................................................................
(920)
Allowances for impairment losses at end of period ...........................................................................
P
36,098

Payables - current
Ultimate Parent
CEMEX 1 ............................................................................................................................
P
6,864
Other related parties 20
Transenergy, Inc. 9 .............................................................................................................
1,066,157
CEMEX Construction Materials South LLC10 ......................................................................
567,135
CEMEX Asia B.V. 18 ............................................................................................................
215,224
CRG 6..................................................................................................................................
210,045
CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V. 3 .........................................................................................
114,666
Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation 12.....................................................................
36,633
APO Land & Quarry Corporation 11 ....................................................................................
28,909
Beijing CXP Import & Export Co. 13 .....................................................................................
10,050
CEMEX Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 14 ........................................................................................
9,413
CEMEX Asia Pte., Ltd. - Philippine Headquarters (CAPL-PHQ) 15 .....................................
8,308
CEMEX Strategic Philippines, Inc. 16 ..................................................................................
–
CEMEX Admixtures GmbH 17 .............................................................................................
–
P
2,273,404

2016
–
10,615
–
10,615

The Company’s exposure to credit risk related to trade receivables is disclosed in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
NOTE 13 - BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Related party relationship exists when the other party (i) has control or joint control of the reporting entity;
(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or (iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity. A related party relationship is deemed to exist
when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making the financial and/or operating decisions.
Another criteria recognizes a related party relationship, whether or not the ability to control exists, if any of
the following conditions applies to an entity: (i) the entity and the reporting entity are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others), (ii) one entity
is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member), (iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party, (iv) one entity
is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity, or (v) the entity is a
post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an entity related to
the reporting entity (If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the reporting entity).
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, balances of related party receivables and payables which are generally
expected to be settled in cash, are detailed as follows:
Short-term investments
2017
Other related party20
New Sunward Holding B.V. (Note 11).................................................................................
P
380,178
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2016
52,543

2016
10,326
–
–
197,904
3,513
2,306
1,084
82
215,215

–
533,517
573,836
426
6,940
–
221,396
28,723
662
–
105,381
10,950
265
1,482,096

Payables - non-current
Other related parties20
2017
2016
CEMEX Asia B.V. 18 ....................................................................................................................
P
1,073,635
1,361,862
New Sunward Holding B.V. 19 .....................................................................................................
–
14,557,460
P
1,073,635
15,919,322
1

The receivable balance as at December 31, 2016, which is unimpaired, unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand, pertains to
receivables on diesel hedge.
The payable balance as at December 31, 2017 is payable in 30 days after receipt of invoice and is unsecured and noninterest-bearing.
On January 1, 2016, CAR entered into an agreement with CEMEX for the right to use of its “marks” and to further license the “marks” with
other CEMEX group companies operating in the Asia territory.
2
The balance, which is unimpaired, unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand, pertains to the sale of paving equipment of the
Company.
3
The receivable balance, which is unimpaired, unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand, pertains to reimbursement of fringe
benefit tax on share-based compensation.
The payable balance, which is unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand, pertains to business support services received by the
Company. In 2009, Solid and APO entered into separate service agreements with CEMEX Asia Pte., Ltd., whereby the latter through
CAPL-PHQ shall provide to Solid and APO services relating to, among others, general administration and planning; business planning
and coordination; marketing control and; sales promotion and business development. In the implementation of these service agreements,
CAPL-PHQ also arranged for certain services to be performed by CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V. and accordingly, CAPL-PHQ collected
from each of Solid and APO as reimbursement, the fees billed by CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V. for services rendered. In 2017, the
arrangement between CAPL-PHQ and CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V. was changed resulting in Solid and APO entering into separate
service agreements directly with CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V. wherein the latter shall provide to the companies those particular services
previously performed by CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V. through the service agreements with CAPL-PHQ.
4
The balance, which is unimpaired, unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand includes: a) advances related to purchase of raw
materials amounting to P180,723 as at December 31, 2016; b) receivables arising from the sale of goods with a 30-day term and without
interest amounting to P2,272 and P9,821 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; c) receivables from service agreements
amounting to P2,299 and P4,174 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; d) project income amounting to P1,989 as at
December 31, 2016; and e) others amounting to P149 and P1,197 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. In 2016, Solid
entered into an agreement with Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation wherein the former shall provide back-office and other support
services to the latter. Fees are calculated at cost incurred plus fixed mark-up.
5
In 2016, each of Solid and APO entered into an agreement with APO Land & Quarry Corporation wherein Solid and APO shall provide
back-office and other support services to the latter. The balance, which is unimpaired, unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on
demand includes a) receivables from service agreement amounting to P1,446 and P3,492 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively; and b) others amounting to P4 and P21 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
6
The balance pertains to the royalties/license fees of the Company, which is unimpaired, unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on
demand.
7
The balance, which is unimpaired, unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand, pertains to receivables arising from billed
expenses.
8
The balance pertains to reimbursable expenses, which is unimpaired, unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand.
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The balance pertains to purchase of coal with a term of 30 days, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
The balance, which is unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand, pertains to the purchase of equipment for the expansion of
Solid plant.
11
The balance includes a) purchase of raw materials with a 30-day term amounting to P28,774 and P27,716 as at December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively; and b) advances amounting P135 and P1,007 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These transactions
are unsecured and are noninterest-bearing. APO purchases the majority of its limestone, pozzolan and clay requirements from APO Land
& Quarry Corporation pursuant to a long-term supply agreement.
12
The balance includes a) unsecured payable arising from purchase of raw materials with a 30-day term and noninterest-bearing amounting
to P29,063 and P221,373 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; b) unsecured payable arising from land rental with a 30-day
term and noninterest-bearing amounting to P4 as at December 31, 2016; c) rental of equipment amounting to P7,570 as at
December 31, 2017, which is unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand; and d) other non-trade payables amounting to P19 as
at December 31, 2016, which are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand. Solid purchases the majority of its limestone,
pozzolan and clay requirements from Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation pursuant to a long-term supply agreement.
13
The balance pertains to purchase of materials and spare parts amounting to P10,050 and P662 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, which are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand.
14
The balance, which is unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand, pertains to purchase of equipment from CEMEX Mexico, S.A.
de C.V.
15
The balance, which is unsecured, noninterest-bearing, and has a term of 30 days, includes corporate and administrative services
received by the Company.
16
The balance, which is unsecured, noninterest-bearing, and has a term of 30 days, includes corporate and administrative services
received by the Company.
17
The balance, which is unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due on demand, pertains to purchases of materials and spare parts.
18
The balance includes a) interest on short-term loan amounting to P525 and P426 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; b)
short term portion of loan amounting to P214,699 as at December 31, 2017; and c) long-term loan that bears interest at an annual rate
equal to 6-month LIBOR plus 369 basis points and 450 basis points in 2017 and 2016, respectively, for Solid and fixed interest rate at
7.68% for APO. On September 1, 2017, APO and CEMEX Asia B.V. changed the currency of the loan from $21.0 million to P1.1 billion.
The loan is unsecured and is due to be paid in 2018 and 2019 for Solid and APO, respectively.
19
The balance pertains to interest-bearing long-term loan payable. The loan bears interest of 7.535% per annum and payable in four annual
installments starting March 2020 until March 2023. However, the Company fully paid the loan during the 1st quarter of 2017.
20
Other related parties pertain to entities under common control of CEMEX, except for Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation and APO
Land & Quarry Corporation.

2017
2016
2015
Interest expense
New Sunward Holding B.V.
Long-term 1 ....................................................................................................................
P
149,945
861,318
–
Short-term 8 ...................................................................................................................
–
271,044
–
CEMEX Asia B.V. 1 ............................................................................................................
102,882
32,976
–
P
252,827
1,165,338
–

9

10

The reconciliation of opening and closing balances of long-term related party payables follows:
Amount
Balance as at January 1, 2017......................................................................................................
P
15,919,322
Proceeds from drawdowns............................................................................................................ 849,900
Interest expense ........................................................................................................................... 252,827
Loss from early extinguishment of debt (Note 9)........................................................................... 64,603
Effect of exchange rate changes................................................................................................... 44,713
Payments of:
Principal .....................................................................................................................................
(15,458,475)
Interest ....................................................................................................................................... (384,031)
Balance as at December 31, 2017 ................................................................................................
P
1,288,859
The main transactions entered by the Company with related parties for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the period from September 17 to December 31, 2015 are shown
below:
Transaction with ultimate parent

2017
2016
Hedging transaction
CEMEX 2 ................................................................................................................................
P
–
12,016

2015
–

Transactions with other related parties10
Purchases of raw materials
Transenergy, Inc.1........................................................................................................................
P
2,709,300
1,853,913
Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation 1 ........................................................................
306,812
303,383
APO Land & Quarry Corporation 1 .......................................................................................
253,483
312,103
Beijing CXP Import & Export Co. 1 .......................................................................................
29,848
2,517
CEMEX Admixtures GmbH 1 ...............................................................................................
–
265
P
3,299,443
2,472,181
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–
–
–
–
–
–

2017
2016
2015
Royalties and trademarks
CRG 1 ...............................................................................................................................
P
797,320
908,074
–
CEMEX 1 ..........................................................................................................................
30,509
34,911
–
P
827,829
942,985
–
Purchase of equipment
CEMEX Construction Materials South LLC 1 ....................................................................
P
27,420
573,836
CEMEX Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 1 ...........................................................................................
9,413
–
P
36,833
573,836

–
–
–

Corporate services and administrative services
CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V. 1 ...........................................................................................
P
258,861
–
CAPL-PHQ 1 .....................................................................................................................
145,124
469,121
CEMEX Strategic Philippines, Inc. 1 .....................................................................................
57,346
85,906
Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation 1 ........................................................................
5,708
3,179
APO Land & Quarry Corporation 1 .......................................................................................
5,639
3,032
P
472,678
561,238

–
–
–
–
–
–

Sales of goods
Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation 1 ........................................................................
P
64,832
108,197
APO Land & Quarry Corporation 4 .......................................................................................
115
184
CEMEX Cement Bangladesh Ltd. 4 .....................................................................................
–
4,411
P
64,947
112,792

–
–
–
–

Sale of equipment
CEMEX Paving Solutions Ltd. 1 ...........................................................................................
P
13,682
–

–

Land rental
APO Land & Quarry Corporation 3 .......................................................................................
P
58,210
58,210
Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation 3.......................................................................
24,651
32,929
P
82,861
91,139

–
–
–

Reimbursements
CEMEX Concrete (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd. 9 ..............................................................................
P
136,647
1,084

–

Interest income
New Sunward Holding B.V.7 ...............................................................................................
P
2,913
–
APO Land & Quarry Corporation 5 .......................................................................................
–
435
Others 6 ............................................................................................................................
–
68
P
2,913
503

–
–
–
–

Loan drawdowns
CEMEX Asia B.V. 1 ......................................................................................................................
P
849,900
617,784
New Sunward Holding B.V. 1 ........................................................................................................
– 40,142,910
P
849,900 40,760,694

–
–
–
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2017
2016
2015
Transactions with Key Management Personnel
Short-term employee benefits ......................................................................................................
P
138,788
215,818
–
Post-employment and other long-term employee
benefits .....................................................................................................................................
33,775
47,892
–
Share-based compensation (Note 25D) .......................................................................................
25,171
11,655
–
P
197,734
275,365
–

(Amounts in Thousands of Philippine Peso, Except Number of Shares and Per Share Data)

Balances and transactions between consolidated entities eliminated during consolidation
The following are the transactions and balances among related parties which are eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements:
Amounts owed by
CEMEX Holdings
Philippines, Inc. 10
APO 5
SOLID 5
CEMEX Holdings
Philippines, Inc. 10
Sandstone Strategic
Holdings, Inc. 6
Solid 1
APO11

1

Please refer to the footnotes provided on the outstanding balances of related party receivables and payables.
The Company entered into a commodity swap transaction to hedge its risk exposure on fuel price volatility. The hedge qualifies for
hedge accounting. The commodity swap is a contractual agreement to buy fuel at a fixed price and sell fuel at market rate with notional
quantity of 10,371 liters. As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the fair value of the Company’s derivative asset is nil and P6,805,
respectively.
3
These land rentals have a 30-day term, and are both noninterest-bearing and unsecured. The principal manufacturing installations of
APO and Solid are located on land owned by Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation or APO Land & Quarry Corporation, under
long-term lease agreements.
4
These sale transactions have a 30-day term, and are both noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
5
This amount pertains to the interest from loan drawdowns that bear interest at 4.625% annually. The total outstanding balance, from
which this interest income relates to, including interest accrued, were paid in 2016.
6
This amount pertains to the interest from loan drawdowns that bear interest at fixed rates annually. The total outstanding balances, from
which this interest income relates to, including interest accrued, were paid in 2016.
7
The amount pertains to the interest income on short-term investments (see Note 11).
8
The amount pertains to the interest on short-term loan from New Sunward Holding B.V. which has been fully paid in 2016.
9
The amount pertains to reimbursements for back office and other support service (see Note 9) and other billed expenses.
10
Other related parties pertain to entities under common control of CEMEX, except for Island Quarry and Aggregates Corporation and
APO Land & Quarry Corporation.
2

Solid11
APO 2
Ecocrete, Inc. 3
Ecocast Builders, Inc. 4
CEMEX Holdings
Philippines, Inc. 12
CAR 5
Sandstone Strategic
Holdings, Inc. 6
Ecocast Builders, Inc. 7
Solid 6
Solid 8
APO 8
Ecopavements, Inc. 6
Solid 9

Transactions with the Retirement Fund
The Company established a retirement plan for its qualified employees. The control and administration of
the retirement plan is vested in its Board of Trustees (BOT). The retirement plan’s accounting and
administrative functions are undertaken by the Bank of the Philippine Islands Asset Management Trust
Group (BPI AMTG), the Company’s duly appointed trust fund manager.
The Company’s funding policy is to contribute to the Plan’s fund as required under actuarial principles to
maintain the fund in sound condition. In addition, the Company reserves the right to discontinue, suspend or
change the rate and amount of its contribution to the fund at any time due to business necessity or
economic conditions. The Company has no contributions to the retirement fund in 2017, 2016 and 2015 (see
Note 22). There are also no other transactions entered into by the Company with the plan for the year. As at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the fund’s unfunded status amounted to P761,008 and P769,340,
respectively. The retirement plan consists of unit investment trust fund, mutual funds, debt instruments and
others (cash, exchange traded funds, government securities and others), which accounted for 56%, 34%,
8% and 2% and 63%, 21%, 12% and 4% of plan assets, respectively, in 2017 and 2016 (see Note 22).

1

2

3

4

5
6
7

8
9
10
11
12
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Amounts owed to
CAR

P

CAR
CAR
Falcon
Bedrock Holdings, Inc.
APO
CEMEX Holdings
Philippines, Inc.
CEMEX Holdings
Philippines, Inc.
Solid
Solid
Solid
Solid
Solid
Solid
Ecopavements, Inc.
Ecopavements, Inc.
Ecocast Builders, Inc.
Ecocast Builders, Inc.
Ecocast Builders, Inc.
Ecocrete, Inc.

P

2017

2016

2,590,674
365,166
202,789

1,669,265
16,980
–

2,184,613

1,467,596

109,817
41,005

109,617
189,445

35,765

–

19,335
80,281
43,512
43,178

–
19,942
50,244
49,143

89
–

–
25,555

–
45,206
7
14,865
–
–
11
5,776,313

1,068
40,287
–
14,583
6,802
288
7,114
3,667,929

Amount includes a) P40,994 and P75,007 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, from sale of goods, which has a 30-day
term, noninterest-bearing and unsecured; b) P110,171 loan and interest as at December 31, 2016, which is due on demand, with
interest at 2.4% per annum and unsecured; c) P4,037 as at December 31, 2016 from sale of production supplies, which is due on
demand, noninterest-bearing and unsecured; and d) reimbursable expenses amounting to P11 and P230 as at December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively, which are due on demand, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
Amount includes a) P39,590 and P5,513 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, from sale of goods, which has a 30-day
term, noninterest-bearing and unsecured; and b) reimbursable expenses amounting to P40,691 and P14,429
as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which are due on demand, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
Amount includes a) P622 and P1,628 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, from sale of goods, which has a 30-day
term, noninterest-bearing and unsecured; b) P81 as at December 31, 2017 from reimbursable expenses, which is due on demand,
noninterest-bearing and unsecured; and c) P42,809 and P48,616 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, loan and
interest, which is due in one year, with interest at 3.63% per annum and unsecured.
Amount includes a) P43,178 and P42,569 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, arising from sale of equipment, which
has a 30-day term, noninterest-bearing and unsecured; b) P5,859 from sale of goods and P507 from construction service in 2016,
which has a 30-day term, noninterest-bearing and unsecured; and c) P208 from reimbursable expenses in 2016, which is due on
demand, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
Amounts were related to royalties and trademarks that have 30-day term, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
Amounts are from cash advances or reimbursable expenses, which are due on demand, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
Amount includes a) P45,000 and P40,000 loan as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which is due in one year, with
interest at 2.6% per annum and unsecured; and b) P206 and P287 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, from cash
advances, which is due on demand, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
Amounts pertain to construction services which have 30-day term, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
Amount includes a) reimbursements amounting to P11 as at December 31, 2017; and b) P6,616 from sale of raw materials and
P498 from service fees as at December 31,2016, where both have 30-day term, noninterest-bearing and unsecured.
Amounts pertain to long-term unsecured loans which are due to be paid in 2021, with interest at 2.5% per annum for CAR and at
WAILRF minus 10 basis points annually for Falcon.
Amounts pertain to advisory services in connection with various areas, including general administration and management, which
have a 60-day term, noninterest bearing, and unsecured.
Amounts pertain to a) service agreement of Solid with the Parent Company amounting to P87; and b) reimbursements of P2, which
is noninterest bearing, and unsecured.
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Sales

Purchases

APO

Solid

Solid

APO

Solid

Ecocast Builders, Inc.

Ecocast Builders, Inc.
Ecocrete, Inc.
Ecocast Builders, Inc.

Solid
Solid
APO

Solid

Ecopavements, Inc.

P

P

(Amounts in Thousands of Philippine Peso, Except Number of Shares and Per Share Data)

2017

2016

359,165

853,036

319,545

110,914

3,451

26,344

951
–
–

13,182
36,173
6,128

–
683,112

4,998
1,050,775

Please refer to the footnotes provided on the outstanding balances of related party receivables and payables eliminated during
consolidation.

Royalties and technical
assistance
CAR
CAR

Selling and
administrative expenses
APO
Solid

NOTE 14 - INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE AND OTHER INVESTMENTS
Investment in an associate and other investments as at December 31 are detailed as follows:
Activity Country %
2017
2016
Calabar Aggregates Corporation .....................................................................................................
Aggregates Philippines 40.0 P
11,816
11,816
Greencrete, Inc. ...............................................................................................................................
– Philippines
5.0
3,437
3,437
Others ..............................................................................................................................................
–
–
–
154
20
P
15,407
15,273
The investments above are mainly investments of Solid and APO which were acquired by the Parent
Company upon business combination.
NOTE 15 - OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

P
P

2017
1,769,562
955,371
2,724,933

2016
2,002,129
1,052,348
3,054,477

15A) OTHER CURRENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Other current accounts receivable as at December 31 consisted of:
2017
2016
Loan receivable 1 ............................................................................................................................
P
37,192
36,246
Short-term deposits .........................................................................................................................
16,026
14,873
Receivable from employees ............................................................................................................
11,690
15,968
Receivable from contractors ...........................................................................................................
8,806
9,092
Insurance claims .............................................................................................................................
–
51,022
Others .............................................................................................................................................
902
145
P
74,616
127,346

Please refer to the footnotes provided on the outstanding balances of related party receivables and payables eliminated during
consolidation.

Selling and
administrative expenses
APO
Solid

Service Income
CHP
CHP

P
P

2017
36,495
19,703
56,198

2016
–
–
–

Please refer to the footnotes provided on the outstanding balances of related party receivables and payables eliminated during
consolidation.

Dividend declared by
APO
Triple Dime Holdings, Inc.
APO
Solid
Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc.
Solid
Edgewater Ventures Corporation
Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc.
Bedrock Holdings, Inc.
Triple Dime Holdings, Inc.

Dividend received by
Triple Dime Holdings, Inc.
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc.
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
Bedrock Holdings, Inc.
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
Edgewater Ventures Corporation

P

P

2016
2,451,632
2,421,949
1,634,421
1,297,390
1,219,546
864,926
263,364
77,843
73,008
6,840
10,310,919

There were no dividends declared in 2017.

Interest income
CAR
Falcon
Solid
Ecopavements
APO

Interest expense
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
CEMEX Holdings Philippines, Inc.
Ecocrete, Inc.
Ecocast
Solid

2017
P59,130
20,636
1,224
1,223
110
P82,323

2016
P10,745
1,888
800
175
P13,608

1

Loan receivable pertains to the amount provided by the Company to CEMEX Philippines Foundation, Inc., with fixed interest at 2.96% per
annum and is due on demand.

15B) OTHER ASSETS AND NONCURRENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Other assets and noncurrent accounts receivable as at December 31 consisted of:
2017
Long-term time deposits 1 ................................................................................................................
P
485,476
Rental guaranty deposits .................................................................................................................
122,386
Long-term prepayments 2.................................................................................................................
47,769
Right of way .....................................................................................................................................
26,190
Others3 .............................................................................................................................................
34,879
P
716,700

2016
92,254
112,209
47,558
30,952
37,516
320,489

1

Long-term time deposits are restricted cash pertaining to: a) debt service reserve account amounting to P390,424 and nil as at
December 31 2017 and 2016, respectively, arising from the Company’s supplemental agreement with BDO Unibank, Inc. (BDO) in
relation to refinancing of the U.S. dollar 280 million loan with New Sunward Holding B.V. (see Note 23); and b) cash bonds deposited by
customers as collateral and cash restricted for related party tax cases amounting to P95,052 and P92,254 as at December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively.

2

Long-term prepayments primarily pertain to a) prepaid mining and quarry royalty fees related to the purchase of raw materials amounting
to P27,937 and P24,127 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; b) option fee to purchase a vessel amounting to P7,203 and
P8,820 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, c) charter hire amounting to P3,960 and P5,739 as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and d) unamortized portion of the SEC filing fee amounting to P8,669 and P8,872 as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

3

Others primarily pertain to prepaid transportation allowance amounting to P34,214 and P36,906 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Please refer to the footnotes provided on the outstanding balances of related party receivables and payables eliminated during
consolidation.
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NOTE 16 - INVENTORIES

NOTE 18 - PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT - Net

Inventories as at December 31 consisted of:

The movements for each class of property, machinery and equipment are as follows:

2017
2016
At NRV:
Materials and spare parts .............................................................................................................
P
1,591,842
1,263,740
Work-in-process inventory ............................................................................................................
992,288
726,857
Finished goods .............................................................................................................................
359,002
–
Raw materials...............................................................................................................................
314,288
220,441
At Cost:
Inventory in transit ........................................................................................................................
832
3,045
Finished goods .............................................................................................................................
–
363,494
P
3,258,252
2,577,577
In 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income the
cost of inventories sold amounting to P12,400,901 and P11,885,883 (see Note 6). As at December 31,
2017 and 2016, inventory write-down to NRV amounted to P56,203 and P17,604, respectively. Write-down
of inventories to NRV included under “Costs of Sales and Services” account in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income amounted to P48,199 and P17,604 in 2017 and 2016, respectively.
NOTE 17 - PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments and other current assets as at December 31 consisted of:
2017
2016
Prepayments:
Prepaid insurance 1 ......................................................................................................................
P
542,709
900,531
Prepaid taxes 2 .............................................................................................................................
548,850
310,714
Advances to suppliers ..................................................................................................................
116,802
96,417
Prepaid freight cost ......................................................................................................................
79,059
89,559
Advances to employees ...............................................................................................................
9,797
13,989
Prepaid rent ..................................................................................................................................
9,162
3,660
Noncurrent assets held for sale 3 .....................................................................................................
90,629
Others ..............................................................................................................................................
4,125
5,186
P
1,401,133
1,420,056
Prepaid insurance pertains to unamortized portion of payments on property, non-damage business interruption and political risks
insurance.
Prepaid taxes include input VAT, property taxes, creditable withholding taxes, and licenses.
3 (a) In December 2017, the Company has ceased its ready-mix concrete operations located in Manila Harbour Center. Accordingly, the
Company decided to sell the machinery and equipment which were previously being used by the concrete operations. It was assessed by
the management that these assets are not impaired before these were reclassified from property, machinery and equipment. As at
December 31, 2017, the fair value less costs to sell of these assets is not lower than their carrying amount of P40,160; (b) In 2017,
management decided to sell two of its marine vessels. The marine vessels were written-down to their recoverable amount before they
were reclassified to noncurrent asset held for sale (see Note 18). As at December 31, 2017, the fair value less costs to sell is not lower
than the vessels’ carrying amount of P47,932 (see Note 18); and (c) The Company also identified other machinery and equipment as held
for sale. It was assessed by the management that these assets are not impaired before these were reclassified from property, machinery
and equipment. The fair value less costs to sell is not lower than their carrying amount of P2,537. Efforts to sell the aforementioned
assets have started and a sale is expected to happen in 2018.
1

2

Buildings and
Improvements

Machinery and Constructions
Equipment
in-Progress

Total
Gross Carrying Amount
December 31, 2015 .............................................................................................................................
P
–
–
–
–
Acquisition through business combination ..............................................................................................
3,848,465
11,600,051
347,958
15,796,474
Additions ............................................................................................................................................
85,417
316,081
928,711
1,330,209
Disposals ...........................................................................................................................................
(8,244)
(170,975)
(24,621)
(203,840)
Reclassifications .................................................................................................................................
56,927
169,914
(226,841)
–
3,982,565
11,915,071
1,025,207
16,922,843
December 31, 2016 .............................................................................................................................
Additions ............................................................................................................................................
61,951
516,857
750,187
1,328,995
Disposals ...........................................................................................................................................
(211)
(29,752)
(319)
(30,282)
Reclassifications to assets held for sale .................................................................................................
–
(376,718)
–
(376,718)
Reclassifications .................................................................................................................................
27,925
166,360
(194,285)
–
4,072,230
12,191,818
1,580,790
17,844,838
December 31, 2017 ............................................................................................................................
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
December 31, 2015 .............................................................................................................................
–
–
–
–
Depreciation for the period ...................................................................................................................
(161,688)
(1,090,656)
–
(1,252,344)
Disposals ...........................................................................................................................................
8,195
136,117
–
144,312
(153,493)
(954,539)
–
(1,108,032)
December 31, 2016 .............................................................................................................................
Depreciation for the period ...................................................................................................................
(183,818)
(1,091,515)
–
(1,275,333)
Reclassifications to assets held for sale .................................................................................................
–
286,089
–
286,089
Impairment .........................................................................................................................................
–
(175,230)
–
(175,230)
Disposals ...........................................................................................................................................
211
10,189
–
10,400
(337,100)
(1,925,006)
–
(2,262,106)
December 31, 2017..........................................................................................................................................
Carrying Amounts
December 31, 2016 .............................................................................................................................
3,829,072
P
10,960,532
1,025,207
15,814,811
December 31, 2017 ............................................................................................................................
3,735,130
P
10,266,812
1,580,790
15,582,732

In 2017, 2016 and 2015, there were no interest expense arising from borrowings that have been capitalized
as part of property, machinery and equipment.
The Company recognized impairment loss on property, machinery and equipment amounting to P175,230.
In 2017, management has decided to sell two of its marine vessels. Before reclassifying the asset as held
for sale, the Company tested the said asset for impairment and recognized an impairment loss of P146,660.
The Company’s management also identified machinery and equipment that are already obsolete and are no
longer used in the Company’s operations. Accordingly, impairment loss was recognized on these machinery
and equipment amounting to P28,570.
The recoverable amount of the vessels reclassified to assets held for sale amounting to P47,932 pertains to
its fair value less costs to sell. The Company used market comparison technique for measuring the fair
value of these vessels. Under this method, the valuation is based on the recent sale of a comparable vessel
adjusted for age, cargo carrying capacity and vessel specifications. The fair value measurement has been
categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to the valuation technique used. The
recoverable amount of the obsolete machinery and equipment was assessed to be nil which pertains to its
fair value less costs to sell.
Impairment losses are recognized under “Other expenses - net” account in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.
NOTE 19 - ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND GOODWILL
As part of CEMEX’s overall current priorities, CEMEX has been focusing in strengthening its capital
structure. One way of doing so is through the optimization of CEMEX’s global corporate structure which
should lead to less administration costs and facilitate the implementation of CEMEX’s business strategy.
Considering these premises and in line with the Parent Company’s IPO, the Parent Company was created
and on January 1, 2016, the Parent Company acquired interest in the economic benefit of the entities listed
in Note 29 (except for CAR, which was incorporated by the Parent Company in 2015 and Falcon, which was
incorporated by the Parent Company in 2016). The acquisition price of P47,825,147 was initially financed
through accounts payable to a related party, which was eventually paid from proceeds from short-term and
long-term loans from a local bank and a related party.
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The Company incurred acquisition-related costs in 2016 amounting to P9,569 on documentary stamp taxes
and other costs, which were recognized as part of “Administrative and selling expenses” account in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

As mentioned in Note 3L, the consolidated entities test their goodwill balances for impairment at the level of
the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated, which are commonly composed of the operating
subsidiaries of the Company in the country. The Company’s cash flow projections for five years to determine
the value-in-use of its CGU consider the use of long-term economic assumptions. The Company believes
that its discounted cash flow projections and the discount rates used reasonably reflect current economic
conditions at the time of the calculations, considering, among other factors that: a) the cost of capital reflects
current risks and volatility in the markets; and b) the cost of debt represents the actual interest rates
recognized by the CGUs in their outstanding interest-bearing debt. The Company performed its annual
goodwill impairment test, and based on the analysis, the Company does not need to recognize impairment
loss on goodwill. For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Company’s CGUs
(significant operating divisions) as follows:

The amounts of revenue and profit of the acquiree in 2016 included in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income follow:
Amount
Revenue...........................................................................................................................................
P
24,286,753
Profit ................................................................................................................................................1,413,466
The following table summarizes the recognized amounts and assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
date of the acquisition:
Assets (liabilities)
Amounts
Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................................................
P
3,687,632
Trade receivables ..............................................................................................................................................
813,392
Due from related parties ....................................................................................................................................
999,896
Other current accounts receivable ....................................................................................................................
1,459,014
Inventories .........................................................................................................................................................
2,250,415
Prepayments and other current assets ..............................................................................................................
1,205,663
Investments in associates and other investments ..............................................................................................
15,273
Other assets and noncurrent accounts receivable .............................................................................................
344,134
Property, machinery and equipment - net ..........................................................................................................
15,796,474
Trade payables ..................................................................................................................................................
(2,258,403)
Due to related parties .........................................................................................................................................
(619,705)
Income tax payable ............................................................................................................................................
(249,284)
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses ................................................................................................
(1,608,339)
Long-term payable to related parties .................................................................................................................
(987,027)
Retirement benefit liability ..................................................................................................................................
(716,903)
Deferred income taxes .......................................................................................................................................
(138,473)
Other noncurrent liabilities .................................................................................................................................
(28,306)
Total identifiable net assets acquired
P
19,965,453

Amount
APO .................................................................................................................................................
P
17,648,162
Solid .................................................................................................................................................
10,211,532
P
27,859,694
In 2017 and 2016, the Company’s pre-tax discount rates and expected growth rates in perpetuity used in the
Company’s impairment tests, to determine the discounted cash flows in both the CGUs with the main
goodwill balances, were as follows:
APO
Solid
2017
2016
2017
2016
Discount rate ....................................................................................................................................
9.4%
9.5%
9.7%
9.5%
Growth rate ......................................................................................................................................
6.8%
7.0%
6.8%
7.0%
In connection with the Company’s assumptions as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, included in the table
above, the Company made sensitivity analyses to changes in assumptions, affecting the value-in-use of all
CGUs. The following table shows the amount (in percentage) by which these two assumptions would need
to change individually for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount.
APO
Solid
2017
2016
2017
2016
Discount rate ....................................................................................................................................
0.4
3.2
3.3
4.3
Growth rate ......................................................................................................................................
(0.4)
(2.8)
(2.9)
(3.6)

The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of assets acquired were as follows:
Assets acquired

Valuation technique

Property, machinery
and equipment

Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation model
considers quoted market prices for similar items when they are available, and
depreciated replacement cost when appropriate. Depreciated replacement cost
reflects adjustments for physical deterioration as well as functional and
economic obsolescence.

As at December 31, 2017, the estimated recoverable amount of the Company’s CGUs exceeds carrying
amount by P37,302,135.
NOTE 20 - UNEARNED REVENUE, OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
Unearned revenue, other accounts payable and accrued expenses as at December 31 consisted of:
2017
2016
Unearned revenue from reinsurance premiums 1...........................................................................
P
453,555
793,320
Unearned revenue from customer loyalty program ........................................................................
74,168
40,482
Total Unearned revenue ........................................................................................................
527,723
833,802

The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of P883,990, of which P70,598 was
expected to be uncollectible at the date of the acquisition. The carrying amount of the acquired property,
machinery and equipment acquired in the books of the acquirees at the date of acquisition amounted to
P14,026,454.

Accrued expenses 2 .......................................................................................................................
864,463
519,400
Taxes payable ................................................................................................................................
298,278
241,687
Advances from customers ..............................................................................................................
352,831
301,014
Others ............................................................................................................................................
65,472
63,070
Total Other accounts payable and accrued expenses ...........................................................
1,581,044
1,125,171
P
2,108,767
1,958,973

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognized as follows:
Amount
Amount of the consideration ..............................................................................................................................
P
47,825,147
Fair value of the identifiable net assets ..............................................................................................................
19,965,453
Goodwill ................................................................................................................................
P

27,859,694

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the assembled work force and dealer network. None of the goodwill
recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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1
2

Unearned revenue from reinsurance premiums pertain to the portion of reinsurance premiums written by Falcon that relate to
unexpired period of the policies.
Accrued expenses includes a) interest on loans amounting to P98,079 in 2017 and nil in 2016; b) utilities and supplies amounting to
P335,965 in 2017 and P271,329 in 2016; c) salaries and employee benefits amounting to P252,764 in 2017 and P88,232 in 2016;
d) freight cost amounting to P147,940 in 2017 and P127,627 in 2016; e) outside services amounting to P23,336 in 2017 and P25,833
in 2016; and f) royalty fees amounting to P6,379 in 2017 and P6,379 in 2016.
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For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the roll-forward analyses of unearned revenue from
reinsurance premiums are as follows:

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure
to credit risk as at December 31 is as follows:
2017
2016
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) ...................................................................
P
1,058,147
1,337,023
Trade receivables...........................................................................................................................
833,259
909,667
Due from related parties .................................................................................................................
26,386
215,215
Other current accounts receivable .................................................................................................
74,616
127,346
Long-term and guaranty deposits (under other assets and noncurrent
accounts receivable) ...................................................................................................................
607,862
204,463
P
2,600,270
2,793,714

2016
2017
Balance at beginning of period .......................................................................................................
P
793,320
–
Policies written during the period ...................................................................................................
711,945 1,286,843
Premiums earned during the period ...............................................................................................
(1,064,605) (519,346)
Effect of translation to Philippine peso ...........................................................................................
12,895
25,823
Balance at end of period ................................................................................................................
P
453,555
793,320
For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the roll-forward analyses of provisions (under “Taxes
payable” account) are as follows:
2017

Balance at beginning of period .......................................................................................................
P
29,312
Assumed in a business combination ..............................................................................................
–
Net reversals made during the period ............................................................................................
(19,595)
Balance at end of period ................................................................................................................
P
9,717

2016
–
284,453
(255,141)
29,312

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the aging analysis per class of financial assets are as follows:
Neither
past due
nor
impaired

As at December 31, 2017
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on
hand).........................................................................................................................................................
P 1,058,147
–
–
–
–
Trade receivables ..................................................................................................................................
638,816 61,689 17,215 115,539
36,098
Due from related parties ........................................................................................................................
26,386
–
–
–
–
Other current accounts receivable .........................................................................................................
74,616
–
–
–
–
Long-term and guaranty deposits .................................................................................................................
607,862
–
–
–
–
2,405,827 61,689 17,215 115,539
36,098
Less allowance for impairment losses ........................................................................................................
–
–
–
–
36,098
P 2,405,827 61,689 17,215 115,539
–

NOTE 21 - FINANCIAL RISK AND INSURANCE RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial Risk Management Framework
This note presents information on the financial risk exposure of the Company relating to credit risk, foreign
currency risk and liquidity risk; goals, policies and procedures of the Company to measure and manage
such risks and the administration of the Company’s resources.

Neither
past due
nor
impaired

The Company’s management has overall responsibility for the development, implementation and monitoring
of the conceptual framework and policies for an effective risk management.

Credit Risk

The Company’s management has established a policy which analyzes the creditworthiness of each new
client individually before offering the general conditions of payment terms and delivery, and the review
includes external ratings, when references are available, and in some cases bank references. Threshold of
credit limits are established for each client, which represent the maximum credit amount that requires
different levels of approval. Customers who do not meet the levels of solvency requirements imposed by the
Company can only carry out transactions with the Company by paying cash in advance.
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Past due but not impaired
More
1 to 30 31 to 60
than 60
days
days
days

As at December 31, 2016
Impaired
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on
hand).........................................................................................................................................................
P 1,337,023
–
–
–
–
Trade receivables ..................................................................................................................................
774,265 66,386 13,994
55,022
10,615
Due from related parties ........................................................................................................................
215,215
–
–
–
–
Other current accounts receivable .........................................................................................................
127,346
–
–
–
–
Long-term and guaranty deposits .................................................................................................................
204,463
–
–
–
–
2,658,312 66,386 13,994
55,022
10,615
Less allowance for impairment losses ........................................................................................................
–
–
–
–
10,615
P 2,658,312 66,386 13,994
55,022
–

The Company’s risk management policies are intended to: a) identify and analyze the risks faced by the
Company; b) implement appropriate risk limits and controls; and c) monitor the risks and the compliance
with the limits. Policies and risk management systems are regularly reviewed to reflect changes in market
conditions and in the Company’s activities. By means of its policies and procedures for risk management,
the Company aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment where all employees
understand their roles and obligations.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss faced by the Company if a customer or counterparty of a financial
instrument does not meet its contractual obligations and originates mainly from trade receivables. As at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the balance of
financial assets. Management has developed policies for the authorization of credit to customers. The
exposure to credit risk is monitored constantly according to the behavior of payment of the debtors. Credit is
assigned on a customer-by-customer basis and is subject to assessments which consider the customers’
payment capacity, as well as past behavior regarding due dates, balances past due and delinquent
accounts. In cases deemed necessary, the Company’s management requires guarantee deposits from its
customers and financial counterparties with regard to financial assets.

Past due but not impaired
More
1 to 30
31 to than 60
days 60 days
days Impaired

Total
1,058,147
869,357
26,386
74,616
607,862
2,636,368
36,098
2,600,270

Total
1,337,023
920,282
215,215
127,346
204,463
2,804,329
10,615
2,793,714

Considering the Company’s best estimates of potential losses based on an analysis of aging and
considering management’s recovery efforts, the allowance for impairment losses amounted to P36,098 and
P10,615 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Cash in banks, short-term investments and long-term and guarantee deposits are of high grade quality as
these are deposited in reputable financial entities. Of the total trade receivables, due from related parties
and other current accounts receivable, 76% and 88% are neither past due nor impaired, and are considered
of high grade quality as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Other financial assets that are not
considered of high grade quality are considered standard grade quality financial assets. High grade quality
financial assets are those assessed as having minimal credit risk, otherwise they are of standard quality.
Standard grade quality financial assets are those assessed as having minimal to regular instances of
payment default due to ordinary/common collection issues. These accounts are typically not impaired as the
counterparties generally respond to credit actions and update their payments accordingly.
The credit qualities of financial assets that were neither past due nor impaired are determined as follows:
▪

Cash in banks, cash equivalents and long-term and guaranty deposits are based on the credit standing
or rating of the counterparty.

▪

Trade receivables, due from related parties and other current accounts receivable are based on a
combination of credit standing or rating of the counterparty, historical experience and specific and
collective credit risk assessment.
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The Company sells its products primarily to retailers in the construction industry, with no specific geographic
concentration of credit within the country in which the Company operates. As at December 31, 2017 and
2016, no single customer individually accounted for a significant amount of the reported amounts of sales or
the balances of trade receivables.
Foreign Currency Risk

The Company had an exposure arising from the dollar-denominated financial obligations as compared to the
currency in which the majority of the Company’s revenues are generated. The Company’s only revenue
denominated in U.S. dollars to cover such dollar-denominated obligations are those generated by exports.
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has not implemented any derivative financing hedging
strategy to address this foreign currency risk.
Foreign exchange fluctuations occur when any member of the Company incur monetary assets and
liabilities in a currency different from its functional currency. These translation gains and losses are
recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, a summary of the quantitative information of the exposure of the
Company due to foreign currencies is provided to the top management on the basis of its risk management
policy as follows:
2017
2016
in U.S.
in U.S.
Amounts in thousands of dollars
dollar
in Euro
dollar
Cash and cash equivalents ........................................................................................................
$9,919
€–
$2,307
Due from related parties.............................................................................................................
402
–
254
Trade payables ..........................................................................................................................
(3,855)
(301)
(19,022)
Due to related parties .................................................................................................................
(43,842)
–
(342,591)
Net liabilities denominated in foreign currency .........................................................................
($37,376)
(€301)
($359,052)

in Euro
€–
–
(8,477)
–
(€8,477)

The most significant closing exchange rates and the approximate average exchange rates of Philippine
Peso per U.S. dollar and Euro used in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:
2017
2016
Currency
Closing
Average
Closing
Average
U.S. dollar .........................................................................................................................................
49.93
50.38
49.72
47.67
Euro ..................................................................................................................................................
59.93
57.27
52.30
52.60
Sensitivity analysis on Foreign Currency Risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in various foreign
currencies, with all other variables held constant, of the Company’s earnings before income tax and equity
as at December 31, 2017 and 2016:

2017
2016

Effect on
Profit before Income
Tax

+14.6%
-14.6%
+5.0%
-5.0%

2,632
(2,632)
22,167
(22,167)

2017
2016

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate in relation to changes in exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign
exchange rates relates to its operational and financing activities. The objective of foreign currency risk
management is to manage and control exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return.
The Company’s revenue and costs are generated and settled mainly in Philippine Peso. For the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, approximately less than 5% of the Company’s net sales, before
eliminations, were generated in U.S. dollars.

USD

EUR

Strengthening
(Weakening)
of Philippine Peso

Strengthening
(Weakening)
of Philippine Peso

Effect on
Profit before Income
Tax

+0.4%
-0.4%
+5.0%
-5.0%

7,882
(7,882)
892,603
(892,603)

Effect on Equity
5,517
(5,517)
624,822
(624,822)

Effect on Equity
1,842
(1,842)
15,517
(15,517)

Interest Rate Risk
As at December 31, 2017, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily on the floating interest rate
tranche corresponding to P8 billion of the long-term bank loan with BDO (see Note 23) while as at
December 31, 2016, the exposure is mainly from its short-term investments in New Sunward Holding B.V.
and long-term loan payable to CEMEX Asia B.V. The short-term investments in New Sunward Holding B.V.
bear interest at a rate equivalent to the higher of WAILRF rate minus 10 basis points and zero interest (see
Note 11). The long-term loan from CEMEX Asia B.V. bears interest at an annual rate equal to 6-month
LIBOR plus 369 basis points and 450 basis points in 2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note 13).
Sensitivity analysis on Interest Rate Risk
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, a hypothetical 1% increase in interest rate, with all other variables held
constant, the Company’s profit for the years ended December, 31, 2017 and 2016 would have decreased by
approximately P57,165 and P9,165, respectively. Conversely, a hypothetical 1% decrease in interest rate
would have the opposite effect.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient funds available to meet its obligations. The
Company has fulfilled its operational liquidity needs primarily through its own operations and expects to
continue to do so for both the short and long-term liabilities. Although cash flow from the Company’s
operations has historically covered its overall liquidity needs for operations, servicing debt and funding
capital expenditures and acquisitions. In order to meet its liquidity needs, the Company also relies on costcontrol and operating improvements to optimize capacity utilization and maximize profitability. The
Company’s consolidated net cash flows provided by operating activities, as presented in its consolidated
statements of cash flows, was P2,117,807 and P3,747,812 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The Company’s trade payables, due to related parties, taxes payable and other accounts
payable and accrued expenses are expected to be settled within one year. Trade payables are noninterestbearing and are normally settled on a 30-days’ term. There is no significant concentration of a specific
supplier relating to the purchase of raw materials. The maturities of the Company’s long-term contractual
obligations are included in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
Insurance Risk Management
As mentioned in Note 1, the Parent Company incorporated Falcon to create its own reserves and reinsure in
respect of the Company’s property, non-damage business interruption and political risks insurance. Falcon
is expected to retain 10% of the risk in connection with property insurance and 100% of the risk in
connection with earthquake and wind stop loss, non-damage business interruption and political risks
insurance of the Parent Company’s operating subsidiaries. As a result of these arrangements, the Company
will effectively self-insure these risks to the extent of Falcon’s retained liability. There can be no assurance
that the reserves established by Falcon will exceed any losses in connection with the Company’s selfinsured risks.
In addition, the Company’s insurance coverage is subject to periodic renewal. If the availability of insurance
coverage is reduced significantly for any reason, the Company may become exposed to certain risks for
which it is not and, in some cases could not be, insured. Moreover, if the Company’s losses exceed its
insurance coverage, or if the Company’s losses are not covered by the insurance policies it has taken up, or
if Falcon is required to pay claims to its insurer pursuant to the reinsurance arrangements, the Company
may be liable to cover any shortfall or losses. The Company’s insurance premiums may also increase
substantially because of such claim from the Company’s insurers.
The foregoing risk exposure is mitigated, through making reasonable approximation after an evaluation of
reported claims in the past of the Parent Company’s operating subsidiaries, by retaining only insurance risk
from insurance policies in which the operating subsidiaries have low probability of incurring losses.
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Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The recurring fair value measurement of the derivative asset is categorized as level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value is determined using quoted commodity price at the reporting date, adjusted by the
fixed price under the commodity swap agreement. The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, amounts due from and due to related parties, other current accounts receivable, other accounts
payable and accrued expenses reasonably approximate their carrying amounts considering the short-term
maturities of these financial instruments. The fair value of the long-term payable to CEMEX Asia B.V., which
is based on the present value of future cash flows discounted at market rate of interest at the reporting date
(discounted cash flows under level 2 of the fair value hierarchy), approximates its carrying amount as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016 as the said financial instruments bear interest at LIBOR rates, which is
approximately similar to the market interest rate. The fair values of long-term time deposits and long-term
payable to New Sunward Holding B.V., which are also based on the present value of future cash flows
discounted at market rate of interest at the reporting date (discounted cash flows under level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy), approximate their carrying amounts as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 as these financial
instruments bear interest at rates which are approximately similar to market interest rates. The fair value of
the rental guaranty deposits approximate its carrying amount since the Company does not anticipate its
carrying amount to be significantly different from the actual amount that the rental guarantee deposits would
eventually be collected.
The bank loan provided by BDO consists of a fixed rate and a floating rate tranche based on market rates
plus spread. The following is the comparison of the carrying amount and fair value of bank loan:
Bank loan
2017
Carrying amount.............................................................................................................................
P 13,740,598
Fair value .......................................................................................................................................
14,688,476

2016
–
–

The fair value of bank loan is based on the present value of expected cash flows using the discount rates
based on current market rates of similar instruments and categorized as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
NOTE 22 - RETIREMENT BENEFIT LIABILITY
The Company has a funded, noncontributory, defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all of its
regular and permanent employees. Contributions and costs are determined in accordance with the actuarial
studies made for the plan. Annual cost is determined using the projected unit credit method. The Company’s
latest actuarial valuation date was made on December 31, 2017. Valuations are obtained on an annual
basis.

The following retirement benefit formula table applies to a union member employee for services rendered on
or after January 1, 2011:
YOS
20 & Below
Above 20 to 25
Above 25

Retirement Benefit*
110% of the plan salary for every year of credited service
130% of the plan salary for every year of credited service
150% of the plan salary for every year of credited service

*covering Normal, Early and Late Retirement

An employee may be entitled only to an early retirement benefit provided that he reached the age of fiftyfive (55) and has completed at least ten (10) years of credited service unless approved by the Company.
The late retirement may be availed only beyond age sixty (60) but not beyond sixty-five (65), on a case-tocase and yearly extension basis and subject to the consent of the Company.
Voluntary Separation
The total benefit that will be received by a retired employee is based on his final salary and YOS, which is
summarized on the retirement benefit formula table below:
YOS
10 to 15
16 to 20
21 to 25
Above 25

Retirement Benefit
79% of the plan salary for every year of credited service
99% of the plan salary for every year of credited service
119% of the plan salary for every year of credited service
139% of the plan salary for every year of credited service

Total and Permanent Disability and Death Benefit
In the event that a qualified employee dies or is required by the Company to retire due to total and
permanent disability, his benefit should be equal to an amount based on the retirement benefit formula. In
the case of disability, the employee should have completed at least five (5) years and three (3) years of
credited service for Solid and APO, respectively.
The plan is registered with the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) as tax-qualified plan under Republic Act
No. 4917, as Amended. The control and administration of the retirement plan is vested in its BOT. The
retirement plan’s accounting and administrative functions are undertaken by BPI AMTG, and its duly
appointed trust fund manager.

The retirement plan of the Company entitled a regular and permanent employee to avail of the “Normal
Retirement, Early Retirement and Late Retirement Benefit” and “Voluntary Separation Benefit”. In addition,
the retirement plan also provides “Total and Permanent Disability and Death Benefit” for the qualified
employees and beneficiaries.
Normal Retirement, Early Retirement and Late Retirement
In 2017, the Company had an agreement to revise the retirement package for union members. The total
benefit that will be received by a retired non-union member employee and a union member (**) employee is
based on his final plan salary and years of service (YOS), which is summarized on the retirement benefit
formula table below:
YOS
20 & Below
Above 20 to 25
Above 25

Retirement Benefit*
100% of the plan salary for every year of credited service
119% of the plan salary for every year of credited service
139% of the plan salary for every year of credited service

*covering Normal, Early and Late Retirement
**for YOS rendered before January 1, 2011
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a) Movement in Retirement Benefit Liability
The following table shows reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for retirement
benefit liability and its components:
Present Value of Defined Benefit
Obligation
2017
2016
Balance at January 1
Net retirement benefit liability
assumed during business
combination
Included in profit or loss
Service costs:
Current service cost
Past service cost 1
Interest cost, net
Settlement gain
Included in OCI
Actuarial loss (gain) from:
Change in financial
assumptions
Change in demographic
assumptions
Experience adjustments
Return on plan assets excluding
interest income

P849,055

P–

–

796,064

Balance at December 31
1

(P79,715)

–

(79,160)

–
–
(7,335)
–

–
–
(7,877)
–

131,491

112,664

(7,335)

(7,877)

(37,717)

(77,471)

–

(320)
(66,659)

(5,658)
59,761

–
–

–

(26,014)
P849,836

–
(23,368)
(36,305)

P769,340

P–

–

716,904

57,918
26,882
40,132
(776)

104,787

–

(37,717)

(77,471)

–
–

(320)
(66,659)

(5,658)
59,761

(1,778)

7,322

(1,778)

7,322

(106,474)

–

57,652
17,171
29,964
–

124,156

(1,778)

(P88,828)

P849,055

Retirement Benefit Liability
2017
2016

P–

57,652
17,171
37,841
–

57,918
26,882
47,467
(776)

(104,696)
Others
Benefits paid

Fair Value of Plan Assets
2017
2016

–
(P79,715)

(26,014)
P761,008

The BOT reviews the level of funding required for the retirement fund with inputs from the Company’s
accredited actuary. Such a review includes the asset-liability matching (ALM) strategy and investment risk
management policy. The objective of BPI AMTG is to manage the portfolio in accordance with the
objectives set forth by both the Company and BPI AMTG, and to be able to provide and fund benefits as
they fall due.
c) Defined Benefit Obligation
(i) Assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions, at the reporting date, used to determine the retirement benefits are as
follows (expressed as weighted averages):

Discount rate
Future salary growth

Solid
2017
2016
5.75%
5.34%
6.00%
6.00%

APO

Ecocrete, Inc.
2017
2016
5.80%
5.67%
6.00%
6.00%

2016
5.30%
6.00%

Ecocast Builders, Inc.
2017
2016
5.80%
5.58%
6.00%
6.00%

The following are the turnover rate assumption in 2017 and 2016:
Age
18 – 30
31 – 34
35 – 37
38 – 42
42 – 50
51 – 59

7,322
(16,046)
(36,305)
P769,340

The past service cost is the result of the following: a) amendment on the retirement benefit plan for union members in 2017; and b)
amendment on the retirement benefit plan of APO to align with the retirement benefit plan of Solid in 2016.

2017
5.76%
6.00%

Turnover Rates (%)
5 to <7
4 to <5
3 to <4
2 to <3
1 to <2
0 to <1

b) Plan Assets

Mortality rates in 2017 and 2016 are based on the “2017 Philippine Intercompany Mortality Study” from the
Actuarial Society of the Philippines and the “1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table” from the Society of
Actuaries, respectively. Disability rate is based on “1952 Disability Study,” Period 2, Benefit 5.

Plan assets consisted of the following:

ii) Sensitivity Analysis

2017
Unit investment trust fund (UITF)
Equities - local currency ...............................................................................................................
P
35,833
Fixed income - local currency ......................................................................................................
9,238
Money market ..............................................................................................................................
4,977
Mutual funds ...................................................................................................................................
30,255
Debt instruments ............................................................................................................................
7,125
Government securities ....................................................................................................................
1,133
Cash in bank ...................................................................................................................................
117
Foreign currency .............................................................................................................................
82
Exchange traded funds ...................................................................................................................
–
Others .............................................................................................................................................
68
P

88,828

2016
24,777
21,806
3,497
16,342
9,368
539
44
152
2,915
275
79,715

Equity UITF investments are placed in a concentrated portfolio of stocks listed in the PSE which are
generally invested in holding firms, industrial companies, financial institutions, mining and real estate
corporations. Fixed income UITF investments are placed mainly in portfolio of bonds and other similar fixedincome securities such as special deposit accounts from the BSP and treasury notes with weighted average
term to maturity of up to five (5) years.
Mutual funds are invested in listed equity instruments which are actively traded in globally developed
markets. Other mutual funds are invested in debt instruments with terms generally ranging from five (5) to
more than ten (10) years which were issued by low and middle income developing countries and are rated
mostly at “BBB,” “BB” and “B” by Standard and Poor’s Financial Services. Investments in bonds have
quoted prices in active market and are rated “Aaa,” based on ratings made by Philippine Rating Services
Corporation.
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Reasonable possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding
other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2017
and 2016 by the amounts shown below:
Increase

Discount rate (0.5%
movement)
Future Salary Increase rate
(0.5% movement)

2017

Decrease

2016
Increase

Decrease

(P40,853)

P44,088

(P43,400)

P46,902

46,225

(43,182)

48,827

(45,564)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it
does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumption shown.
These defined benefit plans expose the Company to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest rate risk,
and market (investment) risk.
d) Maturity Analysis
Maturity analysis of the benefit follow:

2017

Carrying
Amount
P849,836

Contractual
Cash Flows
P4,021,872

Within
>1 Year
P42,641

Within
1 - 5 Years
P164,730

More than
5 Years
P3,814,501

2016

P849,055

P4,029,901

P31,130

P170,328

P3,828,443
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As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the weighted average duration in years of the defined benefit obligation
are as follows:

Accrued interest from this bank loan amounting to P98,079 as at December 31, 2017 is recognized under
“Unearned revenue, other accounts payable and accrued expenses” account in the consolidated statements
of financial position (see Note 20).

2017
Solid ......................................................................................................................................
19.09
APO ......................................................................................................................................
17.14
Ecocrete, Inc. ........................................................................................................................
28.08
Ecocast Builders, Inc. ...........................................................................................................
23.39

2016
18.97
17.39
26.38
24.80

The Company does not expect to contribute to its pension plan in 2018.
e) Retirement Benefit Expense
Retirement benefit expense is recognized in the following line items in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income:
2017
2016
Costs of sales and services ..................................................................................................
P
39,192
41,390
Administrative expenses .......................................................................................................
44,832
33,433
Other financial expenses - net. .............................................................................................
40,132
29,964
P
124,156
104,787

2015
–
–
–
–

NOTE 23 - BANK LOAN
On February 1, 2017, the Parent Company signed a Senior Unsecured Peso Term Loan Facility Agreement
(Facility Agreement) with BDO for an amount of up to the Philippine Peso equivalent of U.S. dollar 280
million to refinance a majority of the Parent Company’s outstanding long-term loan with New Sunward
Holding B.V. The term loan provided by BDO has a tenor of seven (7) years from the date of the initial
drawdown on the facility and consists of a fixed rate and a floating rate tranche based on market rates plus
spread. The borrowings or drawdowns on this facility amounted to P14 billion in 2017. Short-term portion of
the bank loans amounted to P140,123 as of December 31, 2017.
The debt issuance cost of this bank loan, corresponding to P166,591 on unamortized basis, was deducted
from the total loan liability as at December 31, 2017. Interest expense incurred in 2017, excluding amortized
direct cost, amounted to P571,808 million which is recognized under “Financial expenses” account in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
The Facility Agreement also provides certain covenants. Compliance with these covenants shall be tested
semi-annually.
On December 8, 2017, the Parent Company also entered into a Supplemental Agreement with BDO wherein
both parties agreed to fix the commencement date for compliance with financial covenants under the Facility
Agreement in June 2020 and include debt service reserve accounts and additional debt incurrence
restrictions. The Company’s actual financial ratio as at December 31, 2017 is well within the limit of the
aforementioned additional debt incurrence restriction. The debt service reserve account is recognized as
“Long-term time deposits” under “Other assets and noncurrent accounts receivable” account in the
consolidated statements of financial position (see Note 15B).
The reconciliation of opening and closing balances of bank loan follows:
Balance as at January 1, 2017...............................
Proceeds ................................................................
Interest expense ....................................................
Payment of:
Principal ..............................................................
Interest ................................................................
Balance as at December 31, 2017 .........................

P

P
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Bank Loan Accrued Interest
–
–
13,831,596
–
14,094
571,808
(105,092)
–
13,740,598

Total
–
13,831,596
585,902

–
(105,092)
(473,729)
(473,729)
98,079 13,838,677

NOTE 24 - INCOME TAXES
24A) INCOME TAXES FOR THE PERIOD
The amounts of income taxes recognized in profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
are as follows:
2017
2016
2015
Current tax expense .............................................................................................................................................................
652,115
P
1,151,631
–
Deferred tax benefit arising from origination and
reversal of temporary differences .....................................................................................................................................
(642,186)
(587,887)
–
Write-down of previously recognized deferred tax
asset ................................................................................................................................................................................
129,615
–
–
139,544
P
563,744
–

The Company has NOLCO that can be claimed as deductions from future taxable income as follows:

Year Incurred
2017
2016
2015
2014

Valid until
2020
2019
2018
2017

Addition
During the
Expired/Utilized
Period During the Period
P2,363,198
P–
809,850
(60)
–
(607)
–
(12,871)
P3,173,048
(P13,538)

Amount
P–
1,780,808
28,040
12,871
P1,821,719

Ending Balance
P2,363,198
2,590,598
27,433
–
P4,981,229

The Company has MCIT that can be claimed as deductions from future taxable income as follows:

Year Incurred
2017
2016

Valid until
2020
2019

Addition
During the
Expired/Utilized
Period During the Period
P199,428
P–
–
(21)
P199,428
(P21)

Amount
P–
90
P90

Ending Balance
P199,428
69
P199,497

24B) DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the income tax effects of the temporary differences,
NOLCO and MCIT that resulted in deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented below:
2017

Balance at
January 1

Recognized in
Profit or Loss

Recognized
in OCI

Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
NOLCO ...............................................................................................................................................................
P278,061
P424,069
P–
Accrued retirement benefit liability and past
service cost ......................................................................................................................................................
229,379
32,214
(31,942)
MCIT....................................................................................................................................................................
90
199,252
–
Write-down of:
Property, machinery and equipment to
recoverable amount ......................................................................................................................................
9,232
60,173
–
Inventories to NRV ...........................................................................................................................................
23,451
11,395
–
Allowance for impairment losses on
receivables .......................................................................................................................................................
24,365
3,982
–
Unearned revenue ..............................................................................................................................................
12,145
10,106
–
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) ...........................................................................................................
303,694
(289,847)
–
Provisions............................................................................................................................................................
5,340
1,263
–
Accrued employee severance pay.....................................................................................................................
3
–
–
Fair value adjustment on property,
machinery and equipment ...............................................................................................................................
(447,060)
80,557
–
Accrued documentary stamp tax .......................................................................................................................
–
(18,658)
–
Other items..........................................................................................................................................................
5,901
(1,935)
–
P444,601
P512,571
(P31,942)

Balance at
December 31
P702,130
229,651
199,342
69,405
34,846
28,347
22,251
13,847
6,603
3
(366,503)
(18,658)
3,966
P925,230
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2016

Balance at
January 1

Additions from
business
combination

Recognized in
Profit or Loss

Recognized
in OCI

Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Unrealized foreign exchange
loss (gain) .........................................................................................................................................................
P–
(P36,825)
P340,519
P–
NOLCO ...............................................................................................................................................................
–
14,140
263,921
–
Accrued retirement benefit
liability and past service cost ...........................................................................................................................
–
215,813
18,380
(4,814)
Allowance for impairment losses
on receivables ..................................................................................................................................................
–
21,181
3,184
–
Write-down of:
Inventories to NRV ...........................................................................................................................................
–
57,627
(34,176)
–
Property, machinery and
equipment to recoverable
amount...........................................................................................................................................................
–
9,232
–
–
Unearned revenue ..............................................................................................................................................
–
11,998
147
–
Provisions............................................................................................................................................................
–
85,258
(79,918)
–
Accrued employee severance
pay ....................................................................................................................................................................
–
1,321
(1,318)
–
Fair value adjustment on
property, machinery and
equipment ........................................................................................................................................................
–
(531,006)
83,946
–
Other items..........................................................................................................................................................
–
12,789
(6,798)
–
P–
(P138,472)
P587,887
(P4,814)

24C) EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

Balance at
December 31

P303,694
278,061
229,379
24,365
23,451
9,232
12,145
5,340
3
(447,060)
5,991
P444,601

Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items because it is not
probable that future taxable income will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits
therefrom:

NOLCO
Allowance for impairment losses on
accounts receivable
Allowance for write-down of
inventories
Accrued retirement benefit liability
Excess MCIT over RCIT
Unrealized foreign exchange losses
Others

2017

2016

2016

30.00%
13.63
0.61
(14.01)
(0.10)
(1.62)
28.51%

24D) SIGNIFICANT TAX PROCEEDINGS
As at December 31, 2017, APO and Solid are the subject of the following tax investigations conducted by
the Philippine tax authorities:
Taxable Year

Covered Taxes

2013.......................................................................................................................................
All internal revenue taxes
2016.......................................................................................................................................
VAT

As at March 8, 2018, no preliminary tax audit findings or issues have been raised arising from these
investigations.

Tax effect
P792,239

Gross
amount
P894,850

Tax effect
P268,455

4,790

1,437

–

–

Republic Act (RA) No.10963 or the Tax Reform for Acceleration and Inclusion Act (TRAIN) was signed into
law on December 19, 2017 and took effect January 1, 2018.

626
347
155
3
87

188
104
155
1
26

–
–
–
–

The TRAIN Law, which took effect on January 1, 2018, represents Package 1 of the comprehensive tax
reform program of the current administration that aims to correct gaps in the present tax system, allowing it
to be more effective and equitable. Below are the salient points of the TRAIN Law:

7

–
–
–
–

2

P2,646,805

P794,150

P894,857

P268,457
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2017

Statutory income tax rate .......................................................................................................
30.00%
Movement in NOLCO ............................................................................................................
35.46
Non-deductible expense ........................................................................................................
6.62
CAR and FALCON tax rate difference ...................................................................................
(53.19)
Non-taxable income ...............................................................................................................
(1.69)
Others ....................................................................................................................................
0.28
Consolidated effective income tax rate ..................................................................................
17.48%

Gross
amount
P2,640,797

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, based on the forecasts of future cash flows and operating results, the
Company believes that sufficient taxable income will be generated so that it is probable that it will realize the
tax benefits associated with the recognized deferred income tax assets related to tax loss carryforwards
prior to their expiration. In addition, the Company concluded that the deferred income tax liabilities that were
considered in the analysis of recoverability of its deferred income tax assets will reverse in the same period
and tax jurisdiction of the related recognized deferred income tax assets. In the event that present
conditions change, and it is determined that future operations would not generate sufficient taxable income,
currently recognized deferred income tax assets would be evaluated and derecognized if necessary against
the results of the period.

10 4

Differences between the financial basis and the corresponding tax basis of assets and liabilities and the
different income tax rates and laws applicable to the Company, among other factors, give rise to permanent
differences between the average statutory tax rate of the entities included in the consolidated financial
statements, and the effective tax rate presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
which were as follows:

24E) IMPACT OF NEW TAX LAW

▪
▪

▪

Reduction in personal income taxes
Changes in capital income taxes
•
Final withholding tax on interest from foreign-currency deposits increased to 15% (from 7.5%)
•
Capital gains tax on unlisted/untraded shares increased to 15% (from 5%/10%)
•
Stock transaction tax on listed/traded shares increased to 6/10 of 1% (from ½ of 1%)
Amendments to other taxes
•
VAT
o Certain VAT zero-rated transactions to become subject to 12% VAT upon implementation of
VAT refund system
o VAT exemption threshold for sale of goods and services increased to P3.0 million (from P1.9
million)
o Included in VAT-exempt transactions, among others: transfers of properties pursuant to a taxfree merger; association dues, membership fees, and other assessments and charges
collected by homeowners associations and condominium corporations
•
Increased documentary stamp taxes (DST) rates by 50% to 100% on certain transactions
•
Excise taxes
o Revised excise tax rates on cigars and cigarettes, manufactured oils and other fuels,
petroleum products, automobiles, and minerals
o Expanded scope of excise tax to include non-essential services and sweetened beverages
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NOTE 25 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
25A) COMMON STOCK
As at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, information on the Parent Company’s common stock is
summarized as follows:
Authorized
Number of
Par
Shares Value
Balance at September 17, 2015/
December 31, 2015
Full payment of previously subscribed
common stock
Effect of decrease in par value on
previously authorized and subscribed
shares
Effect of increase in authorized capital
stock
Shares issued during IPO

Amount

Issued and Outstanding
Number of
Par
Shares Value
Amount

1,504,000

P100

P150,400

94,000

P100

P9,400

-

-

-

282,000

100

28,200

148,896,000

-

-

37,224,000

-

-

5,044,995,454
-

1
-

5,044,995 2,819,867,500
- 2,337,927,954

1
1

2,819,867
2,337,928

Balance at December 31, 2016

5,195,395,454

P1

P5,195,395 5,195,395,454

P1

P5,195,395

Balance at December 31, 2017

5,195,395,454

P1

P5,195,395 5,195,395,454

P1

P5,195,395

Under these programs, CEMEX issued new shares to certain executives of the Company for approximately
429,761 and 765,586 CPOs in 2017 and 2016, respectively, that were subscribed and pending for payment
in the ultimate parent company’s treasury. As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, there are approximately
634,636 and 1,200,262 CPOs, respectively, associated with these annual programs that are expected to be
issued in the future as the Company’s executives render services.
The compensation expense related to these programs for the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, for
approximately P25,171 and P11,655 corresponding to the fair value of the number of CEMEX’s CPOs at the
date of grant, was recognized in the Company’s profit or loss against other equity reserves. The weighted
average fair value, which pertains to the market price of CPOs granted, is 14.28 and 13.79 Mexican Pesos
in 2017 and 2016, respectively. As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not have outstanding
commitments or options to make cash payments to executives on the exercise date of awards based on
changes in CEMEX’s own stock (intrinsic value).
25E) RETAINED EARNINGS
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s retained earnings include unappropriated retained
earnings of its significant operating subsidiaries, Solid and APO, amounting to P831,756 and P1,534,978,
respectively, which pertains to the result of the operations of both Solid and APO from the date the Parent
Company obtained control over these subsidiaries. Such amount was offset by the net results of the Parent
Company and its remaining subsidiaries. The retained earnings of both Solid and APO are not available for
distribution as dividends by the Parent Company until declared by the respective investees.

On September 17, 2015, CASEC subscribed to 376,000 shares of stock of the Parent Company at P100 par
value per share. Of the agreed subscription price of P37,600, only P9,400 was paid in 2015, while the
remainder of P28,200 was paid in 2016. In 2016, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the amendment of
and increase in the authorized capital stock of the Parent Company from P150,400, divided into 1,504,000
common shares with par value of P100 per share, to P5,195,395, divided into 5,195,395,454 common
shares with par value of P1 per share.

25F) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

On May 20, 2016, the SEC approved the Parent Company’s application for the amendment of and increase
in its authorized capital stock. Accordingly, the original subscription of CASEC changed from 376,000
common shares, with par value of P100 per share, to 37,600,000 common shares, with par value of P1 per
share. Furthermore, in connection with the increase in authorized capital stock, CASEC subscribed to an
additional 2,819,867,500 shares at P1 par value per share or a total par value of P2,819,867 which was
fully paid. During the IPO which culminated in the listing of all of the outstanding shares of stock of the
Parent Company on July 18, 2016, the Parent Company issued additional 2,337,927,954 shares at P1 par
value per share or a total par value of P2,337,928 at the offer price of P10.75 per share (see Note 1).

The BOD has overall responsibility for the monitoring of capital in proportion to risk. Profiles for capital ratios
are set in the light of changes in the Company’s external environment and the risks underlying the
Company’s business operations and industry. The Company’s capital is defined as “Stockholders’ Equity” as
shown in the consolidated statements of financial position.

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to increase the value of shareholders’ investment and
maintain high growth by applying free cash flow to selective investments. The Company sets strategies for
the Company with the objective of establishing a versatile and resourceful financial management and capital
structure.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The Company’s net debt to equity
ratio at the reporting dates is as follows:
2017

25B) OTHER EQUITY RESERVES
Other equity reserves as at December 31 consisted of:

2016

Total liabilities ........................................................................................................................
P
22,329,280 22,357,672
Less cash and cash equivalents ............................................................................................
(1,058,267) (1,337,155)
2017

2016

Net debt (excess cash) .........................................................................................................
P
21,271,013

21,020,517

Remeasurements on retirement benefit liability ....................................................................
P
85,764
Cumulative translation of foreign subsidiaries .......................................................................
77,339
Share-based compensation reserve .....................................................................................
36,826
Hedge reserve.......................................................................................................................P
199,929

11,232
90,864
11,655
6,805
120,556

Total equity ............................................................................................................................
P
29,422,396

28,684,212

Net debt to equity ratio ..........................................................................................................
P
0.72:1

0.73:1

25C) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Non-controlling interest represents the 30% share of non-controlling stockholders in the results and equity of
Newcrete Management, Inc. As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, non-controlling interest in equity
amounted to approximately P221 and P246, respectively.
25D) SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
As part of CEMEX’s share-based payments programs, a group of the Company’s executives participates in
the long-term share-based compensation program providing for the grant of CEMEX’s CPOs, pursuant to
which new CPOs are issued by the ultimate parent company under each annual program over a four (4)
year period. By agreement with the executives, the CPOs of the annual grant, which is equivalent to 25% of
the CPOs related to each plan, are placed in a trust established for the benefit of the executives to comply
with a one (1) year restriction on sale.
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NOTE 26 - BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
The earnings per share (EPS) calculation reflects the effect of the stock split resulting from the decrease in
par value of the common stock from P100 to P1 per share, which was approved by the SEC on May 20,
2016 (see Note 25A). The change resulted in an increase in the weighted average number of shares
outstanding used in the 2015 computation from 109,195 shares to 10,919,452 shares. The amounts
considered for the calculation of EPS for 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
2017
2016
Profit (loss) (a) ......................................................................................................................
P
658,811
1,413,466
Add: non-controlling interest net loss ....................................................................................
25
24
Controlling interest in net income ..........................................................................................
658,836
1,413,490
Weighted average number of shares outstanding Basic/Diluted (b) .................................................................................................................
5,195,395,454 2,845,589,135
Basic/Diluted earnings (loss) per share (a/b) ........................................................................
P
0.13
0.50

2015
(4,446)
(4,446)
37,600,000
(0.12)
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As at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company has no dilutive equity instruments.

NOTE 29 - MAIN SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE 27 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The Parent Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had the following contractual obligations. The interest
payments on floating rate bank loans reflect market forward interest rates at the reporting date and these
amounts may change as market interest rates change. Except for this financial liability, it is not expected
that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly
different amounts.
2017
Less than
1 year

Obligations

1-5
Years

Bank loan ..............................................................................
P
786,759 14,847,076
Long-term payable to related parties 1................................... 326,601 1,147,467
Operating leases 2
Land lease......................................................................... 87,002
435,010
Warehouse lease .............................................................. 77,073
879,642
Vessel lease ...................................................................... 141,523
107,137
Office lease ....................................................................... 16,491
92,551
Retirement plans and other benefits 3 .................................. 42,641
164,730
Total contractual obligations ...........................................
P 1,478,090 17,673,613

More than
5 Years

Total

1,682,734 17,316,569
– 1,474,068
1,566,038 2,088,050
150,376 1,107,091
–
248,660
43,823
152,865
3,814,501 4,021,872
7,257,472 26,409,175

2016
Less than
1 year

Obligations

1-5
Years

Long-term payable to related parties 1...................................
P 1,219,843 17,995,563
Operating leases 2
Vessel lease ......................................................................141,952
125,541
Land lease......................................................................... 91,139
455,695
Warehouse lease .............................................................. 27,594
173,024
Office lease ....................................................................... 16,711
88,683
Retirement plans and other benefits 3 .................................. 31,130
170,328
Total contractual obligations ...........................................
P 1,528,369 19,008,834
1
2

3

More than
5 Years

Total

4,744,420 23,959,826

–
267,493
1,640,502 2,187,336
–
200,618
64,182
169,576
3,828,443 4,029,901
10,277,547 30,814,750

The payables pertain to the Company’s loan from CEMEX Asia B.V. The loan bears interest at an annual rate equal to 6-month LIBOR
plus 369 basis points and 450 basis points in 2017 and 2016, respectively, for Solid and fixed interest rate at 7.68% for APO. The loan
is unsecured and is due to be paid in 2018 and 2019 for Solid and APO, respectively (see Note 13).
The Company leases vessels, land, warehouses and office premises under operating leases with periods ranging from 1 - 25 years.
Total rental expenses pertaining solely to minimum lease payments recognized in profit or loss by the Company from these operating
leases amounted to P460,935 and P439,564 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The amounts of
payments under operating leases have been determined on the basis of nominal cash flows. Some of these operating leases with a
term of more than one (1) year have escalation clauses, whereby rental fees increase over the lease term. In addition, these lease
agreements provided renewal options subject to the mutual agreement of both the lessor and the Company.
Represents the estimated payments for retirement benefits over the expected maturity of the retirement and other benefit liabilities
(see Note 22). Future payments include an estimation of new pensioned personnel over those years.

Country of
Incorporation

Entities

Main activity

% of
interest

CAR .................................................................................................................................................
Switzerland
Services
Falcon ..............................................................................................................................................
Barbados
Insurance
Edgewater Ventures Corporation ....................................................................................................
Philippines
Holdings
Triple Dime Holdings, Inc. ...............................................................................................................
Philippines
Holdings
APO ............................................................................................................................................
Philippines
Cement
Bedrock Holdings, Inc.......................................................................................................................
Philippines
Holdings
Sandstone Strategic Holdings, Inc. ..................................................................................................
Philippines
Holdings
Solid ............................................................................................................................................
Philippines Cement/Concrete
Ecocast Builders, Inc. ...........................................................................................................
Philippines
Construction
Ecocrete, Inc. .......................................................................................................................
Philippines
Services
Ecopavements, Inc. ..............................................................................................................
Philippines
Construction
Enerhiya Central Inc. ............................................................................................................
Philippines
Energy
Newcrete Management, Inc. ................................................................................................
Philippines
Services

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
70.0

NOTE 30 – RECLASSIFICATION
The insurance revenue previously reported as part of “Revenue” in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income in 2016 have been reclassified as an offset to “Insurance expense” under
"Administrative and Selling Expenses" account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income to
conform to the current presentation.
Summary of Quantitative Impacts
The following table summarizes the impact of the above change on the Company’s consolidated financial
performance.
The effect of the reclassification in 2016 is as follows:

Revenue
Administrative and selling expenses

As Previously
Reported
24,806,099
4,012,940

P

Effect of
Reclassification
(519,346)
(519,346)

As Restated
24,286,753
3,493,594

The reclassification did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows.

NOTE 28 - CONTINGENCIES FROM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
As at December 31, 2017, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings of minor impact that have
arisen in the ordinary course of business. These proceedings involve: 1) national and local tax assessments;
2) labor claims; and 3) other diverse civil actions. The Company considers that in those instances in which
obligations have been incurred, the Company has accrued adequate provisions to cover the related risks.
The Company believes these matters will be resolved without any significant effect on its business,
consolidated financial position or consolidated financial performance. In addition, in relation to ongoing legal
proceedings, the Company is able to make a reasonable estimate of the expected loss or range of possible
loss, as well as disclose any provision accrued for such loss. However, for a limited number of ongoing
proceedings, the Company may not be able to make a reasonable estimate of the expected loss or range of
possible loss or may be able to do so but believes that disclosure of such information on a case-by-case
basis would seriously prejudice Company’s position in the ongoing legal proceedings or in any related
settlement discussions. Accordingly, in these cases, the Company has disclosed qualitative information with
respect to the nature and characteristics of the contingency, but has not disclosed the estimate of the range
of potential loss.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The following is a discussion and analysis of the Company’s consolidated financial condition and results
of operations as at and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, and certain trends, risks and
uncertainties that may affect the Company’s business.
Results of Operations
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:
Revenue
The consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 amounted to P21.8 billion and
P24.3 billion, respectively. Revenue was generated mainly from sale of cement products as a result of the
Company’s ordinary activities.
The breakdown of revenue after elimination of transactions between consolidated entities for the year ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Segment
Cement
Other business
Total
*Amounts in Millions

For the year ended
December 31, 2017
Amount*
% Revenue
P21,571
99%
213
1%
P21,784

100%

For the year ended
December 31, 2016
Amount*
% Revenue
P23,893
98%
394
2%
P24,287

100%

Cost of Sales and Services
Consolidated cost of sales and services for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, amounted to P12.4
billion and P11.9 billion, respectively.  Costs arose mainly from power and fuel consumption, raw materials and
supplies used during production, depreciation and other expenses directly attributable to the manufacturing of
finished goods.
As a percentage of revenue, cost of sales and services increased by 8.0 percentage points year-on-year, mainly
due to higher fuel prices and lower average cement selling price.

2017 and 2016. These include: a) license fees amounting to P827.8 million and   P943.0 million, respectively; b)
insurance amounting to P154.1 million and P698.3 million, respectively; and c) salaries and wages amounting to
P590.9 million and P363.2 million, respectively.  Distribution expenses amounted to P4.3 billion and P4.0 billion,
respectively, in 2017 and 2016, which accounted for 19.8% and 16.3% of revenue, respectively.  
Other expenses included in operating expenses cover administrative fees, utilities and supplies, taxes and
license, depreciation, advertising and travel expenses, and others.
Operating Income before Other Expenses, Net
For the reasons discussed above, operating income before other expenses - net amounted to P2.0 billion and
P4.9 billion for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These comprised of 9.1% and 20.4%
of revenue, respectively.
Other Expenses, Net
Other expenses, net for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were P226.2 million and P319.8 million,
respectively. See Note 9 of the Notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 in the accompanying Audited Financial Statements filed as part of
this Form 17-A (Annual Report).
Financial Expenses, Net
Net financial expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 amounted to P895.3 million and P1.3
billion, respectively.  See Notes 10 and 13 of the Notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
as at and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 in the accompanying Audited Financial Statements
filed as part of this Form 17-A (Annual Report).
Foreign Exchange Loss
Loss of P66.7 million and P1.4 billion were reported in 2017 and 2016, respectively. Significant reduction for
foreign exchange loss reflected two main factors: (a) The full payment of the long-term loan of the Company
with New Sunward Holding B.V. (“NSH”), a subsidiary of CEMEX, by way of refinancing a majority of the
balance of this foreign currency denominated loan into a senior unsecured peso long-term loan facility with
BDO Unibank, Inc. (“BDO”) and (b) less currency exchange rate fluctuation in 2017 versus last year.
•

Power and fuel represented approximately 21% and 22%, respectively, of cost of sales and services in 2017 and
22% and 16%, respectively, of cost of sales and services in 2016.
Gross Profit
As a result of the above conditions, gross profit for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, reached
P9.4 billion and P12.4 billion, respectively.  Gross profit as a percentage of revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, represented 43.1% and 51.1%, respectively.
Operating Expense
Operating expenses amounted to P7.4 billion and P7.5 billion for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively. Operating expenses were composed of administrative, selling, and distribution expenses.  
Administrative and selling expenses amounted to P3.1 billion and P3.5 billion or 14.1% and 14.4% of revenue in
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•

On 1 February 2017, the Parent Company signed a senior unsecured peso long-term loan facility with BDO for an
amount of up to the Philippine Peso equivalent of U.S. dollar 280 million (“BDO Refinancing Loan”), to refinance
a majority of the Parent Company’s outstanding long-term loan with NSH.  During the first quarter of 2017, the
foregoing long-term loan with NSH was fully repaid.  The BDO Refinancing Loan has a tenor of seven (7) years
from the date of the initial drawdown on the facility. The borrowings or drawdowns on this facility amounted to
approximately P14 billion in 2017.  
On 8 December 2017, the Parent Company and BDO signed a Supplemental Agreement, whereby the parties
mainly agreed to fix the commencement date for compliance by the Parent Company with financial covenants
under BDO Refinancing Loan in June 2020 and include debt service reserve accounts and additional debt
incurrence restrictions. This Supplemental Agreement does not increase the debt level or interest cost under the
BDO Refinancing Loan.

Income Tax
As a result of operations, the Company’s income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016 amounted to P139.5 million and P563.7 million, respectively.
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Net Income
As a result of the abovementioned concepts, net income for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
amounted to P658.8 million and P1.4 billion, respectively.

million, respectively, and debt reserve account and guarantee bonds used in operations amounting to P485.5
million and P92.3 million, respectively. The rest mainly referred to noncurrent portion of the unamortized
transportation allowances of employees and other long-term prepayments.

Financial Position

Property, Machinery and Equipment -net
Property, machinery and equipment had a balance of P15.6 billion and P15.8 billion as at December 31, 2017
and December 31, 2016, respectively. As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, P844.4 million and
P534.1 million, respectively, were incurred for maintenance capital expenditures and P484.6 million and P796.3
million, respectively, for strategic capital expenditures.

As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents amounted to P1.1 billion and P1.3 billion as at December 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016, respectively. As at December 31, 2017, cash and cash equivalents of P1.1 billion include P629.1 million
cash on hand and in banks and P429.2 million short-term investments which are readily convertible to cash.  
As at December 31, 2016, cash and cash equivalents of P1.3 billion include P579.6 million cash on hand and in
banks and P757.5 million short-term investments which are readily convertible to cash.
Trade Receivables - Net
Accounts receivables amounted to P833.3 million and P909.7 million as at December 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016, net of allowance for impairment losses amounting to P36.1 million and P10.6 million, respectively,
which mainly pertained to receivables from customers.
Due from Related Parties
Related party balances amounted to P26.4 million and P215.2 million as at December 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016, respectively, resulting primarily from the sale of goods, invoicing of administrative fees, and advances
and loans between related parties.  

Deferred Income Tax Assets -Net
The Company’s deferred income tax asset amounted to P925.2 million and P444.6 million as at           
December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively which represented future tax benefit from operating
losses, excess MCIT over RCIT and other future deductible expenses.
Goodwill
The Company’s goodwill arose from the business combinations when the Parent Company acquired its
subsidiaries.
Trade Payables
Trade payables as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 amounted to P2.3 billion and P2.2 billion,
respectively, which were related to purchases of raw materials and other goods, and services provided by third
parties.

Other Current Accounts Receivable
Other accounts receivables amounted to P74.6 million and P127.3 million as at December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively.

Due to Related Parties
Short-term payable to related parties had a balance of P2.3 billion and P1.5 billion as at December 31, 2017
and December 31, 2016, respectively. Long-term payable to related parties amounted to P1.1 billion and P15.9
billion as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. The decrease of long-term loan was due
to the complete repayment of the NSH Long-term Loan following the availment of the BDO Refinancing Loan.

Inventories
Inventories amounted to P3.3 billion and P2.6 billion as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016,
respectively. Inventories consisting of raw materials, cement and work in process amounted to             P1.7
billion and P1.3 billion for the year 2017 and 2016, respectively, and the remaining balance referred to spare
parts. Inventories are measured at cost or net realizable value, whichever is lower.

Income Tax Payable, Other Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses, Unearned Revenue, and Provisions
Other payables and accruals which amounted to P2.1 billion and P2.0 billion as at December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively, pertained mainly to advances from customers, provisions, and tax payables.

Prepayments and Other Current Assets
Other current assets amounted to P1.4 billion as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, which
referred primarily to prepayments of insurance, P542.7 million and P900.5 million, respectively, and prepayment
of taxes, P548.9 million and P310.7 million, respectively.  
Investment in an Associate and Other Investments
Investments in Associates cover minority equity investments in Greencrete Inc. and Calabar Aggregates
Corporation.
Other Assets and Noncurrent Accounts Receivable
Other assets amounting to P716.7 million and P320.4 million as at December 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016, respectively, primarily consisted of long-term performance deposits of P122.4 million and P112.2
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Retirement Benefits Liability
Retirement Benefits Liability amounting to P761.0 million and P769.3 million as at December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively, pertained to the provision recognized by the Company associated with
employees’ defined benefit pension plans.
Long-term Bank Loan
The current balance of the BDO Refinancing Loan was P13.9 billion as at December 31, 2017. The debt
issuance cost of this long-term bank loan, corresponding to P166.6 million on unamortized basis, was deducted
from the total loan liability as at December 31, 2017. Short-term portion of the bank loans amounted to
P140.1 million as at December 31, 2017.
Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Other noncurrent liabilities of P20.6 million and P14.8 million as at December 31, 2017 and December 31,
2016, respectively, referred to provision for asset retirement obligation.
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Common Stock
As at December 31, 2017, the total authorized capital stock of the Parent Company consisted of 5,195,395,454
common shares at a par value of P1 per share, and the total issued and outstanding capital stock was
5,195,395,454 common shares at a par value of P1 per share.
Other Equity Reserves
The amount referred to the cumulative effects of items and transactions that were, temporarily or permanently,
recognized directly to stockholders’ equity which included share-based compensation, remeasurement of
retirement benefits liability, net of tax, cumulative currency translation of a foreign subsidiary and unrealized
gains and losses arising from coal hedge contract accounted for as cash flow hedge.  
Retained Earnings
Retained earnings of P2.1 million and P1.4 million as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016,
respectively, included the Company’s cumulative net results of operations.
Company Performance and Profitability and Liquidity
Key Performance Indicators
The Company sets certain performance measures to gauge its operating performance periodically and to assess
its overall state of corporate health.  Listed below are the major performance measures, which the Company
has identified as reliable performance indicators.  Analyses are employed by comparisons and measurements on
a consolidated basis based on the financial data as at December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Key Financial
Indicators

Formula

2017

2016

Current Ratio

Current Asset/Current Liabilities

1.0 : 1

1.2:1

Solvency Ratio

Profit + Depreciation and Amortization/
Total Liabilities

0.1 : 1

0.1:1

Net debt to Equity
Ratio

Debt*/Total Equity

0.7 : 1

0.7 : 1

Asset to Equity Ratio

Total Assets/Total Equity

1.8 : 1

1.8 : 1

*The debt is net of cash and cash equivalents.
Key Financial
Indicators

Formula

2017

2016

Interest Rate
Coverage Ratio

Operating income before other
expenses/interest

2.3 : 1

4.0 : 1

Profitability Ratio

Operating Margin/Net sales

0.1 : 1

0.2 : 1

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a material
effect on its financial condition, operating results and liquidity or capital resources.
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